

Provided by the author(s) and University of Galway in accordance with publisher policies. Please cite the published version when available.

Title	The role of microRNAs during endoplasmic reticulum stress induced cell death
Author(s)	Cawley, Karen
Publication Date	2012-04-25
Item record	http://hdl.handle.net/10379/3522

Downloaded 2024-05-15T04:10:30Z

Some rights reserved. For more information, please see the item record link above.





The role of microRNAs during Endoplasmic Reticulum Stressinduced cell death.

A thesis submitted to the National University of Ireland, Galway in fulfilment of the requirement for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

by

Karen Cawley

Apoptosis Research Centre, Discipline of Biochemistry, School of Natural Sciences,

National University of Ireland, Galway, Ireland.

Thesis Supervisor: Professor Afshin Samali

February 2013

Table of Contents

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	1
ABSTRACT	2
ABBREVIATIONS	3
CHAPTER 1	7
1.0 Introduction	8
1.1 Programmed cell death	8
1.2 Apoptotic cell death	8
1.2.1 Apoptotic morphology	9
1.2.2 Molecular basis of Apoptosis	10
1.2.3 The BCL-2 family	10
1.2.4 Caspases	12
1.2.5 Intrinsic apoptosis	13
1.2.6 Extrinsic apoptosis	15
1.3 Endoplasmic reticulum stress	
1.4 The unfolded protein response	
1.4.1 PERK signalling	19
1.4.2 ATF6 signalling	21
1.4.3 IRE1 signalling	22
1.5 microRNA	27
1.5.1 Biogenesis of miRNA	27
1.5.1.1 Transcription	27
1.5.1.2 Maturation	
1.5.1.3 non-canonical Biogenesis	
1.5.2 miRNA-mediated RNAi	
1.5.3 miRNA turnover	
1.6 Apoptosis and cancer	
1.7 ER stress and cancer	
	I

	1.8 miRNAs in apoptosis and cancer	44
	1.9 miRNA biogenesis and cancer	48
	1.10 miRNAs in ER stress and cancer	49
	1.11 summary	53
С	HAPTER 2	55
	2.0 Materials and methods	56
	2.1 Cell culture	56
	2.2 Drug treatments	57
	2.3 Transformation of Plasmids	58
	2.4 Transfections	59
	2.5 Lentivirus generation	60
	2.6 Lentivirus transduction	61
	2.7 Annexin V staining	61
	2.8 Measurement of $\Delta\Psi$ m by TMRE staining	62
	2.9 Analysis of DEVDase Activity	63
	2.10 RNA preparation	63
	2.11 Reverse transcription RT-PCR	64
	2.12 miRNA specific RT-PCR	65
	2.13 Microarray	65
	2.14 miRNA microarray	66
	2.15 Real time Quantitative RT-PCR	66
	2.16 Western Blotting	67
	2.17 Detection of active Bax by flow cytometry	68
	2.18 Luciferase reporter Assays	68
	2.19 Site directed mutagenesis PCR	69
	2.20 Chromatin Immunoprecipitation (ChIP) assay	70
С	HAPTER 3	74
	3.0 Results chapter 1	75
	3.1 Bfa and Tm cause a concentration dependant increase in cell death	77
	3.2 Genes associated with miRNA biogenesis are increased during ER stress	78
	3.3 Disruption of DICER impairs biogenesis of miRNA	79
	3.4 Exn5/Exn5 cells are resistant to ER stress-induced cell death	81
	3.5 Exn5/Exn5 cells are not protected against other cellular stress inducers	81
		ji

3.6 Knockdown of DICER impairs biogenesis of miRNA	84
3.7 DICER shRNA cells are resistant to ER stress induced cell death	85
3.8 DROSHA knockdown impairs miRNA biogenesis	86
3.9 DROSHA shRNA cells are resistant to ER stress induced cell death	87
3.10 Microarray analysis of genes associated with UPR and ER stress	88
3.11 Expression of pro-apoptotic PERK, CHOP and NOXA mRNA is lower in Exn5/Excells	kn5 89
3.12 The Unfolded protein response proceeds in the absence of miRNA	90
3.13 IRE1 ribonuclease-mediated signalling is not important for resistance of Exn5/Ex cells	kn5 91
3.14 IRE1 signalling is not important for the resistant phenotype of Exn5/Exn5 cells	91
3.15 Heat shock proteins are not important for the resistant phenotype of Exn5/Exn5	cells 93
3.16 Exn5/Exn5 cells retain their outer mitochondrial membrane potential	94
3.17 Resistance of Exn5/Exn5 cells occurs upstream of the mitochondrion	95
3.18. Altered expression of BCL-2 family proteins may attenuate cell death in Exn5/Excells.	xn5 96
3.19 The expression profile of BCL-2 family member's differs between Etop and Bfa treatments	98
CHAPTER 4	99
4.0 Results chapter 2	100
4.1 miRNA of the miR-17-92 and miR-106b-25 cluster are downregulated in ER stress	s103
4.2 miR-106b, miR-17, miR-93 and miR-25 are downregulated during ER stress	103
4.3 The miR-17-92 promotor is responsive to ER stress	104
4.4 Repression of the miR-17-92 cluster is dependent on PERK	106
4.5 The miR-17-92 promotor is responsive to overexpression of ATF4 or NRF2	107
4.6 Overexpression of NRF2 and ATF4 can downregulate miRNA of the miR-17-92 cl	luster 108
4.7 Identification of NRF2 and ATF4 responsive regions on the miR-17-92 promotor .	110
4.8 There is direct recruitment of NRF2 on the miR-17-92 promotor	110
4.9 ER stress leads to increased expression of BIM	114
4.10 Forced expression of miR-17-92 reduces ER stress-mediated increase in BIM	116
4.11 Forced expression of miR-17-92 reduces ER stress induced cell death 2	117
4.12 ER stress-mediated increase in BIM is PERK-NRF2-ATF4 dependent	118
CHAPTER 5	120
5.0 DISCUSSION	121

5.1 Loss of DICER confers resistance to ER stress induced cell death	121
5.2 Identification of ER stress regulated miRNA	127
CHAPTER 6	131
6.0 Future directions	132
CHAPTER 7	136
7.0 APPENDIX	137
7.1 Taqman assays	137
7.2 Plasmids	138
7.3 Antibodies for western blotting	139
7.3 Antibodies to detect Active BAX by flow cytometry	
7.4 Antibodies for ChIP-IT assay	140
REFERENCES	141

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

Gupta S, Read DE, Deepti A, **Cawley** K, Gupta A, et al. (2012) Perkdependent repression of miR-106b-25 cluster is required for ER stressinduced apoptosis. Cell Death Dis 3: e333.

Cawley K, Sugrue T, Samali A, Gupta S, Gorman AM (2012) MicroRNA regulation of apoptosis in breast cancer. Cancer Reports 2: 1-8.

Danielle E. Read, Karen **Cawley**, Ananya Gupta, Sanjeev Gupta. (2012) Regulation of ER Stress Responses by microRNAs. (Book Chapter) Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress in Health and Disease, DOI 10.1007/978-94-007-4351-9_6.

Cawley K, Deegan S, Samali A, Gupta S (2011) Assays for Detecting the Unfolded Protein Response. In: Conn PM, editor. Methods in Enzymology: Academic Press. pp. 31-51.

Submitted manuscript:

Cawley K, Logue SE, Gorman AM, Zeng Q, Patterson J, Gupta S, Samali A (2013) Disruption of microRNA biogenesis confers resistance to ER stressinduced cell death upstream of the mitochondrion. PlosOne.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would sincerely like to thank my supervisor Prof. Afshin Samali for giving me the opportunity to work in his lab and for all his help and support over the course of my PhD and especially in this final year. Thanks to Dr. Sanjeev Gupta for his help and advice regarding my project and for all the valuable input and ideas. Thanks to Dr. Eva Szegezdi, Dr. Susan E Logue, Dr. Alessandro natoni and Dr. Adrienne Gorman for all their discussions, advice and constructive criticism over my project.

Thanks goes out to all the past and present members of the lab, TRAIL people, NGF people and especially the ER stress people. Thanks to the guys, Shane and Chris for all the "cooking tips" laughs, chats and science advice. Most importantly, to all the girlies, especially Donna, Lynda, Trish, Laura, Rebecca, Dani, Mairead and Sveta for all the hugs, pep talks, laughs, nights out (hair dancing), and winesdays. Without you all, I would never have made it out the other side. You guys rock!

To my outside the lab friends, all of those who had to live with me over the years, particularly, Christine and Lorna who had to put up with me during the more stressful times. Thanks for plenty of chats, laughs, nights out, chocolate frosting, haribo's and much more. I can't forget Sean and Adrienne for all the wisdom shared over the odd McFlurry. Thanks to my undergrad friends for reminding me of the good times, especially Tara, Claire, Jane and Carol, forever my besties.

Thanks to all the aunts uncles, granny's and granddads for everything over the years. Thanks to the greatest cousins/friends, Becci, for putting up with me since "we were three". Aileen for being a great roomey, and participating in my mess. Ceara, the real scientist of the family.

To the most important people - my family, each of ye are a best friend in your own right, but together words can't even describe.

Thanks to my lovely mum, Deirdre and my great dad, Dermot for always listening and for always encouraging me to keep going but for never pushing too hard. Your endless love, support and advice will always be appreciated and never forgotten. If I didn't have those weekends at home I wouldn't be where I am now.

Thanks to my crazy and wonderful siblings, the Cawley bears, Mandy and Bobby, Barry and Levi for all the love and support. Especially for the great nights out, better nights in, laughs, giggles, rum punch, and hugs. Ye really do get my most heartfelt thanks, sometimes when times are tough all you need is to let you hair down to some 80's rock with the best people. "For sure".

Thanks to my honey Darren. I couldn't have met you at a better time; you brought me back to myself. Thank you for all your love and understanding, and for always managing to put a smile on my face. You really are the bestest!

ABSTRACT

Endoplasmic Reticulum (ER) stress occurs in response to negative insult or stimuli to the cell. It induces a pathway called the unfolded protein response (UPR) which can alleviate stress and restore the cell to its "healthy state" or if the stress cannot be overcome, the UPR induces pro-apoptotic signalling events to eliminate the stressed cell. Such pathways have been associated with many pathological conditions. In cancer for instance, pro-survival UPR signalling can be utilized to compromise apoptosis induction and enhance cell growth and survival. In other diseases like neurodegeneration and diabetes excessive apoptosis and ER stress is observed and enhances disease progression. The mechanisms controlling the switch between pro-survival and pro-apoptotic ER stress responses is not fully elucidated. We considered that the small non-coding RNAs called microRNAs (miRNAs) may have a role in ER stress induced cell death and may fine tune the signalling events that determine cell fate or that ER stress may regulate miRNA expression to modulate stress responses.

Two approaches for investigating the role of miRNA during ER stress induced cell death were employed. Firstly, a global approach was taken in which the biogenesis pathway of miRNAs was compromised to understand if miRNAs were important for ER stress induced apoptosis. This study revealed that cells with compromised miRNA biogenesis machinery were resistant to ER stress induced cell death but not other inducers of apoptosis. Although loss of global miRNA expression had no effect on the UPR, induction of the intrinsic apoptosis pathway was delayed, upstream of the mitochondria. This was due to altered levels of the BCL-2 family members which subsequently prevented BAX activation and permeabilisation of the outer mitochondrion membrane. Secondly, a candidate approach was used to determine if miRNA themselves are regulated during ER stress induced cell death. miRNA microarray analysis was used to screen for miRNA differentially regulated upon ER stress. This revealed that miRNA of the miR-17-92 cluster and their paralog cluster miR-106b-25 were downregulated during ER stress induced cell death in a PERK dependant manner. Further analysis revealed that the PERK regulated transcription factors NRF2 and ATF4 were responsible for this repression. The BH3 only protein, BIM a known target of these miRNA, increased in their absence and lead to apoptosis. This work illustrates an essential role for miRNA in ER stress induced cell death.

ABBREVIATIONS

AGO	Argonaute
AIF	Apoptosis-inducing factor
APAF-1	Apoptotic peptidase activating factor 1
ARE	Antioxidant response element
ASK1	Apoptosis signal-regulation kinase 1
ATF4	Activated transcription factor 4
ATF6	Activating transcription factor 6
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
BAD	BCL-2-antagonist of cell death
ВАК	BCL-2 homologous antagonist/killer
BAX	BCL-2 associated protein X
BCL-2	B-cell lymphoma 2
BCL-xL	B-cell lymphoma 2- extra large
BID	BH3-interacting domain death agonist
BIM	BCL-2-interacting mediator of cell death
ВОК	BCL-2-related ovarian killer
BOP	BH3 only proteins
CAD	Caspase-activated DNase
CARD	Caspase recruitment domain
Caspases	Cysteine-dependent aspartate-directed proteases
CD95	Cluster of differentiation 95
c-FLIP	Cellular FLICE inhibitory protein
Cdkn2a	Cyclin-dependant kinase inhibitor 2a
CHD5	Chromodomain helicase DNA binding protein 5

СНОР	C/EBP-homologous protein
CLL	Chronic lymphocytic leukaemia
СО	Carbon monoxide
DD	Death domain
DED	Death effector domain
DGCR8	DiGeorge Syndrome Critical Region Gene 8
DISC	Death inducing signalling complex
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
EDEM1	ER degradation enhancer, mannosidase alpha-like 1
elF2a	Eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2 $\boldsymbol{\alpha}$
EMT	Epithelial mesenchymal transition
ER	Endoplasmic Reticulum
ERAD	ER-associated degradation
ERdj4/ HSP40	Heat shock protein 40
ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated kinase
ERO-1	ER oxidoreductin 1
ERP72	Endoplasmic reticulum resident protein 72
ERSE I/ II	ER Stress response Element I/ II
FADD	Fas-associated death domain
FAP 1	FAS associated phosphatase 1
FLICE	FADD-like IL-1β-converting enzyme
GLS	Golgi localization signals
GRP78/Bip	Glucose-regulated protein, 78
HCC	Hepatocellular carcinoma
HO-1	Heme oxygenase 1
HSP72	Heat shock protein 72

IAP	Inhibitor of apoptosis protein
ICAD	Inhibitor of caspase-activated DNase
IKK	Inhibitor of NFkB kinase
IRE1a	Inositol requiring enzyme-1
JNK	c-JUN terminal kinase
KEAP1	Kelch-like ECH-associated protein
M ⁷ G	5' 7 methylguanosine
MCL-1	Myeloid cell leukemia sequence 1
MEF	Mouse embryonic fibroblast
miRNA	microRNA
MLC	Myosin regulatory light chain
MOMP	Mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization
mRNP	Messanger ribonucleoprotein
NF-Y	Nuclear transcription factor Y
NQO1	NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase
NRF2	Nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2)-like 2
p58(IPK)	p58 inhibitor of protein kinase
PARP	Poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase
PB	Processing/P-body
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PDI	Protein disulphide isomerases
PERK	(PKR)-like ER kinase
PKR	Protein kinase R
Pre-miRNA	Precursor miRNA
Pri-miRNA	Primary miRNA
PUMA	p53 up-regulated modulator of apoptosis

PS	Phosphotidylserine
RISC	RNA induced silencing complex
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RNAi	RNA interference
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
S1	Site-1 protease
S2	Site-2 protease
SGs	Stress granule
siRNA	small interfering RNA
Smac/DIABLO	Second mitochondria-derived activator of caspases (Smac)/direct IAP binding protein with low pl
TNF	Tumour necrosis factor
TRAF2	TNF-receptor associated factor 2
TRBP	TAR RNA binding protein
UPR	Unfolded protein response
UPRE	Unfolded Protein Response Element
UTR	Untranslated region
XBP1	X-box binding protein
XBP1s	X-box binding protein spliced
XIAP	X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis protein

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.0 Introduction

1.1 Programmed Cell death

Programmed cell death refers to the demise of cells by any means and was first proposed in 1964 to describe cell death of the intersegmental muscle of the silkmoth (Lockshin and Williams, 1964; Lockshin and Zakeri, 2001). There are several cell death modalities defined, based on their morphological, biochemical or immunological features (Galluzzi et al., 2007). On occasion different forms of cell death have overlapping features and characteristics and can be difficult to distinguish from one another. They can occur separately but also simultaneously as seen with apoptosis and autophagic cell death where autophagy is thought to occur alongside apoptosis (Zeiss, 2003). Also one form of cell death may follow on from another as seen with late apoptotic, early necrotic cells (Levine and Yuan, 2005). It is thought that the way in which a cell dies can depend on the severity or strength of the incoming death promoting signal. Different modes of cell death include apoptosis, necrosis, autophagy regulated cell death, mitotic catastrophy, Granzyme mediated, paraptosis and more recently, necroptosis (Galluzzi et al., 2007; Galluzzi et al., 2012; Kroemer et al., 2009). Cell death is a vital process to any organism and for any one cell that divides to produce a new cell, one cell must die (Lockshin and Zakeri, 2007). Considering this, a huge amount of rapid cell death occurs in the body every day. Thus, deregulation of cell death is massively involved in pathologies where too much or too little cell death leads to disease progression e.g. cancer, neurodegeneration, etc. (Carson and Ribeiro, 1993; Favaloro et al., 2012).

1.2 Apoptotic cell death

Apoptosis is a mode of programmed cell death that brings about the destruction of the cells in a sequential step-wise fashion i.e. apoptosis is a type of cell suicide. Due to the "programmed" nature of this process cells die without causing damage to other cells or tissues (Kerr et al., 1972). Initially this process was considered a genetically determined process in which cells die at certain stages of development e.g. the formation of singular digits such as fingers

(Zaleske, 1985). Although apoptosis is vital during development, it also occurs for other reasons. For instance, apoptosis is a means of destroying defective or damaged cells. Often cells that have developed a genetic abnormality will be forced to commit cell suicide (Norbury and Hickson, 2001). Apoptotic cells have a set of morphological characteristics that set them apart from healthy cells and can readily be detected using electron microscopy (Kerr et al., 1972). They also have distinct biochemical features and complex pathways that direct the controlled demolition of the cell (Galluzzi et al., 2012; Hengartner, 2000).

1.2.1 Apoptotic morphology

The morphological characteristics of an apoptotic cell include cell shrinkage where cells appear smaller with tightly packed organelles, chromatin condensation in which chromatin appears fragmented or broken up. Membrane blebbing occurs due to Rho mediated phosphorylation of myosin regulatory light chain (MLC) and its interaction with Actin which allows cell contraction and membrane blebbing. Other actin interacting proteins have been implicated in this and one such cytoskeletal protein, fodrin is cleaved by the aspartic proreases known as caspases, during apoptosis (Mills et al., 1998; Vanags et al., 1996). Kayorrhexis or disruption of the nuclear membrane follows this and allows fragmented chromatin to diffuse through the cytoplasm. The final morphological feature is the formation of apoptotic bodies. These are engulfed by macrophages and destroyed limiting any inflammatory response. An important feature of apoptotic cells is the presence of phosphatidylserine (PS) on the cell surface; this is thought to act as a signal to macrophages that these cells should be phagocytosised (Kurosaka et al., 2003). Healthy cells do not display PS but instead it is retained inside the cell by aminophospholipid translocase. Upon apoptotic stimulus, this enzyme is inactivated and PS flips to the outer leaflet of the plasma membrane (Bratton et al., 1997). This exposure has been exploited to develop Annexin V-FITC staining as a way to measure percentage apoptosis by (Logue et al., 2009), as described in materials and methods section.



Figure 1.1 Apoptotic morphology

Apoptotic cells are known to shrink and chromatin in the nucleus often condenses at the nuclear membrane. Blebbing of the cell membrane occurs due to a breakdown of cytoskeletal proteins followed by karyorrhexis and budding of apoptotic bodies containing nuclear fragments or even tightly packed organelles.

1.2.2 Molecular basis of apoptosis

Depending on the type of insult to the cell, there are two main apoptotic pathways termed intrinsic (mitochondrial) and extrinsic (death receptor) apoptosis. The components of either pathway can overlap into the other pathway to ensure death of the cell (Elmore, 2007). There are two very important groups of proteins involved in these pathways, the B cell lymphoma 2 (BCL-2) family and cysteine-dependent **asp**artate-directed prote**ases** (Caspases) (Cory and Adams, 2002; MacKenzie and Clark, 2012).

1.2.3 The BCL-2 family

These are a family of proteins made up from a combination of 4 domains called BCL-2 homology (BH) domains along with a transmembrane (TM) domain. They are sub divided into groups based on function, and/or domain and have been shown to interact with one another and form heterodimers (Lama and Sankararamakrishnan, 2008; Moroy et al., 2009; Oltvai et al., 1993). There are the pro-survival BCL-2 proteins that generally contain all 5 domains and

include BCL-2, myeloid cell leukemia sequence 1 (MCL-1), BCL-xL BCL-w BCL-B and NRH/Nr-13. Conversely, pro-apoptotic family members generally lack one or more of the BH domains and so are subgrouped into pro-apoptotic multidomain (generally share BH1, 2, 3) and TM domains) and proapoptotic BH3 only proteins (BOPs) which as the name suggests carry only the BH3 domain and/or the TM domain. Multidomain proteins include BAX, BAK and BOK while BH3 only proteins include BAD, BIK, BIM, BMF, BNIP3, HRK, NOXA, PUMA, SPIKE and tBID (Leber et al., 2007). There is much debate on the actual mode in which these proteins regulate the apoptotic threshold, and several models have been put forward e.g. the rheostat model, the direct activation model and the neutralization model. However one thing is clear, predominance of pro-apoptotic family members leads to translocation of BAX to the outer mitochondrial membrane (OMM) where it heterodimerises with BAK leading to permeabilisation of the OMM and apoptosis. Some studies have suggested that the conformation of BAX is a transient state easily shifting between different conformational shapes. Apparently interaction with but not insertion into the mitochondrial membrane causes a conformational change in BAX to its more thermo-stable and active form where it exposes an amino-terminal epitope called 6A7 which is readily detected by the 6A7 monoclonal antibody as described in chapter 2: materials and methods (Leber et al., 2007). From the literature, it appears that the BCL-2 regulatory models can overlap and perhaps there are multiple layers to the regulation of these proteins. For example the rheostat model suggests that it is the balance between pro- and anti-apoptotic proteins that decides if the cell lives or dies. If there are higher levels of pro-apoptotic proteins, then this would tip the cell towards an apoptotic state or vice versa (Ploner et al., 2008). The neutralization model suggests that proapoptotic proteins bind anti-apoptotic proteins and neutralize their effects (Nickells, 2010). Again this sounds very similar to the rheostat model. Perhaps the ratio between pro- and antiapoptotic proteins affects the ability to neutralize. Finally some have suggested the direct activation model in which BOPs have further been subdivided into activators and sensitizers. This model suggests that sensitizer BOPs bind to pro-survival proteins which then can no longer bind to activator BOPs. Activators are then free to directly interact with BAX and BAK to promote their translocation to the mitochondria (Chipuk et al., 2010; Danial, 2007).



Figure 1.2 BCL-2 family classification

BCL-2 family members are classified based on structure and function. They can consist of one or more of 4 homology domains (BH) and/or a transmembrane (TM) domain. Pro-survival family members generally have all 5 domains and include BCL-2, MCL-1, BCL-w, BCL-B and NRH. Pro-apoptotic members are sub-grouped into multi-domain members such as BAX, BAK AND BOK and generally have domains BH 1-3 and the TM; and BH3 only members such as BAD, BMF, NOXA, PUMA, TBID, BIM, BIK, HRK, AND BNIP3 which all carry the BH3 domain but only a few carry both the BH3 and the TM domains.

1.2.4 Caspases

Caspases are a group of cysteine proteases characterised by a conserved QACXG pentapeptide sequence and three catalytic residues with a Cys285 active site. They are also known to specifically cleave substrates after an Asp residue (Fischer et al., 2003). Caspases are all generated as inactive zymogens consisting of a pro-domain, a p20 large fragment and

a p17 small fragment. Activation of caspases occurs when the zymogen precursor is cleaved to separate the large and small fragments and subsequent removal of the pro-domain (Li and Yuan, 2008). Caspases have been classified into several subgroups based on criteria such as, function and location within a signalling pathway, their pro-domain length, substrate preference etc... For instance some caspases are considered inflammatory (caspase-1, -4, -5, -11, -13) with major roles in cytokine maturation and T-cell proliferation. Others are considered apoptotic with their activation resulting in the cells demise. These are grouped into initiator caspases (caspases-2, -8, -9, -10, -12) which effect upstream signalling events and often activate downstream caspases referred to as effector caspases (caspases-3, -6,-7) (Earnshaw et al., 1999). Initiators can often self-cleave or auto-activate themselves and are recognised by long pro-domains that contain a caspase recruitment domain (CARD) or a death effector domain (DED). Effector caspases are then recognized by short pro-domains and are activated by direct cleavage from initiator caspases. Executioners are suitably named as they are responsible for many of the biochemical and morphological changes that bring about the death of the cell (Shi, 2004). This is seen when inhibitor of caspase-activated DNase (ICAD) is cleaved by caspase-3 resulting in activation of caspase-activated DNase (CAD) which degrades DNA (Sakahira et al., 1998; Tang and Kidd, 1998). poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase-1 (PARP-1) is cleaved by caspase-3 and -7 during apoptosis resulting in its inactivation, as such it no longer detects DNA damage (Kaufmann et al., 1993). Different caspases are known to preferentially cleave after certain tetrapeptide sequences, for example, caspase-2, -3 and -7 preferably cleave after DEXD while caspase-6, -8, and -9 cleave (L/V)EXD where X has been seen as V, T or H (Crawford and Wells, 2011; Fischer et al., 2003).

1.2.5 Intrinsic apoptosis

The intrinsic or mitochondrial pathway is initiated by intracellular signals that regulate transcriptional, translational and post-translational events, to promote apoptosis by altering the permeability of the mitochondrion. For instance, the removal of factors needed for cell survival such as glucose, hormones, growth factors or exposure to toxins, certain viruses,

radiation, thermal stress, and an accumulation of reactive oxygen species can force the cell into apoptosis (Elmore, 2007).

Any of these stresses can affect the levels of BCL-2 family proteins, usually increasing the pro-apoptotic members of this family while decreasing the pro-survival members. This results in the translocation of pro-apoptotic BCL-2 proteins BAX to the mitochondria, where it dimerises with BAK to form pores in the OMM. Within the intermembrane space, the apoptotic proteins, cytochrome c, Smac/DIABLO, Apoptosis-inducing factor (AIF), endonuclease G, and Omi/HtrA2 are stored. Pore formation permeabilises the OMM and thus releases these apoptotic proteins into the cytoplasm (Green and Kroemer, 2004). Some of these proteins subsequently activate caspases while others are caspase-independent death effectors. Cytochrome c is a component of the apoptosome, a death promoting platform also consisting of apoptotic peptidase activating factor 1 (APAF-1) and caspase-9. In resting conditions APAF-1 is in an inactive conformational state and bound to dATP. Binding of cytochrome c causes a conformational change, where APAF-1 undergoes nucleotide exchange, and its AAA+ ATPase domain is exposed allowing oligomerization of several APAF-1 proteins to form a circular apoptosome complex to which caspase-9 is recruited. Crystallisation of apoptosome complexes has revealed a complex consisting of 7 APAF-1 molecules, 7 cytochrome c molecules forming a wheel shaped platform to which caspase-9 binds apically (Bratton and Salvesen, 2010). Upon binding to APAF-1, caspase-9 becomes activated via CARD-CARD interaction; caspase-3 is then recruited to the apoptosome and directly cleaved and activated by caspase-9 (Cain, 2003). Active caspase-3 has many cellular substrates, cleavage of which brings about destruction of the cell (Saikumar et al., 2007). Other factors released from the intermembrane space such as Smac/DIABLO and Omi/HtrA2 promote apoptosis by sequestering inhibitor of apoptosis proteins (IAPs) (Shiozaki and Shi, 2004). Omi/HtrA2 is also thought to have protease activity which in vitro, degradation of XIAP, cIAP1, cIAP2 and antiapoptotic PED/ PEA-15 was observed (Vande Walle et al., 2008). AIF and endonuclease G are released into the cytoplasm and then translocate to the nucleus and participate in nuclear chromatin condensation and DNA fragmentation (Elmore, 2007; Lorenzo and Susin, 2007).

1.2.6 Extrinsic apoptosis

The extrinsic or death receptor (DR) pathway is initiated by binding of an extracellular ligand to a corresponding death receptor. Death receptors are members, along with approximately 20 other proteins, of the tumour necrosis factor (TNF) family (Locksley et al., 2001). TNF receptor family proteins share common structural characteristics including their cysteine rich extracellular domain, and a cytoplasmic domain which is referred to as the 'death domain' (DD) (Ashkenazi and Dixit, 1998). TNF-R1: TNF-L, cluster of differentiation 95/ (CD95 /Fas): FasL, TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) -R1 (DR4): TRAIL-L, TRAIL-R2(DR5): TRAIL-L and DR3: TNF-related weak inducer of apoptosis (Tweak)-L, where L represents the ligand, are the most well characterised receptor: ligand couples in relation to apoptosis and all transmit their death-inducing signal through the DD (Fulda and Debatin, 2004). Upon ligand binding, these receptors trimerise, and recruit adaptor proteins such as fas-associated death domain (FADD) followed by recruitment of caspase-8, which all together form a death inducing signalling complex (DISC). DISC formation results in caspase-8 oligomerisation and auto-activation via polyubiquitination of its p10 catalytic domain by Cul3-E3 ligase (Jin et al., 2009). Active caspase-8 proceeds to cleave and activate caspase-3 resulting in cell death (Kischkel et al., 1995). Signalling through caspase-8 can be "shut-down" via K48-linked polyubiquitination of its large catalytic domain by TNF-receptor associated factor 2 (TRAF2) which essentially targets caspase-8 for 26S proteosomal degradation (Gonzalvez et al.). Another inhibitor of caspase-8 is cellular FLICE inhibitor protein (c-FLIP) which is strongly homologous to caspase-8 but lacks protease function. Like caspase-8, c-FLIP is recruited to the DISC and cleaved between its p18 and p10 subunits leaving a 43 kDa fragment at the DISC. This blocks caspase-8 activation and extrinsic apoptosis (Scaffidi et al., 1999). It must be noted, another study reported c-FLIP can enhance apoptosis at more physiologically relevant levels and only when exceeding these levels can it block caspase-8 activation (Chang et al., 2002). The extrinsic pathway can also be blocked at the receptor level by FAS associated phosphatise 1 (FAP 1) which binds CD95/FAS, and dephosphorylates its phospho-tyrosine 275 residue to inhibit FAS-L induced apoptosis (Foehr et al., 2005). FAP 1 can also bind intracellular CD95 and prevent its export to the cell surface (Ivanov et al., 2003). In some cases, the accumulation of caspase-8 at the DISC is not adequate to activate caspase-3 and so the extrinsic pathway, amplifies the intrinsic pathway. Essentially, caspase-8 cleaves the BCL-2 family member, BID to form a truncated version tBID (Scaffidi et al., 1998). tBID, translocates to the mitochondria, where it binds to cardiolipin present on the mitochondrion surface and is thought to be involved in BAX/BAK oligomerization and pore formation (Kim et al., 2009; Korytowski et al., 2011).



Figure 1.3 Intrinsic and extrinsic apoptotic pathways

The intrinsic apoptosis pathway is initiated by toxic stimuli that trigger the cells stress responses and cause changes to the OMM. BCL-2 family members are activated in response to stress signals and determine if the mitochondrial membrane is permeabilised based on the balance between pro-apoptotic and anti-apoptotic family members. BAX translocates to the mitochondria, and heterodimerises with BAK to form pores in the OMM to mediate the release of cytochrome c from the mitochondrial intermembrane space into the cytosol where it stimulates formation of the apoptosome. This leads to activation of caspase-9 and downstream caspase-3. The extrinsic pathway is activated by ligand binding to death receptors, which recruits adaptor proteins such as FADD and leads to activation of caspase-8 and downstream caspase-3. Ultimately both pathways induce apoptosis.

1.3 Endoplasmic reticulum stress

The Endoplasmic Reticulum (ER) is an organelle in the cell in which secreted, membrane bound are synthesized and correctly folded (English et al., 2009; Voeltz et al., 2002). Newly Synthesized proteins must undergo several types of post-translational modifications some of which are necessary for folding them into their correct conformation. The unique oxidative and calcium rich environment of the ER is a requirement of the multitude of chaperone and foldase proteins that bring about the necessary post-translational modifications and fold proteins into their native most stable conformation (Braakman and Bulleid, 2011; Stevens and Argon, 1999). The most noteworthy of the ER chaperones are, Glucose-regulated protein, 78 (GRP78/Bip) which is a sensor for misfolded proteins, or the chaperone-like lectins Calnexin and Calreticulin recognize N-linked oligosaccharides with one terminal glucose, when the last glucose molecule is removed and the protein is in its folded confirmation, only then is the protein allowed to exit the ER. Some well-known foldases include Protein disulphide isomerases (PDI) family members, ER oxidoreductin 1 (Ero-1) and peptidyl-prolyl isomerases, which enhance formation of disulphide and peptidyl-prolyl bonds respectively (Araki and Nagata, 2011). Abnormal changes in the cells Adenosine triphosphate (ATP) supply, imbalance in the intracellular redox state, disruption of calcium homeostasis, accumulation of unfolded proteins, and inhibition of protein glycosylation, can cause the ER to become stressed. This causes the induction of a series of signalling events, collectively termed the unfolded protein response (UPR) (Kaufman, 2002).

1.4 The unfolded protein response

The UPR (Figure 1.5) can be classed into two separate phases termed the adaptive UPR and the apoptotic UPR. Adaptive responses aim to return order to the stressed ER by lowering the amount of proteins being synthesised, increasing the levels of chaperones to help fold unfolded proteins or directing misfolded proteins to the proteosome for degradation and thus alleviating the burden of accumulated protein in the ER. However, if stress is too severe then the UPR switches to promote cell death (Hetz, 2012; Rasheva and Domingos, 2009). There are three pathways of the UPR. The protein kinase R (PKR)-like ER kinase (PERK), activating transcription factor-6 (ATF6) and Inositol requiring enzyme-1 α (IRE1 α) pathways. Under

normal resting conditions, these transmembrane proteins remain bound and inactive to GRP78 when the ER is stressed however, GRP78's chaperoning activity is required and so it dissociates from PERK, ATF6 and IRE1 to attend to unfolded proteins. PERK, ATF6 and IRE1 become activated and all three UPR effector proteins illicit their downstream effects (Szegezdi et al., 2006), (Schroder and Kaufman, 2005). However, research has shown increasing complexity to the activation of these receptors and requires further events after GRP78 dissociation. It has been shown in yeast that a mutation of GRP78 binding site in the luminal domain of IRE1 does not result in constitutive activation of the receptor (Oikawa et al., 2007), suggesting that other factors are required for its activation. Further to this dimerization of human IRE1 core stress sensing region (CSSR) in the ER lumen creates a major histocompatibility complex (MHC)-like groove. It is believed that unfolded proteins bind to this MHC-like grove, promoting the formation of higher order oligomers required for UPR activation (Zhou et al., 2006). In fact, it has been shown in yeast that unfolded proteins act as ligands binding to the core ER-luminal domain of IRE1 resulting in it oligomerisation and activation in vitro (Gardner and Walter, 2011). However it must be noted that the mechanism of activation for IRE1 between yeast and human cells differs some what. While yeast Ire1 activation, is regulated by both GRP78 dissociation and direct association with unfolded proteins, the activation of mammalian IRE1a is mainly regulated by GRP78 dissociation. Conversely, human IRE1^β activation requires association with misfolded proteins rather than GRP78 dissociation (Maurel et al., 2013). The luminal domain of PERK and IRE1 shows similar features and could possibly be activated in a similar manner (Zhou et al., 2006). All three arms have adaptive and apoptotic signalling features which will now be described.

1.4.1 PERK Signalling:

PERK is a serine/threonine kinase of the eukaryotic initiation factor 2 (eIF2) kinase family (Wek et al., 2006). It is activated upon release from GRP78 through homodimization via its luminal domain and subsequently trans-autophosphorylates its respective cytoplasmic domain at residue threonine 980 (Schroder and Kaufman, 2005). PERK then phosphorylates eIF2a (eukaryotic translation initiation factor alpha) and in doing so blocks cap dependent protein translation. This inadvertedly results in cap independant translation of certain mRNAs with

short open reading frames in their 5' UTR (5' untranslated region) (Wek et al., 2006). Blocking translation of so many proteins, serves to relieve the pressure placed on the stressed ER and give it time to restore its protein folding capacity to normal levels. The transcription factor Activated transcription factor 4 (ATF4) is one protein translated in a cap-independent manner. This is due to the fact that, ATF4 has two upstream open reading frames (uORFs) that are inhibitory and normally block downstream ATF4 expression. During enhanced eIF2a phosphorylation, the inhibitory function of the uORFs is bypassed, and instead there is increased ATF4 translation (Wek et al., 2006). ATF4 signalling is initially adaptive and it induces transcription of pro-survival genes such as those needed for amino acid import and metabolism e.g. Cystathionine y-lyase (Cth), and methylenetetrahydrofolate (Mthfd) which are need for metabolism of sulphur containing amino acids and Glycine transporter (Glyt1) which provides glycine for gluthione biosynthesis which reduces endogenous peroxidase levels ATF4 signalling helps to maintain the ERs oxidative environment (Harding et al., 2003). Nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2)-like 2 (NRF2), a b-ZIP cap "n" collar transcription factor can also be induced by PERK. NRF2 is normally bound to its negative regulator Kelch-like ECH-associated protein (KEAP1) in the cytoplasm (Kobayashi and Yamamoto, 2005; Lee et al., 2007). It is activated by PERK-mediated phosphorylation, dissociates from KEAP1 (Cullinan et al., 2003) and translocates to the nucleus and binds to genes with an antioxidant response element (ARE) in their promotors i.e. anti-oxidant associated genes the code for phase-II detoxifying enzymes such as heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1) (Alam and Cook, 2003; Alam et al., 1999) and NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase (NQO1) (Ishii et al., 2000; Kwak et al., 2003). HO-1 catabolizes heme to biliverdin, iron and carbon monoxide (CO). Biliverdin reductase further converts biliverdin into bilirubin which, mops up peroxy radicals and block the oxidation of lipids (Ryter and Choi, 2009). It has been shown that during ER stress in vascular smooth muscle cells, NRF2 activates HO-1; perhaps this is an adaptive action of the cell to maintain a healthy oxidative environment within the ER. In the same study, exogenous addition CO can prevent ER stress-induced apoptosis which may be due to decreased C/EBP-homologous protein (CHOP) expression (Liu et al., 2005b), so perhaps endogenous HO-1 mediated CO production can stall CHOP activation to restore ER homeostasis. Similarly there may exist a feedback mechanism in which CO can directly regulated PERK-NRF2 signalling to activate HO-1 but has no effect on other arms of the UPR, in this instance pretreatment of CO could prevent ER stress induced cell death (Kim et al., 2007). If the protein burden on the cell is too severe, PERK signalling can switch from its adaptive mode to

an apoptotic mode. Firstly, ATF6 can upregulate p58 inhibitor of protein kinase (p58(IPK)) which encodes the p58(IPK) protein that binds to the kinase domain of PERK, preventing further eIF2a phosphorylation and thus restores cap-dependant protein translation (van Huizen et al., 2003). The three arms of the UPR can induce CHOP however PERK induction of CHOP through ATF4 appears crucial for upregulation of CHOP at the protein level (Szegezdi et al., 2006). The exact mechanism in which CHOP induces apoptosis is still controversial but is would seem CHOP regulates multiple targets. Reports have shown that CHOP can upregulate the pro-apoptotic BCL-2 proteins BIM, and PUMA as well as extrinsic mediator DR5 (Cazanave et al., 2010; Ghosh et al., 2012; Yamaguchi and Wang, 2004), and to downregulate the anti-apoptotic protein BCL-2 to promote apoptosis (McCullough et al., 2001). It can also increase the cellular level of ROS, by causing a decrease in gluthione (Marciniak et al., 2004). Furthermore, CHOP transcriptionally induces ERO1a which reoxidizes PDI and forms H202. CHOP induced ERO1a also causes the ER calcium release channel IP3R1 to become active and release calcium into the cytoplasm which subsequently leads to apoptosis (Li et al., 2009). Another target of ATF4 is DNA damage-inducible 34 (GADD34), which negatively controls elF2a phosphorylation by interacting with protein phosphatase 1C (PP1C), restoring protein synthesis (Hetz et al., 2012).

1.4.2 ATF6 Signalling:

There are two known subtypes of ATF6, designated ATF6α and ATF6β (Haze et al., 1999). Knockout of both subtypes separately did not impede development in mice; however knockout of both simultaneously was embryonically lethal (Wu et al., 2007; Yamamoto et al., 2007). The C-terminus of ATF6 is embedded within the ER while the N-terminus protrudes into the cytoplasm. In unstressed conditions, ATF6 is found as a monomer, dimer or oligomer due to the presence of intra- and inter- molecular disulphide bonds. Upon exposure to chemical and physiological inducers of ER stress, the disulphide bonded ATF6 is reduced to a monomer form (Nadanaka et al., 2006) and dissociates from GRP78. Once ATF6 is free from GRP78, a region containing two golgi localization signals called GLS1 and GLS1 is exposed and the reduced monomer form of ATF6 is transported to the Golgi apparatus (Shen et al., 2002). It is in the Golgi that ATF6 is reduced and its N-terminal fragment known as ATF6-N is cleaved from the total or parent protein known as ATF6-P by proteases specific to the Golgi known as

Site-1 protease (S1) and Site-2 protease (S2) (Ye et al., 2000). ATF6-N is translocated to the nucleus and exhibits its defining role in transcriptional activation of genes that encode for chaperone proteins, folding enzymes and proteins associated with ER-associated degradation (ERAD) to help restore the ER to its normal functioning state, notably it induces transcription of X-box binding protein (XBP1) which requires further processing by IRE1 to become active (Kim et al., 2008; Szegezdi et al., 2006). ATF6 regulates the transcription of these genes by binding to the cis-acting ER Stress response Element I and II (ERSE, ERSE II) and Unfolded Protein Response Element UPRE, which were identified in the promoters of several UPR associated genes, such as GRP78 which acts as a sensor for ER stress and maintains the ER calcium store; and ERP72 (Endoplasmic reticulum resident protein 72) which assists protein folding; GRP94; and Calreticulin (Yamamoto et al., 2004b).

1.4.3 IRE1 signalling:

In mammals, there are two active isoforms of IRE1, termed IRE1 α and IRE1 β which, similar to the activation of PERK, and upon release form GRP78 and via binding of unfolded proteins, IRE1 dimerizes, autophosphorylates and activates itself (Gardner and Walter, 2011; Szegezdi et al., 2006). IRE1 consists of two domains, an endoribonuclease domain and a serine/threonine kinase domain. The endoribonuclease domain directly cleaves XBP1 mRNA to from a smaller mRNA product called spliced XBP1 (XBP1s) (Figure 1.4). Splicing of XBP1 differs from the majority of other splicing events and is termed "unconventional". When compared to the classical splicing via the splicosome which recognizes a sequence at an exon-intron boundary that generally follows chambons rule i.e splices a site beginning with AU that ends in AG, GU-AG or AU-AC (Tarn and Steitz, 1997; Uemura et al., 2009); unconventional splicing is completely independent from splicosome processing and depends solely on IRE1 and an RNA ligase that has not yet been identified in mammals. The stem loop structure in XBP1 replaces the typical chambons sequence and is spliced out by IRE1 and the XBP1 mRNA is then ligated by the RNA ligase and translated to produce XBP1s with a shift in its codon reading frame. Once XBP1 has been spliced it encodes for its transcription factor that has been identified to target many UPR and ERAD associated chaperones such as p58(IPK) which, as already mentioned blocks PERK-mediated eIF2α phosphorylation and ends the translational block, ERdj4/ HSP40 and EDEM1 (Kawahara et al., 1998; Lee et al., 2003). It has been shown that ATF6 and XBP1 are translocated to the nucleus upon ER stress and only when the transcription factor NF-Y (nuclear transcription factor Y) binds to the sequence CCAAT can ATF6 and XBP1 bind to the CCACG region of the ERSE and initiate transcription of the ERSE containing chaperones and ERAD associated genes (Roy and Lee, 1999; Yamamoto et al., 2004a). XBP1s is also involved in the observed expansion of the ER during stress by increasing phospholipid synthesis (Sriburi et al., 2004). Splicing of XBP1 is part of IRE1's adaptive response and as such has been shown to promote cell survival. For instance overexpression of Heat shock protein 72 (HSP72) was reported to prolong splicing of XBP1 and confer resistance to ER stress induced cell death (Gupta et al., 2010). The Rnase activity of IRE1 also splices a subset of mRNA through a process known as Regulated IRE1 Dependent Decay (RIDD). The specific RNAs degraded by RIDD activity depends on the cell type affected and mostly targets mRNAs encoding for proteins of the secretory pathway. However other targets have been implicated in apoptosis regulation (Hollien et al., 2009). It is thought that the presence of a conserved nucleotide sequence accompanied by a defined secondary structure may effect the selectivity of IRE1 to degrade particular RIDD substrates (Maurel and Chevet., 2013).



Figure 1.4 splicing of XBP1

Upon ER stress ATF6 transcriptionally activates XBP1 mRNA and is spliced by the RNase activity of IRE1, removing the mRNAs hairpin structure to form a smaller transcript with a shift in the open reading frame that encodes the active transcription factor XBP1s.

IRE1 signalling can also switch from adaptive signalling to apoptotic signalling if the stress on the ER cannot be averted. IRE1 can recruit TRAF2 which, activates apoptosis signalregulation kinase 1 (ASK1) which induces a series of phosphorylation events, ultimately leading to phosphorylation and activation of c-JUN terminal kinase (JNK 1/2) (Urano et al., 2000b). The exact outcome of JNK activation during ER stress is not well characterised, however it has been shown that IRE1-JNK signalling is activated through mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1 (mTORC1)-mediated reduction in AKT phosphorylation. In the same study use of rapamycin an inhibitor of mTORC1 blocked IRE1-JNK signalling and apoptosis in vitro and could reduce tunicamycin induced tubular injury and apoptosis in mice (Kato et al., 2012). JNK has also been reported to be pro-apoptotic by translocating to the nucleus and transactivating transcription factors that subsequently regulate pro- or anti- apoptotic genes. One of the better characterized targets of JNK is c-Jun, which is phosphorylated by JNK and brings about AP-1 (activating protein 1) dimerization (Dhanasekaran and Reddy, 2008). AP-1 dimers can consist of Jun, Fos or ATF subunits that bind to a common gene and regulate its transcription (Karin et al., 1997) e.g. TNF-alpha (α), Fas-L, and BAK (Fan and Chambers, 2001). JNK has also been reported to phosphorylate p53 at Ser 6. This stabilizes p53 and blocks its degradation by the proteasome (Fuchs et al., 1998). p53 is a tumour suppressor that can induce a cell cycle checkpoint via upregulation of p21 which binds to and inhibits cyclin-dependant kinase 2 (CDK2) a protein required for G1-S phase transition (Di Leonardo et al., 1994). p53 is also a transcription factor and has been reported to upregulate proapoptotic BCL-2 family proteins such as BAX, PUMA, NOXA and BID (Gurzov et al., 2010; Oda et al., 2000; Sax et al., 2002; Zhan et al., 1994). Downstream of the mitochondria p53 can transcriptionally upregulate APAF-1 (Moroni et al., 2001) which may be more an enhancing effect in apoptosis rather than an initiating event. p53 can upregulate DR5 (Wu et al., 1997) and CD95 (Muller et al., 1998) death receptors to potentiate extrinsic apoptosis. p53 signalling was also reported to disrupt pro-survival pathway P13K via upregulation of another tumor supressor PTEN (Stambolic et al., 2001). Aside from nuclear functions of JNK, it may also play a part in OMM permeabilisation where MEFs lacking JNK1/2 failed to release cytochrome c (Tournier et al., 2000). The exact role for JNK in cytochrome c release is not yet known but it may be via its induction of the extrinsic death receptors or caspase-8 mediated BID cleavage (Dhanasekaran and Reddy, 2008). JNK has also been shown to enhance the activity of pro-apoptotic BCL-2 family proteins BIM and BMF via direct phosphorylation (Lei and Davis, 2003). This releases them from sequestering proteins dynein and myosin V motor complexes and can lead to intrinsic apoptosis. JNK phosphorylation of BAD at Ser 128 and Ser 148 blocks it interaction with neutralizing 14-3-3 proteins and thus BAD can block prosurvival BCL-2 family members and enhance apoptosis (Donovan et al., 2002; Wang et al., 2007). TNFa induced apoptosis has also been reported to involve JNK-mediated cleavage of BID where JNK cleaves BID, forming jBID which translocates to the mitochondria and mediates specific Smac/DIABLO release with no release of cytochrome c. The release of Smac/DIABLO ultimately potentiates cell death by disrupting TRAF2-cIAP complexes that otherwise block caspase-8 activation (Deng et al., 2003).



Figure 1.5 Unfolded protein response

Upon stress, IRE1, ATF6 and PERK dissociate from GRP78 and become active. PERK phosphorylates eIF2a, blocking cap-dependant translation and enhancing cap-independent translation of ATF4 which, upregulates genes for amino acid synthesis, redox balance and CHOP. PERK also phosphorylates NRF2 which induces antioxidant response genes. CHOP promotes apoptosis by upregulation of BIM and ERO1a and downregulation of BCL-2. ATF6 translocates to the Golgi, is cleaved to form its active N-terminal fragment which upregulates XBP1, ERAD and chaperone genes. IRE1 can cleave mRNAs via RIDD, or recruit TRAF2 which leads to JNK phosphorylation. IRE1's RNase domain can splice XBP1 which encodes the protein XBP1s, which upregulates ERAD, chaperones and genes needed for phospholipid synthesis.

1.5 microRNA

microRNAs (miRNAs) are evolutionary conserved, small non-coding RNAs that are roughly 22nt in length. Their main and defining role in the cell is as the endogenous effectors of RNA interference (RNAi), a pathway in which miRNAs "interfere" with mRNA to protein translation via direct degradation or repression of mRNA, and as such control gene expression (Montgomery et al., 1998; Siomi and Siomi, 2009). In fact, miRNA regulate at least one third of all genes (Lewis et al., 2005) and are important regulators of all major processes such as development (Shi and Jin, 2009), metabolism (Rottiers et al., 2011) and apoptosis (Lynam-Lennon et al., 2009). According to mirBase (release 19) there are now 2042 known mature miRNA found in humans and it is well known that, a single miRNA can have multiple targets (Bartel, 2009), thus, altered expression of one miRNA may have massive consequences in the cell, tissues and throughout the body. As such, deregulated miRNA expression is seen in many disease conditions such as cardiac, neurodegenerative, autoimmune diseases, diabetes and in tumourogenesis (Bushati and Cohen, 2008; Ha, 2011; Tang et al., 2008b; Thum and Bauersachs, 2008). As a result miRNA may serve as potential therapeutic targets.

1.5.1 Biogenesis of miRNA

1.5.1.1 Transcription

miRNA are found in introns of mRNA, coding regions and even intergenic regions. Transcription of miRNA located in introns and coding regions often occurs simultaneously to the host gene as observed with the miRNA miR-211 and its host gene melastatin (Levy et al., 2010) while transcription of those miRNA situated in the intergenic regions of the genome is thought to occur through their own promoters (Faller and Guo, 2008; Kim, 2005). miRNA were also found as clusters on polycistronic transcripts and so more than one miRNA can be transcribed from one transcriptional initiation event (Bartel, 2004; Kim, 2005). Those miRNA found as clusters often have an analogous sequence but not always, however it has been

seen that miRNA of the same cluster can coordinate their efforts for regulation of a particular task or process (Yu et al., 2006). This can be seen by the coordinated functioning of the mir-17-92 cluster which is up regulated in some human cancers and has oncogenic function (Hayashita et al., 2005).

The formation of mature miRNA begins with a long RNA transcript known as the primary miRNA (Pri-miRNA). These transcripts are usually transcribed by RNA polymerase II, (Pol II) however there have been reports that show some miRNAs are transcribed by RNA polymerase III (Pol III). The majority of miRNA are transcribed by Pol II due to the presence of four Uracil (U) bases which correspond to four Thymine (T) bases in the miRNA gene sequence which is essentially a termination sequence for Pol III. Furthermore many primiRNA carry a 5' M⁷G cap and a poly (A) tail, which are features associated with Pol II mediated transcription (Lee et al., 2004). Some miRNAs e.g. the resident miRNA of chromosome 19, are situated between the retrotransposons known as Alu elements which are transcribed by Polymerase III, and so too where miRNA located between such elements e.g. miR-515-I, miR-515a, miR-519a-1 and miR-517c (Borchert et al., 2006). Alu elements move throughout the genome, they leave a particular site by their transcription into RNA and are inserted into a different part of the genome through reverse transcription. It is through such insertion that these Alu elements can cause mutations in certain genes and the reason why they are implicated in many genetically associated diseases (Hancks and Kazazian, 2012). Other miRNA particularly those encoded by viruses such as the herpes family viruses lie between tRNA promoter regions and may also be transcribed by Pol III. (Liu et al., 1995) By using bioinformatics techniques further analysis showed that more miRNA are located between Alu elements, tRNA promoter regions and even mammalian wide interspersed repeat sequences (MWIR) then originally believed. Results indicate that approximately 18 such miRNA could be transcribed by Pol III (Borchert et al., 2006).

The transcription of miRNA is regulated by many factors. For instance various transcription factors have been shown to recognise particular miRNA and either increase or decrease their promoter activity (Breving and Esquela-Kerscher, 2009). The oncogenic transcription factor, c-MYC has been shown to regulate the transcription of about 13 miRNA clusters (Frenzel et al., 2010) including mir-17-92 cluster where it upregulates the clusters transcription via

recognition of its upstream CATGTG sequence (O'Donnell et al., 2005). However Myc over expressing B-cells exhibited repression of a vast majority of miRNA and display enhanced tumourgenecity (Chang et al., 2008). This suggests that Myc or downstream targets of Myc can repress miRNA expression. Other studies have shown that epigenetic regulation is also a contributing factor to miRNA expression. A small number of miRNA are actually found in CpG islands and can only be transcribed if they have been methylated by DNMT1/ DNMT3b (Breving and Esquela-Kerscher, 2009).

Transcription if the miRNA gene generates an RNA transcript referred to as the primary or primiRNA and as mentioned can be a single or clustered transcript (Bartel, 2004).

1.5.1.2 Maturation:

Once it is transcribed, the pri-miRNA is processed by a protein complex called the microprocessor. This consists of the ribonuclease III enzyme called DROSHA and the protein DGCR8 (DiGeorge Syndrome Critical Region Gene 8) and other other cofactors, e.g., the DEADbox RNA helicases p68/DDX5 and p72/DDX17 (Gregory et al., 2004). This complex cleaves the pri-miRNA into a smaller transcript of approximately 70nt called the precursor miRNA (pre-miRNA). The cleavage results in the pre-miRNA having a 5' phosphate and a 3' overhang at the base of its stem (Bartel, 2004). DROSHA and DGCR8 co-ordinate their efforts and post-trancriptionally regulate each other with the interaction between the two proteins contributing to the optimal functioning of DROSHA (Tang et al., 2010), while DROSHA cleaves and destabilizes the DGCR8 mRNA hairpin therefore negatively regulating its own function (Han et al., 2009) Recognition of the pri-miRNA seems to depend on cooperative binding of DGCR8 and the pri-miRNA with one model suggesting that DGCR8 forms higher order structures e.g., DGCR8 dimers forming trimers and increasing the cooperative binding to pri-miRNAs (Faller et al., 2010). Binding of heme to DGCR8 has shown to catalyze trimerization upon interaction with pri-miRNA and the activity of the microprocessor complex greatly increases resulting in more efficient processing of the transcript (Faller et al., 2007). The smaller pre-miRNA is transported out of the nucleus through the karyopherin nucleocytoplasmic transport factor known as Exportin-5 (XPO5) which is dependent on Ran- GTPase activity. The RanGTpase allows for cytoplasmic binding
of the molecule being transferred while hydrolysis to RanGDP allows release of the molecule (Yi et al., 2003). Once in the cytoplasm the pre-miRNA is further cleaved by another ribonuclease III called DICER which is thought to recognise the 5' phosphate and 3' overhang portion of the transcript. As with DROSHA, DICER also cleaves both strands of the double stranded transcript, however this cleavage event results in the loss of the stem loop structure and the formation of a miRNA:miRNA* duplex consisting of two miRNA strands one of which is degraded while the other becomes incorporated into the "mature" RNA induced silencing complex (RISC). When the mature RISC is described, the consensus opinion is that only one strand is selected into the RISC in an ATP-dependant manner. However it has been shown that prior to RISC maturation the miRNA; miRNA* duplex is loaded onto the RISC in an ATP dependant manner and with the cooperation of the chaperone proteins Hsc70 and Hsp90 which possible direct a conformational change in AGO proteins. However the unwinding of both strands has been reported to occur independently of ATP hydrolysis and does not require Hsc70 or Hsp90. It has not been fully elucidated how unwinding occurs. Some reports suggest the miRNA helix is cleaved thus releasing one strand while others have suggested that unmatched base pairs in the two strands allow for unwinding. Another group have proposed the "rubber band" model by which AGO proteins are forced into a conformational change by ATP hydrolysis to allow space for miRNA uptake, generating structural tension. They propose that the AGO protein snaps down into a more relaxed structure around the miRNA duplex and that release of tension would provide the energy to unwind the helix (Iwasaki et al., 2010). The single miRNA strand seleted by RISC, acts a guide for the silencing complex by directing it towards the target mRNA. The RISC-miRNA complex generally targets the 3' UTR (untranslated region) of the mRNA and induces silencing by one of two mechanisms, a translational block or mRNA degradation. However it must be noted that there have been reports showing unconventional miRNA-mediated silencing via the 5' UTR of the mRNA. Some miRNAs recruit epigenetic silencing markers to the 5' UTR to essentially "turn off" gene expression e.g. miR-211 (Chitnis et al., 2012). Complementarity between the miRNA and the target mRNA is thought to be involved in the decision of which mechanism is used for RNAi-mediated silencing (Bartel, 2004). For some reason the processing of a select few of miRNA differs from that of other miRNA and requires additional adaptor proteins for efficient processing. This is seen with the regulation of miR-21 via SMAD proteins. The expression of miR-21 is increased via Transforming growth factor β (TGF β) and bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) signalling which results in the contractile phenotype of vascular smooth muscle cells.

TGF β and BMP recruit SMAD proteins to the microprocessor complex where it interacts

with the microprocessor component p68 helicase and enhances DROSHA's processing capabilities resulting in increased levels of miR-21 (Davis et al., 2008). miR-155, a miRNA that promotes epithelial mesenchymal transition (EMT) and metastasis, is also reported to be regulated by TGF β signalling and the recruitment of SMAD proteins (Kong et al., 2008). Biogenesis of miRNA let-7 can be abolished by Lin-28 binding to the loop region of pre-let-7a and blocking DROSHA recognition, an important process for embryonic development (Newman et al., 2008). There are also factors that recognise a particular sequence in the terminal loop of the pri-miRNA as well as mature miRNA. This has been seen for pri-mir-18a to which heterogenous nucleoprotein A1 (hnRNPA1) binds to its terminal loop and stem and alters its structure to accommodate DROSHA processing. Interestingly, other members of the 17-18a-19a cluster do not interact with this protein because unlike 18a they lack the appropriate sequence UAGGGA/U which hnRNPA1 can recognise (Guil and Caceres, 2007). Other miRNA also interact with KH-type splicing regulatory protein (KHSRP) via their terminal loops which enhances processing by DROSHA in the nucleus or DICER (van Kouwenhove et al., 2011) in the cytoplasm particularly miRNA that contain a triple GGG sequence in their stem loop with is specifically recognised by KHSRP, such as Let-7a (Trabucchi et al., 2010).

1.5.1.3 Non-Canonical biogenesis

On occasion alternative miRNA biogenesis pathways occur in which processing by either DROSHA or DICER is by-passed. The mirtron pathway consists of intronically derived miRNAs, referred to as mirtrons that lack the typical helical formation at their base which is necessary for recognition and processing by DROSHA. Instead these mirtrons have canonical splice sites that are recognized by the spliceosome. The pre-miRNA formed as a result of splicesome processing must first be linearized and folded into hairpins before then can be transported to the cytoplasm via Exportin V (XPO5). Once in the cytoplasm the mirtron hairpins are processed by DICER the same as canonically generated miRNAs (Ruby et al., 2007). Another group of miRNA were reported to by-pass DROSHA but differed from mirtons in that miRNA in this subgroup were derived from long introns of protein coding regions, and pre-miRNAs formed were typically longer than conventional miRNAs. It is thought that an as of yet, unidentified RNase enzyme must be responsible for the processing of these miRNAs

that by pass DROSHA or that there may be possible unidentified splice sites embedded (Chong et al., 2010). More recently, 2 splicing-independent mirtron-like miRNAs (simtrons), miR-1225 and miR-1228 where identified. These are intronically located but are not produced by splicosome processing, but do require DROSHA processing. The same study showed DGBR8, DICER and XPO5 are not required for biogenesis of these simtrons and suggest other proteins with RNase activity may be involved in their maturation (Havens et al., 2012). The miR-451/AGO2 pathway is thought to follow the canonical pathway initially with processing of miR-451 by DROSHA. However it seems that the pre-miRNA produced is too short at only ~17 nt and the two strands of the miRNA: miRNA* are highly complementary which is thought to hinder unwinding for DICER recognition. Instead, miR-451 is processed by the slicer activity of Argonaute (AGO2) (Cheloufi et al., 2010).

1.5.2 miRNA-mediated RNAi

1.5.2.1 The RISC complex

The RISC is a type of ribonucleoprotein complex that has been identified in several species with varying sizes, and varying functional components (Martinez and Tuschl, 2004). Argonaute (AGO) proteins however are considered as the main components of the RISC (Tan et al., 2011). There are 8 members of the human AGO protein family which are divided into two subfamilies, the AGO subfamily consisting of AGO proteins 1 to 4 and the PIWI subfamily which consists of HIWI 1 to 3 and HILI (Peters and Meister, 2007). AGO proteins generally consist of 2 structural domains known as PAZ (Piwi- Argonaute- Zwille) and PIWI domains. PAZ is thought to be responsible for anchoring miRNA due the presence of a specialised binding domain that recognises the 3' overhang of the DICER processed miRNA (Hock and Meister, 2008). Only one AGO protein has been identified to have endonuclease activity in humans which is AGO-2 and has been designated the nickname "Slicer". It is thought that AGO-2 is involved in miRNA-mediated silencing by cleaving mRNA (Hock and Meister, 2008; Tan et al., 2011). It was shown that AGO-2 must undergo prolyl 4-hydroxylation otherwise it becomes destabilised and the silencing effect is not as efficient (Qi et al., 2008). One study revealed that AGO-2, DICER and the DICER interacting protein TRBP (TAR RNA binding protein) which is necessary for recruitment of miRNA to AGO2, interact together to form a RISC complex of approx 500 kDa with ATP independent assembly and functionality (Gregory et al., 2005). The double stranded RNA binding protein (dsRBP) PACT is also thought to be a

RISC component. Although there are no reports connecting PACT to AGO-2, it is reported that PACT can in fact associate with both TRBP and DICER directly. It was also shown that DICER function is compromised in the absence of one or both of these proteins which shows that both PACT and TRBP are necessary for DICER's ability to produce miRNA and siRNA (Kok et al., 2007).

1.5.2.2 Processing-bodies: the site of silencing

Processing (P)bodies (PBs) are essentially mRNP (messanger ribonucleoprotein) - protein complexs consisting of the mRNA transcript to be silenced along with various proteins required for the degradation process (Hieronymus and Silver, 2004). It is thought that the miRNA-RISC complex directs mRNA to the components necessary to form the mRNP complexes which then aggregate into PBs and thus the mRNA can be degraded (Liu et al., 2005a). These foci are located in the cytoplasm, the full protein composition is not yet known, but it is known that components associated with degradation or translational inhibition accumulate in these foci e.g. the decapping enzyme Dcp1p/Dcp2p, and the CCR4/POP2/NOT complex which will be describe with more detail later (Cougot et al., 2004; Parker and Sheth, 2007) It has been shown that AGO proteins become highly concentrated in PBs during times of cellular stress and one study showed that an interaction between AGO proteins and RNA binding proteins during serum and amino acid starvation conditions causes activation of normally inactive miRNA (Parker et al, 2007). The family of proteins referred to as GW182 which associates with the miRNA-RISC are also found to accumulate in PBs and their purpose may be to direct the mRNA-miRNA-RISC to PBs for processing. Knockout of GW182 revealed its importance for effective mRNA degradation or translational inhibition, because it caused attenuation of PB assembly, as well as the failure of mRNA-miRNA-RISC association with PBs and thus ineffective silencing (Ding and Han, 2007). One study showed that targeting of mRNA to PBs require the presence of miRNA (Liu et al., 2005a).

1.5.2.3 RNAi: mRNA Degradation or translational inhibition

As discussed mRNA is targeted to PBs and are either degraded or translationally repressed (Bartel, 2004). Cap-dependant translation is controlled by the eIF4F complex which consists of the cap binding protein eIF4E, the RNA helicase eIF4A and the scaffold protein eIF4G which acts as a platform for 40S ribosome interaction to induce translation (Parker and Sheth, 2007). One hypothesis suggests that the AGO proteins lacking slicer activity may have a motif that can interact with eIF4E and in doing so block the interaction between eIF4E and the mRNA and thus block translation. However, a more recent publication has reported that AGO2 can directly bind to the cap binding protein complex via the translation factor eIF4GI to mediate translational repression (Ryu et al., 2013). Translational repression of mRNA has also been reported to a reversible process since when PBs are formed during conditions of stress, that mRNA can be released from these PBs if the stress has been alleviated and can then be taken up by a polysome (cluster of ribosomes) and translated into a functional protein (Bhattacharyya et al., 2006). The choice to degrade mRNA or inhibit its translation may be determined by the degree of complementarity between the miRNA and the 3' UTR of the mRNA. Full complementarity is thought to result in cleavage by AGO-2 but partial complementarity is thought to initiate a translational block (Zhang et al., 2007). If degraded, deadenylation of the polyA tail is mainly carried out by the deadenylase complex consisting of Ccr4p/ pop2p/ not (Parker and Sheth, 2007). At this stage the pathway can take on two different directions: The first pathway involves the removal of the (5' 7 methylguanosine) M⁷G cap by the enzyme Dcp1p/Dcp2p resulting in the 5'- 3' cleavage of the remaining transcript by an exonuclease called xrn1p (Ingelfinger et al., 2002) The alternative secondary pathway to this involves deadenylation followed by 3'-5' cleavage of the mRNA by the exosome complex (Parker and Sheth, 2007).

1.5.3 miRNA turnover:

Little is known about degradation of miRNA but it has been reported that the small RNA degrading nuclease SDN-1 has 3' to 5, exonuclease activity and can actually degrade miRNA in Arabidopsis (Ramachandran and Chen, 2008). It was seen that 3' methylation via HEN1 methyltransferase may protect against such degradation by stabilizing the miRNA. In fact levels of mature miRNA are lower in HEN1 mutants. Similarly, 3' adenylation of mir-122 by GLD-2 which is a poly-(A) polymerase found in the cytoplasm stabilises the mature miRNA and prevents its depletion. In mammals XRN-2 behaves a lot like SDN but with 5'-3' exonuclease activity that only degrades single stranded miRNA. This suggests that the passenger strand which is not protected by Argonaute will be a target for XRN-2 (Kai and Pasquinelli, 2010). There is some debate over miRNA half-life however it is thought to vary from miRNA to miRNA and from response to response, in some instances the half-life being as little as half an hour to others remaining active and present in the cell for days (Gantier et al., 2011). The stability of miRNAs is also determined by the presence of GW128, for only in its absence can miRNA be degraded (Yao et al., 2012).



Figure 1.6 miRNA biogenesis

miRNA Biogenesis begins in the nucleus where a miRNA gene is transcribed by RNA Pol II/ III forming a single pri-miRNA or clustered pri-miRNA transcript. This is processed by DROSHA at the base of its hairpin stem to form a pre-miRNA transcript of ~ 70 nt which is transported out of the nucleus by XPO-5. In the cytoplasm it is further processed by DICER which removes it's hairpin loop to form a miRNA:miRNA* duplex of ~ 21 nt. The duplex is loaded onto the RISC via ATP hydrolysis and chaperones Hsc70/Hsp90. The duplex is separated and one strand is retained within the RIS and mediates the translational repression or degradation of its target mRNA based on the degree of complementarity between miRNA and mRNA. The second strand of the miRNA: miRNA* duplex is usually degraded via XRN-2

1.6 Apoptosis and cancer

Cancer is a disease in which cells are reprogrammed for enhanced proliferation, continuous replication, evasion of apoptosis and many more characteristics that allow cells to proliferate and grow so much that they can form a solid mass or tumour and/ or metastasize to distant tissues and organs (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011). In healthy tissues and organs cells continually die and proliferate. However sometimes apoptosis is required for other reasons for instance cells that acquire unwanted mutations in their genome are normally detected and destroyed before any dangerous material can be passed on to further generations of cells (Elmore, 2007). However it is common that cancers cells acquire mutations that allow for enhanced survival e.g. mutations in tumour suppressor genes such as p53 can be acquired or upregulation of cell survival signalling pathways such as phosphoinositide-3-kinase (PI3K) and Extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) to promote tumour development (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011). Other times or even along with amplification of survival signals, cells can modulate apoptotic responses to bypass cell death and enhance survival. Pro-survival BCL-2 and is often upregulated in cancer as seen in Lung carcinoma, CLL, multiple myeloma, breast, colorectal, prostate cancers etc...(Higashiyama et al., 1996; IERVOLINO et al., 2002; McDonnell et al., 1992; Real et al., 2002; Robertson et al., 1996; Sinicrope et al., 1995). However high BCL-2 expression has conflicting prognostic implications, e.g., it has been associated with poor and favourable prognosis in acute myeloid leukaemia and breast cancer respectively (Dawson et al., 2010; Karakas et al., 1998). In fact, BCL-2 was initially discovered from its aberrant chromosomal translocation t(14;18) in follicular lymphoma. This translocation results in fusion of BCL-2 to immunoglobulin heavy chain enhancer thus upregulating BCL-2 transcription (Tsujimoto et al., 1985). Higher MCL-1 levels have been detected in haemopoetic, lymhoma and multiple myeloma cancers (Campbell et al., 2010; Wenzel et al., 2012; Wuilleme-Toumi et al., 2005). In cervical cancer it was shown that MCL-1 is upregulated via PI3K/AKT signalling (Wei et al., 2001) which is already associated with carcinogenesis, acting downstream of many receptor tyrosine kinases and provides powerful pro-survival signals via AKT-dependent phosphorylation of transcription factors such as nuclear factor-kappa B (NF-kB) and forkhead, as well as direct phosphorylation of antiapoptototic proteins including BCL-2 family members (Hafsi et al., 2012). High levels of MCL-1 as well as upregulation of pro-survival XIAP and c-FLIP are reported to provide resistance to TRAIL and chemotherapeutic therapies (Wang et al., 2008b). However, questions have been raised regarding the anti-apoptotic effects of XIAP, and one study revealed that expression of XIAP to similar level of what is physiologically relevant does not in fact provide any resistance and only when expressed alongside a stable knockdown of Smac/diablo was resistance seen (Seeger et al., 2010). Conversely, pro-apoptotic BCL-2 family members such as BIM have been reported to be downregulated in cancers including colorectoral cancer where activated ERK 1/2 which phosphorylates BIM and directs it's degradation by the proteosome, thus enhancing cell survival (Greenhough et al., 2010). BIM was also reported to be important for leukaemia cell death when PI3K/AKT and ERK 1/2 pathways have been compromised, where levels of BIM increased and MCL-1 decreased suggesting BIM is lower in leukaemias which active survival pathways (Rahmani et al., 2009). In fact, deletions of BIM in mice lead to development of B-cell lymphoma in Eµ-Myc-transgenic mice (Egle et al., 2004). Deletion of BID and BAD in mice also resulted in development of malignancy resembling chronic myelomonocytic leukemia and B-cell lymphoma respectively (Ranger et al., 2003; Zinkel et al., 2003). Deletion or inactivation of other BH3 only proteins has also been reported in cancers. The locus carrying PUMA undergoes frequent mutations as seen in B cell lymphomas, gliomas and neuroblastomas (Garrison et al., 2008). Deletion of the locus carrying BMF was observed in breast, lung and colon cancers. Loss of BIK or methylationmediated silencing has been reported in renal carcinomas (Sturm et al., 2006). Methylation and silencing of HRK was shown to occur in several cancers including gastric, colorectal and glioblastoma cancers (Nakamura et al., 2005; Obata et al., 2003). It has to be noted however that more recent publications have shown that the usually pro-apoptotic BIM and BAD may act as pro-survival proteins in cancer. In the case of BIM, it was shown to be constitutively overexpressed in prostate and breast cancer cell lines and primary tumour cells where its upregulation was shown to be driven by the transcription factor E2F1 (Gogada et al., 2012). The ability of cells to cope to high levels of BIM without undergoing apoptosis was elaborated when the phosphorylation status of BIM at Ser69 or Ser87 was examined and higher phosphorylated BIM was observed in these prostate and breast cancer models. Previously phosphorylation of BIM at Ser69 or Ser87 was reported to enhance cancer survival by promoting BIM degradation or inactivation (Paterson et al., 2012; Qi et al., 2006; Wang et al.,

2011). Further to this, MCL-1 and BCL-xL where upregulated and shown to interact with BIM, and were thought to sequester BIM at membrane structures like the mitochondria, and perhaps blocked from interacting with BAX (Gogada et al., 2012). It would appear that it is merely neutralized by phosphorylation and/or sequestration by pro-survival proteins. Similarily, high levels of phosphorylated BAD were detected in prostate cancer and was surprisingly found to promote proliferation of prostate cells in vitro and of prostate tumors in vivo (Smith et al., 2009). Another study revealed that BAD can heterodimerize with BCL-xL and allow cells to avoid cell cycle checkpoint to promote proliferation (Chattopadhyay et al., 2001), perhaps this is a possible mechanism of how higher BAD may be advantageous to cancer cells.

1.7 ER stress and cancer

Deregulation of ER stress has been reported to occur in many cancers including, hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), breast, skin etc. (Moenner et al., 2007). Within the tumour microenvironment for example, cancer cells are often subjected to inflammatory stress, tightly packed and can be nutrient deprived, subjected to low pH and hypoxic (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011; Lorusso and Ruegg, 2008), as such ER stress signalling pathways are subsequently activated. Often these cells can utilize ER stress to promote apoptosis and provide room for new proliferating cells but also cancer cells can commandeer the adaptive UPR responses to promote cell survival (Feldman et al., 2005; Koumenis and Wouters, 2006; Spiotto et al., 2010).

As seen with the upregulation of pro-survival apoptotic proteins in cancer, there is also reported to be upregulation of ER stress associated genes in cancer such as colon, breast, lung, as well as in HCC (Wang et al., 2010). ATF6 and GRP78 mRNA showed increased expression in HCC (Shuda et al., 2003). While IRE1 has been shown to be regulated by tyrosine phosphatase 1B (PTP-1B) (Gu et al., 2004) where PTP-1B expression was shown to be necessary for complete IRE1 signaling. PTP-1B is a phosphatase downregulated in HCC and associated with a more aggressive form of the disease (Zheng et al., 2012). Loss of PTP-1B attenuated IRE1 signalling and ER stress induced apoptosis which could explain why loss of PTP-1B in HCC enhances tumourigenesis (Gu et al., 2004). PTP-1B has also been

reported to delay tumourigenesis in ErbB2 breast cancers however (Julien et al., 2007) and perhaps in some scenarios, if PTP-1B induced IRE1 this could enhance XBP1s levels to promote survival. In fact, XBP1s is associated with poor survival in ERa positive breast cancer (Davies et al., 2008) and in multiple myeloma (Bagratuni et al., 2010). Interestingly, use of an inhibitor of the IRE1 endoribonuclease domain (Blocks splicing of XBP1) was published to have sensitized multiple myeloma to treatment and may be a potential therapeutic in this and other cancer types in the future (Mimura et al., 2012). There have also been major implications for the upregulation of GRP78 in cancer, where approximately ten different cancer types including lung, breast, colon and HCC had increased expression of GRP78 (Moenner et al., 2007). Interestingly, it is not just the typical ER localised GRP78 that may be important for cancer survival but also cell surface bound GRP78 which is thought to function as a surface receptor and has been detected on lymphoma, Leukaemia's, neuroblastoma's, colon adenocarcinomas and many other cancer cells (Ni et al., 2011). Several protumourigenic molecules can bind to the GRP78 receptor and promote survival for example, α2-macroglobulin which activates ERK1/2, AKT and NFkB to enhance proliferation and has been reported to also amplify metastasis associated motility (Misra et al., 2006). Signalling through a2-macroglobulin: GRP78 has also been reported to promote metastasis associated motility via p21-activated kinase-2 (PAK-2) and LIM domain kinase-1(LIMK1)-mediated cofilin phosphorylation (Misra et al., 2005). PAK-2 is a regulator of cytoskeleton remodelling, is a known caspase substrate that when cleaved to its p34 fragment induces apoptosis through JNK (Bokoch, 1998), on the other hand, full length PAK-2 has been implicated in cancer survival as it can lead to BAD phosphorylation and inactivation (Kumar et al., 2006). LIMK1 is also involved in cytoskeleton remodelling and associated with metastsasis through modulation of cofilin phosphorylation (Scott and Olson, 2007). The oncogenic cell surface protein CRIPTO is another GRP78 binding partner and was shown to inhibit TGF-B to promote tumour development (Shani et al., 2008). Interestingly a unique isoform of GRP78 known as GRP78va which is localized only in the cytosol may also promote survival. GRP78va is a truncated version of the parent protein, that upon stress, intron1 of GRP78 is retained and thus the protein loses its ER-localisation signal peptide (Ni et al., 2011). Little is known about the interacting partners of this protein but it has been shown to bind to and inhibit p58(IPK) and thus block it from inhibiting PERK, thus the PERK adaptive responses are prolonged to promote survival (Ni et al., 2009). The role of PERK in cancer survival is somewhat controversial with some reports suggesting a pro-survival role e.g. PERK was shown to reduce ROS (reactive oxygen species)-mediated DNA damage and initiate and enhance tumour growth where loss of PERK in mammary carcinoma cells caused accumulation of ROS and induction of a DNA damage checkpoint (Bobrovnikova-Marjon et al., 2010). Further to this, RAS-transformed tumours could not form subcutaneous transplants in the absence of PERK, again suggesting PERK promotes tumour formation (Blais et al., 2006). Other studies suggest anti-survival PERK signalling, where a dominant negative PERK overexpression in normal mammary epithelial cells caused development of neoplastic characteristics indicative of increased cell proliferation (Sequeira et al., 2007). Similarly, drug-inducible dimerization of PERK in squamous carcinoma T-Hep3 and colon carcinoma SW620 caused G0-G1 arrest to block proliferation (Ranganathan et al., 2008). Downstream of PERK, transcription factors ATF4 and NRF2 may also contribute to cancer progression.

ATF4 mediates oxidative homeostasis as a pro-survival mechanism downstream of PERK. Within the tumour microenvironment, cells are in a severe state of cellular stress often lacking important nutrients such as glucose, experiencing fluctuations in oxygen and pH levels and often hypoxic (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011). ATF4 is often activated in these stressed cells within the tumour to enhance their ability to cope within such harsh conditions. In fact mouse embryonic fibroblast (MEF) cells lacking ATF4 are over-sensitive to hypoxia and mice lacking ATF4 were shown to be hypoglycaemic (Blais et al., 2004) (Seo et al., 2009). In primary embryonic fibroblasts transformed by co-expression of H-Ras and SV40, ATF4 was shown to have a vital role by repressing cyclin-dependant kinase inhibitor 2A (p16/cdkn2a) a known tumour suppressor to enhance proliferation and survival. The same cells lacking ATF4 resist cellular transformation and become senescent due to an increase in cdkn2a targets p16INK4A and p19ARF (Horiguchi et al., 2012). ATF4 expression is also associated with drug resistance in cancer cells such as cisplatin, doxorubicin, etoposide, SN-38 and Vincristine (Tanabe et al., 2003; Zhu et al., 2012b).

NRF2 signalling is thought as a double edged sword, with authors referring to the good and bad side to NRF2 signalling (Sporn and Liby, 2012). Generally NRF2 signalling is considered as an adaptive UPR response, activating pro-survival genes and aiding the cells recovery from stress, however, as with most pro-survival signalling pathways, hyperactivation can lead to enhance cell survival (Alam et al., 1999), in this instance by limiting ROS build up (Motohashi et al., 2010). In carcinomas of the lung, breast, gallbladder and liver, mutations in negative regulator of NRF2, KEAP1 were observed (Yoo et al., 2012) and not only

hyperactivate NRF2 (Konstantinopoulos et al., 2011) but mutations can cause aberrant binding between KEAP1 and other KEAP1 interacting proteins. Under normal circumstances KEAP1 acts as a platform for the Cul3-E3 ligase complex in which KEAP1 targets proteins including IKK (inhibitor of NF-kB kinase) and BCL2 for degradation (Tian et al., 2012). KEAP1 mutations can prevent complex formation leading to stabilization of IKK which activates prosurvival NF-kB (Lee et al., 2009) or stabilization of BCL2 which is free to block BAX activation and apoptosis (Niture and Jaiswal, 2010). Mutations in NRF2 itself has shown to enhance its activity to promote cancer e.g. skin, oesophagus, and lung cancers (Kim et al., 2010b; Shibata et al., 2008). Further to enhancing cancer progression, high NRF2 has also been associated with resistance to many chemotherapeutics including etoposide, doxorubicin, cisplatin and 5' fluorouracil (Wang et al., 2008a). In saying that, some reports have reported that NRF2 activation in cancers and other pathologies has preventative characteristics. Some chemotherapeutics are said to activate NRF2 to a beneficial end and many drugs that induce NRF2 such as sulphoraphane and curcumin (for the prevention of cancer), dimethyl fumarate (for the treatment of multiple sclerosis), bardoxolone methyl (for the treatment of diabetic nephropathy) and resveratrol (for multiple pathologies) are currently in clinical trial (Sporn and Liby, 2012).

Due to the ramifications of deregulated UPR signalling in cancer (and other diseases) much emphasis has been placed on the development of UPR inhibitors. More specifically, the development of inhibitors that specifically "shut off" one arm of the UPR without effecting the other two arms. For instance Mannkind Corporation has been developing several IRE1 inhibitors that appear to specifically bind to IRE1, and inhibit its RNase activity, for example they have developed a range of salicylaldehyde analogs. These compounds inhibited XBP-1 splicing and blocked transcriptional up-regulation of known XBP-1 targets as well as mRNAs targeted for degradation by IRE1 (Volkmann et al., 2011). A similar type of IRE1 inhibitor developed by Mannkind has shown promising effects in that treatment of multiple myeloma cells (Mimura et al., 2012). The mannkind IRE1 inhibitor used in this study MKC4485 is a new variant of the compound used in (Mimura et al., 2012) and has been shown to have more specificity for inhibition of the RNase activity of IRE1 and has no toxicity to cells used in study when applied alone. Another group screened for IRE1 inhibitors based on the fact that efficient RNase function of IRE1 is dependent upon autophosphorylation of the kinase domain and thus screened for known kinase inhibitors. This lead to the discovery of ATP-mimetic

compounds, which could inhibit expression of XBP-1s. In addition transcriptional targets of XBP-1s and phosphorylation of IRE1 were also negatively affected by these compounds. One particular compound (OICR000287A), was significantly more toxic to cells treated with ER stress (Griffen et al.,2012). However it must be noted that inhibition of both the kinase and the RNase activity of IRE1 may have unwanted consequences. Inhibitors of the PERK arm of the UPR are also being persued for therapeutic assessment. For example the most recently developed inhibitor produced by GlaxoSmithKline (GSK), GSK2656157 is an ATP-competitive inhibitor of PERK enzyme activity inhibits PERK activity by inhibiting ER stress-induced PERK autophosphorylation, eIF2α substrate phosphorylation, together with corresponding decreases in ATF4 and CHOP in multiple cell lines. Administration of GSK2656157 to mice caused the growth inhibition of multiple human tumor xenografts in mice. It also caused altered amino acid metabolism, decreased blood vessel density, and vascular perfusion which may be responsible for the observed antitumor effect (Atkins et al., 2013). However due to the contradictory evidence reported for deregulated PERK in cancer much caution would be required when using a PERK inhibitor in as a cancer therapy.

1.8 miRNAs in apoptosis and cancer

As mentioned, one way in which cancer develops is by evasion of apoptosis. miRNAs are major regulators in the biological processes of cell differentiation, growth, metabolism and apoptosis (Crippa et al., 2012; Lynam-Lennon et al., 2009; Pfaff et al., 2012; Zaravinos et al., 2012). Like other regulators of these processes, miRNA expression and functions can be altered to promote excess proliferation of cells and to disrupt apoptosis, ultimately resulting in cancer development and even tumourigenesis (Lynam-Lennon et al., 2009). More than 50% of known miRNA genes are located in fragile sites and regions of the genome that are linked to cancer development. Alterations to normal miRNA expression can cause the downregulation of target tumour suppressor genes, proapoptotic genes and/or the up-regulation of target oncogenes and pro-survival proteins, and thus are important in the development and progression of cancer (Zhang et al., 2007). The balance in the levels of BCL-2 family members is crucial in determining apoptotic signalling, and recent reports demonstrating their regulation by miRNAs represents a layer of regulation that is important in

cancer cell survival. BCL-2 itself is a target of miR-15/-16-1 and their downregulation can lead to increased BCL-2 levels. Interestingly, chronic lymphocytic leukaemia, which is characterised by the presence of non-dividing malignant B cells that overexpress BCL-2, also exhibits down-regulation of miR-15a/-16-1 cluster in 65% of cases (Calin et al., 2008). The BH3-only proteins are largely regulated by changes in expression and the role of miRNA implementing these changes is now coming to light. The miR-17-92 cluster has been shown to regulate apoptosis through its ability to repress BIM translation. BIM regulation by this cluster is critical in early B cell development where the miR-17-92 cluster promotes the survival of early B cell progenitors (Ventura et al., 2008). Conversely, upregulation of miR-17-92 has been linked to lymphoproliferative disease. Transgenic mice with a synthetic miR-17-92 transgene' develop greatly enlarged lymph nodes and spleens (Calin et al., 2008; Xiao et al., 2008). The miR-221/222 cluster, a group of miRNA often upregulated in cancers and linked to estrogen receptor status in breast cancer, where ERa negative cells which are highly resistant to therapy, have higher levels of miR-221/222 which enhances growth and survival (Di Leva et al., 2010; Zhao et al., 2008). These miRNA have been shown to downregulate BOPs PUMA and BIM, and also the tumour suppressor PTEN in glioblastoma, breast and gastric cancers respectively, to promote survival (Chun-zhi et al., 2010; Terasawa et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2010). They have also been associated with enhanced resistance to extrinsic apoptosis, where overexpression in TRAIL-sensitive cells H460s, caused 40% increase in resistance to TRAIL. This resistance could be afforded to the miR-221/222-mediated repression of tumour suppressor p27kip (Garofalo et al., 2008). Repression of p27kip1 by these miRNA has also provided resistance to the chemotherapeutic tamoxifen in breast cancer cells (Miller et al., 2008). MCL-1 a pro-survival BCL-2 family member is often overexpressed in cancers and has been linked to TRAIL resistance. Interestingly miR-29 expression inversely correlates with MCL-1 i.e. while MCL-1 is highly expressed, miR-29 is downregulated. Forced expression of miR-29 reduced MCL-1 and sensitized cells to TRAIL (Mott et al., 2007). In neuronal maturation, it was shown that miR-29b can target multiple BH3-only proteins including BIM, PUMA, BMF, HRK and neuronal-BAK to prevent apoptosis. This may have implications in cancer were miR-29b is highly expressed (Kole et al., 2011). However the literature has shown that miR-29b is often downregulated in cancers such as CLL and multiple myeloma to enhance cell growth and survival and overexpression induces apoptosis (Amodio et al., 2012; Pekarsky et al., 2006; Zhang et al., 2011). miR-29b has also been shown to repress a variety of pro-survival molecules including MCL-1 and PI3K (Li et al.,

2012; Zhang et al., 2011), as such, its downregulation in cancer would result in increased expression of these pro-survival proteins to enhance cancer progression. Perhaps miR-29b repression of pro-apoptotic proteins is specific to neuronal maturation. Indirect regulation of BCL-2 family members by miRNAs also occurs, for instance, the miR-34a is induced by p53 (Tarasov et al., 2007), a tumour suppressor that is commonly mutated in human cancers (Frezza and Martins, 2012). In normal cells, miR-34a negatively regulates the expression of Silent information regulator 1 (SIRT1), a class III histone deacetylase that can catalyse the deacetylation of p53, thereby inactivating it. Thus, p53 increases miR-34a which leads to increased p53 (Yamakuchi and Lowenstein, 2009). This positive feedback loop could potentially cause increased expression of p53 target genes, which include BH3-only proteins, BAX, PUMA and NOXA (Gurzov et al., 2010; Oda et al., 2000; Zhan et al., 1994). Both intrinsic and extrinsic apoptosis pathways converge on the activation of caspases (Galluzzi et al., 2012). Although caspases are mainly regulated by cleavage, their intracellular concentrations also influence their ease of activation (Chang and Yang, 2000) thus miRNAmediated silencing of these proteases can effect downstream death pathways. Caspase-9 is a direct target of miR-133, miR-24a and miR-21 in cardiomyocytes, the retina of the Xenopus eye and in glioma respectivly (Walker and Harland, 2009; Xu et al., 2007; Zhou et al., 2010). Caspase-3 is a target of miR-Let-7a, and by repressing caspase-3, miR-Let-7a renders cells resistant to several apoptosis inducing therapeutic drugs including doxorubicin, paclitaxel and interferon- γ (Tsang and Kwok, 2008). Caspase-3 can also be silenced by miR-21, where loss of miR-21 resulted in apoptosis of glioma cells via increased caspase-3 and -9 (Zhou et al., 2010). miRNAs may directly or indirectly regulate components of the extrinsic pathway to enhance tumour survival and resistance to TRAIL. For example, FasL downregulation by miR-21 downstream of AKT signalling represses apoptotic signalling (Sayed et al., 2010). Increased expression of certain miRNAs, such as miR-24, and miR-221/222, that can repress expression of target mRNAs, Fas associated factor-1 (FAF-1), and PTEN respectively (Chunzhi et al., 2010; Qin et al., 2010), can lead to a reduction in apoptotic signals since FAF-1 would otherwise promote apoptosis (Chu et al., 1995) or PTEN would inhibit pro-survival pathways such PI3K/AKT (Weng et al., 2001). Conversely, a downregulation of miRNAs that target genes that block death, such as Fas-associated phosphatase 1 (FAP1)-targeting by miR-200c, MCL-1 repression by miR-29 and c-FLIP downregulation by miR-512-3p, leads to an increased resistance to cell death (Chen et al., 2010; Mott et al., 2007; Schickel et al., 2010).



Figure 1.7 miRNAs in apoptosis and cancer

The above depicts the various miRNAs that modulate the expression of pro-apoptotic or prosurvival proteins to by-bass apoptosis and promote cancer. During intrinsic apoptosis, miR-29 can target multiple BOPs while BIM is silenced by both miR-17-92 and miR-221/222. Puma and tumor suppressor PTEN are also targets of miR-221/222. Pro-survival BCL-2 and MCL-1 are targets of miR-15a-16-1. Caspase-9 can be silenced by miR-133 or miR-24a. Hsp-90 and -70 can be silenced by miR-1. During Extrinsic apoptosis, FasL and FAF1 are targets of miR-21 and miR-24 respectively. FAP1 and c-FLIP are targets of miR-200c and miR-512-3p respectively.

1.9 miRNA Biogenesis and cancer

It must be noted that there is a global loss of miRNA observed in most cancers and some have suggested that most miRNA act as tumour suppressors. More recently profiling of proteins associated with miRNA biogenesis such as DICER, DROSHA, Exportin 5, TARBP2 and AGO-2 has been carried out in a variety of cancers and are aberrantly expressed compared to normal tissue, often promoting cancer development. For instance lower DICER expression has been observed in cancers of different origin, e.g. colon, lung, breast, ovarian and endometrial (Dedes et al., 2011; Faggad et al., 2012; Karube et al., 2005; Merritt et al., 2008; Torres et al., 2011) and 27% of tumours tested showed deletions in the gene encoding DICER and is associated with increased tumourigenesis and poor patient prognosis (Farazi et al., 2011). One study actually independently knocked down DICER, DROSHA and DGBR8 in mouse adenocarcinoma cell line LKR13 and showed these cells were more tumourigenic and had increased expression of oncogenic genes K-, N-, H-Ras, c-Myc, and E2F1. DICER knockdown cells also formed larger tumours in vivo as seen with K-Ras driven lung cancer (Kumar et al., 2007) and Rb-driven retinoblastoma (Lambertz et al., 2010). DICER has also been reported to act as a haploinsufficent tumour suppressor, where deletion of a single allele of DICER promotes tumour development (Kumar et al., 2009; Lambertz et al., 2010). Loss of DICER has also been linked to cancer development where, the anti-diabetic agent Metformin was shown to have anti-cancer effects, by increasing DICER mRNA and protein via E2F transcription factors, along with the repression of oncogenic c-MYC via miR-33a (Blandino et al., 2012). Several components of the miRNA biogenesis pathway were reported to undergo inactivating mutations that reduce miRNA processing and enhance tumourigenesis, e.g., XPO5 the gene encoding Exportin 5 which transports miRNA from the nucleus to the cytoplasm was reported to undergo inactivating mutations that trap miRNAs in the nucleus and formed tumours rapidly in nude mice compared to WT cells (Melo et al., 2010). TARBP2 a DICER interacting protein, that stabilizes DICER and enhances miRNA processing (Daniels et al., 2009) also undergoes truncating mutations which reduce TARBP2 protein expression cause DICER protein destabilization, compromised pre-miRNA levels and increased viability and tumour development (Melo et al., 2009). TARBP2 also seems to be a focal point in survival or death promoting effects of the miRNA biogenesis pathway. ERK mediated phosphorylation of TARBP2 increases processing of a subset of oncogenic pre-miRNA such

as pre-miR-17, -20a and -92a and decreased processing of tumour suppressor like pre-miRlet7 (Paroo et al., 2009). Somatic mutations in AGO2 causing loss of expression have been detected in gastric and colorectal cancers where high microsatellite instabilities occur and have been linked to cancer progression (Kim et al., 2010a). In fact, low AGO2 expression was observed in Lung adenocarcinoma compared to normal tissue and overexpression of AGO2 in lung adenocarcinoma cell line H1299 decreased proliferation and tumour development in nude mice (Zhang et al., 2012). However, other studies have shown that loss of AGO2 induces apoptosis of myeloid leukaemia cells (Naoghare et al., 2011). It has also been reported that AGO2 is highly expressed in aggressive cancers for instance, in ERα negative breast cells cell lines and tumours, which as mentioned earlier are resistant to most therapies, AGO2 is highly expressed via epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) and Mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) signalling (Adams et al., 2009).

1.10 miRNAs in ER stress and cancer

The way in which cells cope with stress is generally referred to as cellular stress responses. There are a variety of factors that cause the cell to become stressed. Maintaining the cells ideal environmental conditions is vital for normal cell functioning and survival however perturbations in such conditions can lead to cell stress and if stress persists, apoptosis (Fulda et al., 2010; Leung and Sharp, 2007). ER stress is one such response. As previously described ER stress induces the UPR response which initially tries to de-stress the cell and allow for recovery and if unsuccessful and stress is too severe signalling switches to promote apoptosis (Szegezdi et al., 2006). In any stress response the cell responds by altering the levels of various proteins via the regulation of gene expression. The fact that miRNA can regulate gene expression at the mRNA level makes them, vital components of cell stress responses. If miRNA transcription is up regulated a corresponding mRNA target will be degraded or translationally blocked, this may be necessary when a cell stress response pathway needs to inhibit a particular protein in order to cope with stress while if miRNA transcription is decreased, mRNA levels will increase and thus protein levels will increase or vice versa (Babar et al., 2008). The exact role miRNA may play during ER stress or indeed if miRNA are regulated by the transcriptional programs of the UPR is not fully elucidated, however miRNA have been shown to be major players in other cellular stress responses where they can augment the switch between survival and death of the cell (Babar et al., 2008). From what has been reported regarding the role of miRNA during ER stress, it seems that miRNA can fine tune the balance between cell death and survival.

For example, miR-221/222 as discussed is associated with enhanced tumourigenesis and resistance to cancer therapies via downregulation of tumour suppressor p27kip1 (Galardi et al., 2007). However, in HCC cells subjected to ER stress, miR-221/222 were downregulated and p27kip1 increase was shown to enhance resistance to ER stress induced apoptosis by inducing G1 phase arrest in the cell cycle (Dai et al., 2010). Perhaps blocking apoptosis allows for prolonged adaptive UPR responses. The miRNA, miR-205 is downregulated in both oxidative and ER stress responses and increases sensitivity to both stresses with increased ROS and decreased expression of anti-oxidant response genes. The protein prolyl hydroxylase 1 (PHD1), a controller of ROS levels and involved in oxidative-ER stress crosstalk is downregulated by miR-205 acting to protect cells from oxidative and/ or ER stress induced cell death (Muratsu-Ikeda et al., 2012). This suggests that miR-205 could potentially be deregulated in cancers to reduce oxidative or ER stress to promote cell survival. It has already been reported that miR-205 is highly expressed in cervical cancer tissues and promotes growth and migration through downregulation of CCN (Cyr61 (cysteine-rich protein 61), CTGF (connective tissue growth factor), Nov (nephroblastoma overexpressed)) proteins, CYR61 and CTGF (Xie et al., 2012) which are known for their role in cell proliferation, angiogenesis and tumourigeneis (Brigstock, 2003).

miRNAs are not just regulated by ER stress but can themselves regulate various components of the ER stress response. For example, ATF4 is downregulated by miR-214 leading to inhibition of bone formation (Wang et al., 2013). Additionally, the transmembrane transcription factor OASIS is repressed by miR-140 resulting in increased expression of extracellular matrix encoding genes in pancreatic beta cells subjected to stress (Vellenki et al., 2012). More recently, IRE1 has been shown to be targeted by miR-1291 resulting in increased expression of oncogenic Glypican-3 (Maurel et al., 2013).

1.10.1 PERK-regulated miRNAs:

During conditions of ER stress, miR-211 is upregulated in a PERK-dependant manner to downregulate CHOP. Atypically, miR-211 binds to the 5' UTR of CHOP, promotes silenceinducing histone methylation and subsequent repression of CHOP (Chitnis et al., 2012). This reveals a new level to the adaptive responses of PERK, where not only is cap-dependant translation blocked but pro-apoptotic protein CHOP induction is blocked to allow cells some time to manage unfolded proteins and recover from stress. As mentioned above, PERK signalling has been reported to promote tumourigenesis, it could be possible that upregulation of miR-211 contribute to this process. In fact, miR-211 was shown to promote tumourigenesis in colon cancer cells by orchestrating the CpG island hypermethylation of the CHD5 (chromodomain helicase DNA binding protein 5) promoter (Cai et al., 2012). CHD5 is a known tumour suppressor often deleted in cancers due to its location on 1p36.3 which has been reported to be frequently deleted in cancers e.g. breast, and neuroblastoma (Bagchi et al., 2007; Fujita et al., 2008; Wu et al., 2012b). Promotor hypermethylation of CHD5 was also reported in Lung and gastric carcinomas but was not linked to miR-211, but it is possible miR-211 is responsible in these cases (Wang et al., 2009; Zhao et al., 2012). It must be noted that miR-211 may not always promote tumourigenesis. miR-211 is encoded within an intron of host gene melastatin which is considered a tumour suppressor and is often repressed in melanomas as is miR-211. As expected, forced expression of miR-211 reduced metastatic ability and tumour growth of melanoma (Levy et al., 2010). PERK also causes, miR-30c-2* upregulation during ER stress and downregulates XBP1 (Byrd et al., 2012). This mechanism may act as a switch between the adaptive and apoptotic responses of PERK signalling by which PERK lowers XBP1 mRNA, therefore less pro-survival XBP1 splicing would occur. Downstream of PERK, pro-apoptotic CHOP has been shown to regulate miR-708 in the brain and eyes of mice, where it inhibits neuronatin (NNAT) (Ryu et al., 2013) and rhodopsin (RHO) (Behrman et al., 2011) respectively. By inhibiting NNAT, intracellular calcium levels are disrupted causing metastasis in brain cancer. While inhibition of RHO, is likely to prevent excessive production of the ER. the protein to enter

1.10.2 ATF6-regulated miRNAs

It was reported from miRNA array analysis of RNA from the hearts of ATF6 transgenic (TG) mice that there are 13 ATF6-regulated miRNAs. It is well known that ATF6 is upregulated during ischemia as protective mechanism to limit damage to the heart. Interestingly, in the same study, ATF6 was shown to downregulate miR-455 which would otherwise repress Calreticulin. In absence of this miRNA, there is an increase in Calreticulin in the pathologic heart and subsequent decrease of hypertrophic growth (Belmont et a., 2012).

1.10.3 IRE1-regulated miRNAs

As previously discussed XBP1s is highly expressed and promotes cancer survival (Bagratuni et al., 2010). More recently it has been shown in HCC tissues; the miR-199a/214 cluster is downregulated resulting in increased expression of XBP1s and enhanced cell proliferation and tumour formation. The same study showed this cluster was downregulated in response to ER stress treatment via pro-survival NF- κ B signalling and may be a component of the adaptive UPR responses (Duan et al., 2012). Certain miRNAs (premiRs -17, -34a, -96, and -125b) have recently been shown to be cleaved by IRE1 causing derepression of caspase-2 and apoptosis (Upton et al., 2012). In addition to this, IRE1-mediated destabilization of miR-17 was shown to increase TXNIP mRNA stability. In turn, elevated TXNIP protein leads to the activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome, causing procaspase-1 cleavage and interleukin 1ß (IL-1β) secretion, thereby increasing systemic or local inflammatory response (Lerner et al., 2012). Little is known about IRE1s RIDD function (Hetz, 2012; Hollien et al., 2009) or what determines if IRE1s RNase domain cleaves XBP1 as a pro-survival mechanism or if it degrades mRNA/ miRNA as a pro-apoptotic mechanism but perhaps this switch is deregulated in cancer to deter RIDD and enhance XBP1 splicing. Perhaps XBP1 is a more favourable substrate for IRE1 and only when it is no longer abundant, and RIDD substrates are available this switch occurs.

1.11 Summary

This thesis details the investigation of miRNAs and their role in ER stress induced cell death and also shows that loss of global miRNAs confers resistance to ER stress induced cell death in colon cancer cells. As such this introduction has discussed the molecular and biological features of apoptosis, ER stress and the UPR response that is activated to deal with this stress and the mechanisms of miRNA biogenesis and function. Particular focus has been given to how these pathways can be deregulated in cancer individually and simultaneously to help cells evade apoptosis and enhance cell growth, and tumourigenesis.

1.12 Rationale and objective

The work described hereafter began as a consequence of the lack of evidence supporting a role for miRNAs during ER stress-induced cell death. The first indications that miRNAs may be important in the ER stress response came from the reports showing that during conditions of cellular stress, including, ER stress, there is an increased accumulation of miRNA-AGO2-pbody foci formation (Read et al., 2012; Parker et al., 2007)). Additionally it was shown that the miRNA biogenesis machinery is located on the ER. For instance, DICER was shown to colocalize with calreticulin at the ER surface (Provost et al., 2002) and more recently, it was shown that cytoskeleton-linking endoplasmic reticulum (ER) membrane protein of 63 kDa (CLIMP-63) is a novel Dicer-interacting protein. CLIMP-63 interacts with Dicer to form a high molecular weight complex. Rapidly following its synthesis, DICER binds with a portion of the luminal domain of CLIMP-63, transits through the ER, is glycosylated and can be secreted by cultured human cells with CLIMP-63. This interaction is thought to regulate DICER function (Pepin et al., 2012). Thus the rationale for investigating miRNAs in ER stress arose, where the potential for miRNAs as important regulators of ER stress and the UPR was hypothesised. It was considered that, as regulators of gene expression, miRNAs could potentially decide cell fate in response to ER stress by "tipping" the balance between adaptive and apoptotic signalling events.

Objective:

To investigate the importance of miRNAs in ER stress induced cell death and to determine if indeed they may modulate cell fate decisions during this response.

CHAPTER 2

MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.0 Materials and Methods

2.1 Cell culture

All cells described in this section are adherent and so grow while attached to the flask or dish surface.

HCT116, and RKO, WT and DICER Exn5/Exn5 cells were a kind gift from Bert Vogelstein and Victor E. Velculescu (Cummins et al., 2006). These cells are colorectoral carcinoma with epithelial morphology. They were maintained in T75 flasks in McCoys 5A modified medium with 10% heat inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 100 U/ml penicillin and 100 µg/ml streptomycin (Sigma) with 5% CO2 at 37 °C. These were used as they had pre-designed loss of DICER allowing for quick and accurate analysis of the effects of ER stress on cells with global loss of miRNAs.

MCF7 cells were obtained from ATCC and are estrogen receptor positive Breast adenocarcinoma with epithelial morphology. They were maintained in Dulbecco's modified eagles medium (DMEM) with 10% heat inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 100 U/ml penicillin and 100 µg/ml streptomycin (Sigma) with 5% CO2 at 37 °C.

When the cells had grown to approximately 80% confluency, they were trypsinised using 2mls 1X Trypsin/ EDTA in HANKS balanced salt solution at 37°C for 3 minutes to remove them from their culture flask. Cells were collected in 10mls of medium and mixed until a single cell suspension was formed. Of this suspension, 10 µl was added to one chamber on a Haemocytometer to count and estimate how many cells were present per ml.

HEK 293t cells were obtained from ATCC and are derived from human embryonic kidney. They were maintained in Dulbecco's modified eagles medium (DMEM) with 10% heat inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 50 U/ml penicillin and 50 mg/ml Streptomycin (Sigma) with 5% CO2 at 37 °C.

When the cells had grown to approximately 80% confluency, they were trypsinised using 2mls 1X Trypsin/ EDTA in HANKS balanced salt solution at 37°C for 3 minutes to remove them from their culture flask. Cells were collected in 10 ml of medium and mixed until a single cell suspension was formed. Of this suspension, 10 µl was added to one chamber on a Haemocytometer to count and estimate how many cells were present per ml.

2.2 Drug treatments

The pharmacological inducers of ER stress, Thapsigargin (Tg), Tunicamycin (Tm) and Brefeldin A (Bfa) were used in this study to investigate the role of miRNA during ER stress induced cell death.

Thapsigargin is derived from the plant *Thapsia garganica*. *Linnaeus*, a weed found on the Mediterranean. It is a well-established inhibitor of ubiquitously expressed sarco-endoplasmic reticulum Ca2+-ATPases (SERCAs). By blocking SERCAs, Tg causes release of Ca2+ from ER calcium stores and also prevents the re-uptake of Ca2+ into these stores resulting in an increased cytosolic Ca2+ load. Loss of Ca2+ from the ER can affect the proper functioning of some ER resident proteins but more importantly Ca2+ overload of the cytosol results in apoptosis (Treiman et al., 1998).

Tunicamycin (Tm) is an antiviral antibiotic derived from *Streptomyces lysisuperificus*. It inducers ER stress by blocking DPAGT1, a protein involved in the first step of N-linked glygosylation of proteins. Proteins that are not glycosylated are not carried out of the ER and so many misfolded proteins accumulate within the ER lumen incurring stress and subsequent activation of the UPR (Heifetz et al., 1979; Takatsuki et al., 1971).

Brefeldin A (Bfa) also referred to a Cyanein and Decumbin although less regularly, is produced by some fungi such as Penicillium, Penicillium Brefeldianium, and Penicillium cyanium. One of the most recognised effects of Bfa is the dismantling of the trans-golgi network. Bfa causes dissociation of coat protein from the golgi and tran-golgi membrane and subsequent break down of the trans-golgi subcompartments which then fuse to the ER. Thereafter, transport of proteins from the ER to golgi is blocked thus proteins accumulate in the lumen of the ER.

Etoposide (Etop) is a podophyllotoxin, a type of plant alkaloid. It inhibits topoisomerase II an enzyme required for proper winding of DNA strands and as such can effect DNA replication and induce cell cycle arrest and apoptosis.

Staurosporin (Sts) is a microbial alkaloid that functions as a broad range protein kinase inhibitor e.g. Sts can inhibit Protein kinase C (PKC), myosin light chain (MLC) kinase and tyrosine kinases. Due to the non-specific effects of Sts on kinases, many proteins involved in cell cycle, proliferation and pro-survival signalling may not be activated via phosphorylation resulting in apoptosis (Omura et al., 1995). It can also inhibit mTOR-associated translation factors such as p70 S6 kinase and 4E-BP1 and causes increase elF2α

phosphorylation due to PKC inhibition to bring about apoptosis (Tee and Proud, 2001).

Cells were either seeded to 6 well plates or T25 flasks with 0.4x10⁶ cells or 2x10⁶ cells respectively, depending on the experiment and quantity of cells required. The following day cells were treated with 500 ng/ml Bfa, 500 ng/ml Tm, 200 nM Sts, or 100 µM Etop for the indicated time periods. All reagents were from Sigma-Aldrich unless otherwise stated.

2.3 Transformation of Plasmids

Transformation is a technique used to introduce foreign DNA in the form of a plasmid into competent bacterial cells. For the generation of all plasmids, DH5α E. coli cells were used. Plasmid DNA was combined with the cells and incubated on ice for 30 min. The cold temperature aids the permeabilisation of the cells to ready them for taking up DNA. The mixture was then heat shocked at 42 °C for 50 s. This results in the movement of a thermal gradiant across the cell membrane which draws the DNA across with it. Cells are quickly placed on ice for 2 min and combined with 500 μl of LB Broth. Cells are allowed to recover and start to grow at 37 °C for 1 hour. The cells were spread on LB agar plate containing the correct antibiotic and grown overnight at 37 °C. The next day, bacteria from a single colony, was further inoculated into LB broth plus antibiotic. Again this was incubated overnight at 37 °C while shaking. The resulting culture was centrifuged at 5000 g for 20 min to pellet the bacterial cells containing the plasmid of interest. Plasmid extraction was carried out using Qiagen maxi-prep kit (Cat. No. 12163).

2.4 Transfections

This is a method used to transport DNA or a gene of interest in the form of a plasmid, into the cell. There are many reagents and methods used and all are designed to allow DNA to pass through the negatively charged cell membrane. Often cell lines respond differently to different transfection reagents or methods with one giving higher transfection efficiency than another.

For the transfection of MCF7 cells, Turbofect (Fermentas) was used. It is a cationic polymer based transfection reagent that forms positively charged complexes with DNA to allow efficient delivery of DNA into cells. Cells were seeded at the appropriate density and 24 h later media was changed to DMEM with FBS minus pen/strep and then transfected with the plasmid of interest in a, 1:2 ratio of DNA to Turbofect. In other words, 1ug of DNA was mixed with 50 µl of DMEM and 2 µl of Turbofect was added to 50 µl DMEM and incubated for 5 mins at room temperature. The Turbofect mixture was added to the DNA mixture and pipetted gently to mix. This was incubated at for 20 mins at room temperature to allow formation of DNA:Turbofect complexes. The complexes were added drop by drop to the well of cells and mixed gently by swirling the plate, and incubated for 4 h at 37 °C. Media was changed and 24 h later cells were harvested for experiments.

For the transfection of 293t cells, JetPEI (PolyPlus) was used. It is another polymer based transfection reagent that gives high transfection efficiency for these cells. Cells were seeded at the appropriate density and 24 h later media was changed to DMEM with FBS minus pen/strep and then transfected with the plasmid of interest in a, 1:2 ratio of DNA to JetPEI. In other words, 1ug of DNA was mixed with 50 µl of 150 mM NaCL and 2 µl of JetPEI was added to 50 µl 150 mM NaCL and incubated for 5 mins at room temperature. The JetPEI mixture was added to the DNA mixture and pipetted gently to mix. This was incubated at for 20 minutes at room temperature to allow formation of DNA:JetPEI complexes. The complexes were added drop by drop to the well of cells and mixed gently by swirling the plate, and incubated for 4 h at 37 °C. Media was changed and 24 h later cells were harvested for experiments.

For the transfection of 293t cells, JetPEI (PolyPlus) was used. It is another polymer based transfection reagent that gives high transfection efficiency for these cells. Cells were seeded at the appropriate density and 24 h later media was changed to DMEM with FBS minus pen/strep and then transfected with the plasmid of interest in a, 1:2 ratio of DNA to JetPEI. In other words, 1ug of DNA was mixed with 50 µl of 150 mM NaCL and 2 µl of JetPEI was added to 50 µl 150 mM NaCL and incubated for 5 mins at room temperature. The JetPEI mixture was added to the DNA mixture and pipetted gently to mix. This was incubated at for 20 minutes at room temperature to allow formation of DNA:JetPEI complexes. The complexes were added drop by drop to the well of cells and mixed gently by swirling the plate, and incubated for 4 h at 37 °C. Media was changed and 24 h later cells were harvested for experiments.

2.5 Lentivirus generation

Lentiviruses are a more complex type of retrovirus, with the ability to infect dividing and nondividing cells. Lentiviral gene transfer vectors used in this study are HIV based. For generation of all lentivirus used here, the 2nd generation system from Addgene was used. Viral auxilliary genes such as vpr, vif, vpu and nef are not included in this system making it safer to handle. pTIG-U6tetO-shDR-Drosha shRNA a gift received from John Rossi (Aagaard et al., 2007), pSicoR-Empty Vector, pSicoR-Dicer shRNA, pTRIBZ-Keap 1 shRNAs were co-transfected into HEK 292t cells along with the packaging plasmids from Addgene using JetPEI tranfection method as described in the section 2.4 Transfections. pMD2.G Cat#12259 which is the envelope plasmid required for the production of viral particles, psPAX2 Cat#12260 provides the CAG promoter which enhances expression of packaging proteins, pRSV-Rev Cat#12253 provides Rev which is needed for export of viral RNA. 24 h post transfection the supernatant (containing lentivirus) of the transfected cells was harvested and replaced with 15ml of fresh growth medium. The second round of lentivirus harvest was carried out 24 h later. The supernatant containing the lentivirus was filtered through a 0.45 nm Nalgene filter to remove any cells. The virus can be used immediately for transduction of cells, stored at 4 °C for 1 week or aliquoted into cryotubes and frozen in -80 °C.

2.6 Lentivirus transduction

The advantage of lentivirius production to create stable overexpressing or knockdown cell lines was utilized for this study. This is powerful tool for monitoring protein function. Cells were seeded in 6 well plates at ~ 40% confluency. The next day cells were tranduced with 1.5 mls of lentivirus per well. The plates were then centrifuged for 90 min at 1500rpm (400g) at room temperature. Following centrifugation cells were placed directly into the incubator and left overnight. The next day, virus was removed and replaced with fresh complete medium. HCT116 WT cells were transduced with pTIG-U6tetO-shDR-Drosha shRNA to generate stable DROSHA knockdown cell lines. Once transduced, cells underwent cell sorting to isolate DROSHA knockdown cells in the population that may not have been transduced. This was done based on GFP positivity by gating out cells that were GFP negative. HCT116 WT cells were transduced with pSicoR-Empty Vector and pSicoR-Dicer shRNA (Addgene 14763_Tyler Jacks lab). These cells were then selected with, 3 µg/ml of puromycin.

2.7 Annexin V staining

In the beginning stages of apoptosis, the phospholipid phosphotidylserine (PS) is translocated from the inner side of the plasma membrane to the outside without compromising the membranes integrity. Annexin V is vascular protein known to have strong binding affinity for phospholipids like PS but not for other phospholipids abundant on the plasma membrane such as phosphatidyl choline or sphingomyeline. This makes the expression, purification and use of fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC) conjugated recombinant Annexin V an excellent tool for analysis of apoptotic cells. It must be noted that late apoptotic cells or early necrotic cells will have a permeabilized outer membrane and will also become Annexin V positive. To distinguish between early and late apoptotic cells a dye that only enters permeabilized cells is used along with Annexin V. In my experiments I have used Propidium Iodide (PI), a DNA intercalating dye that fluoresces in the red channel (PE). After treatment, floating cells were

collected and remaining cells were trypsinised, combined with floating cells and allowed to recover for 10 minutes at 37°C. The cells were collected by centrifugation at 5000g for 5 min, washed once in ice-cold calcium buffer (10 mM HEPES/NaOH, pH 7.4, 140 mM NaCl, 2.5 mM CaCl₂), and incubated with Annexin V-FITC for 15 min on ice. Prior to analysis 300 μ l of binding buffer containing 4 μ l of PI (50 μ g/ml) was added and analyzed on a FACSCanto flow cytometer.

2.8 Measurement of $\Delta \Psi m$ by TMRE staining

Mitochondrial membrane potential $\Delta \Psi_m$ is essentially related to the pumping of hydrogen ions across the inner membrane during ATP generation, a process involving electron transport and oxidative phosphorylation. Mitochondrial membrane potential was determined by using the fluorescent probe tetramethylrhodamine ethyl ester (TMRE, Molecular Probes). TMRE is a Red/orange dye easily detected by flow cytometry in the PE channel. It permeates the plasma membrane and due to its positive charge accumulates in the highly negative mitochondrial membrane. Depolarized mitochondria thus exclude the dye, and in doing so provide an efficient, and straight forward assay for measuring the loss of $\Delta \Psi_m$ during Apoptosis. As a ppositive control for this assay I used the protonophore Carbonyl Cyanide m-chlorophenyl hydrozone (CCCP) which uncouples the electron transport chain from ATP generation. It enters the mitochondria in its protonated form, alters the pH gradient, and quickly leaves again in its anionic form, destroying the membrane potential. This can occur repeatedly. CCCP treated cells thus show loss of TMRE positivity. After treatment, floating cells were collected and remaining cells were trypsinised, combined with floating cells in medium and incubated with TMRE at room temperature for 30 minutes in the dark and analyzed by flow cytometry in the PE channel using a FACScanto flow cytometer.

2.9 Analysis of DEVDase Activity

Caspase-3 and Caspase-7 show specificity for cleavage at the C-terminal side of the aspartate residue of the sequence DEVD (Asp-Glu-Val-Asp). As these caspases are active during apoptosis and lead to the demise of the cells, an assay such as this is a good readout for cells undergoing apoptosis. Cells were harvested and pelleted by centrifugation at 350 g. After washing in PBS, cell pellets were re-suspended in 50 μ I of PBS and 25 μ I was transferred to duplicate wells of a microtiter plate and snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen. To initiate the reaction, 50 μ M of the caspase substrate carbobenzoxy-Asp-Glu-Val-Asp-7-amino-4-m ethyl-coumarin (DEVD-AMC, Peptide Institute Inc.) in assay buffer (100 mM HEPES, pH 7.5, 10% sucrose, 0.1% CHAPS, 5 mM DTT and 0.0001% Igepal-630, pH 7.25) was added to cell lysates. Liberated free AMC was measured by a Wallac Victor 1420 Multilabel counter (Perkin Elmer Life Sciences) using 355 nm excitation and 460 nm emission wavelengths at 37°C at 60 s intervals for 25 cycles. The data were analyzed by linear regression and enzyme activity was expressed as nM of AMC released × min⁻¹×mg⁻¹ total cellular protein.

2.10 RNA preparation

RNA can be utilised to determine changes in gene expression and can be an indicator of a proteins importance in a particular signalling pathway. The main objective of isolating RNA in my studies was to determine changes in gene expression in response to loss of mature miRNA during ER stress. RNA is converted to cDNA which can then be analysed by QRT-PCR.

Total RNA was isolated by adding 500 μ l of TRI Reagent (Invitrogen) onto the cell monolayer or if floating cells were observed, all cells were scraped, collected and centrifuged at 1500 rpm for 5 minutes. The pellet was then resuspended in 500 μ l of TRI reagent. To separate RNA from DNA and protein, chloroform was added, mixed well and incubated for 2 minutes at room temperature. Samples were centrifuged at 12,000g for 15 minutes. The upper clear phase was carefully pipette into freshly autoclaved 1.5 ml tubes, with special care taken not to disturb the interface. To precipitate the RNA, 250 μ l of isopropanol was added to each sample and incubated at -20 °C overnight. Samples were then centrifuged at 12,000g for 10 minutes and the RNA pellet was washed in 75% Ethanol. All of the ethanol was carefully removed and the pellet was air dryed to allow all traces of ethanol to evaporate. The RNA was resuspended in 25 μ I of DEPC water and stored at -80°C until ready to use.

2.11 Reverse transcription RT-PCR

To synthesise cDNA, 2 μ g of RNA was subjected to DNase treatment with 1 μ l DNase and 1 μ l Buffer (Invitrogen) added per reaction and incubated for 15 minutes at room temperature. The DNase was inactivated using 1 μ l of EDTA. DNase treatment is to ensure there is no contaminating genomic DNA present. The RNA was then reverse transcribed into cDNA using Superscript III first strand RT-PCR system and random hexamers (Invitrogen). To each reaction 1 μ l of random hexamer was added, mixed well, and heated at 65°C for 2 minutes, and then 25°C for 2 minutes. First strand mastermix consisting of molecular grade water, first strand buffer, DTT, dNTPs and superscript III enzyme was added to each sample and mixed well. The samples were kept at 25°C for 10 minutes followed by 50°C for 50 minutes, and finally inactivated at 85°C for 10 minutes. Conventional PCR for human GAPDH was carried out using 2 μ l of cDNA to check cDNA quality with 2x Go Taq mastermix (Promega). Primers to amplify GAPDH:

GAPDH Fwd 5' ACCACAGTCCATGCCATC 3' and GAPDH Rev 5' TCCACCCTGTTGCTG 3'.

PCR cycle conditions: 94 °C for 3 minutes, 94 °C for 30s, 55 °C for 30 s, 72 °C for 30 s, 72 °C for 7 minutes, 4 °C for ∞ . Repeat steps 2-4 for 25 cycles. Conventional PCR for human DICER was carried out on cDNA using 2x Go Taq mastermix and with the following primers:

DICER Fwd 5'TCAAACCTAGAAGTAAATGCAT 3' and DICER Rev 5' TCTTCCAATTCCTCTGGATCAC 3'.

PCR cycle conditions: 94 °C for 3 min, 94 °C for 30s, 55 °C for 30 s, 72 °C for 30 s, 72 °C for 30 s, 72 °C for 7 mins, 4 °C for ∞. Repeat steps 2-4 for 40 cycles.

2.12 miRNA specific RT-PCR

Due to their small size, miRNA are not amplified by conventional reverse transcription using oligo dT or random primers. Instead Applied Biosystems have designed specialized primers that individually recognise each miRNA separately. The beauty of these primers is their stem loop structure which binds to the single stranded mature miRNA with higher affinity then a conventional primer. This is because, miRNA precursor structure originally possess a hairpin. As such a single reaction for each miRNA and each RNA samples must be set up. To start, RNA was diluted to 100 ng/ul and reverse transcribed into cDNA using miRNA specific primers and a miRNA reverse transcription kit (Applied Biosystems). PCR conditions: 16 °C for 30 mins, 42 °C for 30 mins and 85 °C for 5 mins.

2.13 Microarray

Total RNA was isolated from HCT116 WT and Exn5/Exn5 cells treated with 500 ng/ml of Bfa or 500 ng/ml of Tm for 24 hours. RNA was prepared for analysis by DNA vision as previously described. Briefly, RNA was reverse transcribed into cDNA which is in vitro transcribed into cRNAs in the presence of biotinylated ribonucleotides which are then fragmented. Each labelled cRNA target is hybridized onto a separate chip. Arrays consist of a set of multiple 25-mer oligonucleotide probe pairs for each gene which are 3' biased. After hybridization, arrays are stained with phycoeerythrin-conjugated streptavivdin, washed and scanned. Gene expression profiling was performed by DNA Vision (Charleroi, Belgium, EU, using affymetrix array technology. http://www.dnavision.com. For clustering of normalized results, the raw data have been normalized together using the RMA algorithm, with principal component analysis using all the 54675 probe sets of the GeneChips after RMA normalization. The groups of interest have been compared using moderated t-test where p-values of less than or equal to 0.05 have been considered significant. The data shown has been represented as a heatmap (Figure 3.2) and as line graphs (Figure 3.10).
2.14 miRNA microarray

Total RNA was isolated from H9c2 cells treated with thapsigargin or tunicamycin for 24 hours. MicroRNA expression profiling was performed by LC Sciences (Houston, TX, USA, http://www.lcsciences.com) using a custom µ-Paraflo array containing probes for 350 rat miRNAs from Sanger miRBase. Data was represented by histogram graphs (Figure 4.1) where fold change in miRNA expression in H9c2 cells upon treatment with Tg and Tm was compared to that of H9c2 cells under untreated conditions. Fold change was calculated from mean fluorescent signal intensities of three independent repeats. P-values representing the significance when comparing treated and untreated samples were also calculated and only samples with p-values less than or equal to 0.05 were considered significant.

2.15 Real time Quantitative RT-PCR

Real time QRT PCR is simple and yet quantitative way of determining differences in gene expression between samples. There are two types of chemistry used for QRT-PCR Syber green and Tagman. For the majority of my analysis I used Tagman chemistry to avoid the limitations of syber green chemistry. Mainly, Taqman allows for the avoidance of non-specific amplification during PCR and does not require primer optimization steps. PCR using Taqman chemistry also referred to as the 5' nuclease assay enlists the participation of a forward and reverse primer designed to amplify the target of interest and a MGB (Minor groove binder) probe which hybridizes to the target between the two primers. It is this probe that allows for Real time detection of product amplification. The probe has a fluorescent reporter dye attached to its 5' end and the MGB and Non Fluorescent Quencher (NFQ) dye tagged at its 3' end. As DNA polymerase ampliys the target it begins to cleave the probe separating the fluorescent dye from the NFQ allowing realease of a fluorescent signal detected by the QRT-PCR machine. For QRT-PCR, cDNA is synthesised and diluted to a concentration of 40 ng per 10 µl reaction; it is then combined with Brilliant III Ultra-Fast QPCR Master Mix (Agilent) and 20X Taqman gene expression assays (Applied Biosystems and IDT) and accurately dispensed to a fast optical MicroAmp 96-well plate (Applied Biosystems) in triplicate The PCR is run for 40 cycles on an Applied Biosystems fast 7500 machine using the following cycling conditions: Hold at 95 °C for 3 minutes, then 40 cycles at 95 °C for 12 s, and 60 °C for 30 s. The relative expression levels (relative to GAPDH) are calculated using the $\triangle \triangle Ct$ method when comparing a treated sample to an untreated sample.

2.16 Western Blotting

Western blotting is a technique to separate proteins from a pool of many based on their size by gel electrophoresis. The separated proteins are then transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane which is then incubated with a primary antibody that specifically recognises a protein of interest. Another antibody the secondary, tagged with HRP (Horseradish peroxidase) binds to the primary antibody and with addition of

an HRP substrate, a chemilluminiscent signal is read as a sharp band on x-ray film. The process begins with sample preparation where cells were washed once in ice-cold PBS and lysed in whole cell lysis buffer (20 mM HEPES pH 7.5, 350 mM NaCl, 0.5 mM EDTA, 1 mM MgCl₂, 0.1 mM EGTA, and 1% NP-40) after stipulated time of treatments and boiled at 95°C with Laemmli's SDS-PAGE sample buffer for 5 min. Protein concentration was determined by Bradford method. Equal amounts (20 µg/lane) of protein samples were run on an SDS polyacrylamide gel. The proteins were transferred onto nitrocellulose membrane and blocked with 5% milk in PBS-0.05% Tween. The membrane was incubated with the primary antibody, Caspase-3 (Cell Signaling Technology, Cat# 9662), sXBP1 (Biolegend), CHOP (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc, Cat# sc-793), phosphorylated eIF2a (Cell Signaling Technology, Cat# 3597), total eIF2α (Cell Signaling Technology, Cat# 2103), IRE1α (Cell Signaling Technology, Cat# 3294S), Bim (Stressgen Cat # AAP-330), BAD (Santa Cruz Cat # sc-7869), BID (Santa Cruz cat # sc-11423), Bak (Santa Cruz Cat # sc-832), BCL-2 (Santa Cruz Cat # sc-509), MCL-1 (Cell signalling technologies Cat # 4572), BCL-x_L (Santa Cruz Cat # sc-8392), cytochrome C (BD Biosciences Cat # 556433), Smac/ Diablo (Cell signalling technologies Cat # 2934), Cox IV (Cell signalling technologies Cat # 4844) or β-Actin (Sigma, Cat# A-5060) for 2 h at room temperature or overnight at 4°C. The membrane was washed 3 times with PBS-0.1% Tween and further incubated in appropriate horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibody (Pierce) for 90 min. Signals were detected using West pico chemiluminescent substrate (Pierce).

2.17 Detection of active Bax by flow cytometry

Bax is a pro-apoptotic member of the BCL-2 family of proteins. In healthy cell it is mainly in the cytoplasm however upon induction of apoptosis Bax translocates to the mitochondria and dimerizes to from pores in the mitochondrial membrane. As such it serves as as an excellent protein to determines at what stage of the apoptotic pathway cells are at. To harvest cells, they were trypsinised and then fixed in 2% formaldehyde for 10 mins at room temperature. Washed cells were resuspended in PBS and stored at 4 °C overnight. Anti-BAX antibody (BS Biosciences clone 6A7, 2 μ I of 0.5 μ g/ml stock) was added to 100 μ I of permeabilisation buffer (0.1% saponin, 0.5% BSA, 1x PBS) in which, cells were incubated for 1 h at 4 °C. Mouse IgG isotype control (Biolegend).

served as an autofluorescent control. Samples were washed and incubated with 1:200 dilution of FITC-conjugated anti-mouse antibodies in PBS for 1 h at 4 °C. Samples were washed and resuspended in 300 µl PBS and analysed by Flow cytometry. Histograms were overlayed using Cyflogic.

2.18 Luciferase reporter Assays

In promoter assays, MCF-7 cells were transfected with 0.8 µg of firefly luciferase vectors (empty pGL4 or pGL4prom17M vector), in combination with a *Renilla* luciferase vector (0.2 µg) as internal control. Twenty four hours post-transfection cells were treated with Tg or Tm for 24 h. Firefly luciferase and Renilla luciferase activities were measured 48 h after transfection at 560 nm using 10s luminescence protocol on Wallac plate reader and then normalized for *Renilla* luciferase activity. Alternatively, in Bim 3' UTR reporter assays, MCF-7 or PC12 cells were transfected with 1.0 µg of psiCHECK2 (Promega) reporter plasmid containing the Bim 3' UTR. 24 h post-transfection cells were treated with thapsigargin or tunicamycin for 24 h. Firefly luciferase and Renilla luciferase activities were measured 48 h after transfection at 560 nm using 10s luminescence protocol on Wallac plate reader and then normalized for *Renilla* luciferase activity.

2.19 Site directed mutagenesis PCR

NRF2 binding sites were detected using online software Transfac. (http://www.biobaseinternational.com/product/transcription-factor-binding-sites). Site-directed mutagenesis was performed with the QuikChange® system (Stratagene®, La Jolla, U. S. A.) as per the manufacturer's instructions with minor changes. All primers were synthesized by Sigma Aldrich and 1% (v/v) Dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO) was added to mutagenic reactions in which strong secondary interactions were likely. Site-directed mutagenesis primers used were:

Site 1: mir 17-92 site 1 FP

mir 17-92 site 1 RP 5' GCATAAAAAACAAAGT**ACTTAAG**ACCTCCCCGCCCGCCCG 3'

Site 2: mir 17-92 site 2 FP

5'CCATTGGAAGAGCCA**CCACT**TAAAGTGCTAGTTGGATGGTTGG 3' mir 17-92 site 2 RP

5' CCAACCATCCAACTAGCACTTTAAGTGGTGGCTCTCCCAATGG 3'

Predicted NRF2 binding sites were mutated from CGGAAG –CTTAAG. Mutation of site 1 resulted in addition of AFLII restriction site while mutation of site 2 resulted in deletion of BSR1 restriction site. Introduction or deletion of either restriction site allows for easy screening of colonies carrying possible mutated DNA.

2.20 Chromatin Immunoprecipitation (ChIP) assay

ChIP is a technique that essentially detects protein: DNA interactions. For instance, ChIP is routinely used to prove interactions between transcription factors and DNA, as done in this study. The protein of interest is immunoprecipitated as with traditional methods however samples are fixed prior to lysis to maintain the protein: DNA interaction. As such, any DNA the protein has bound to will be pulled down with it. Protein is degraded and PCR is carried out on Purified, sheared DNA. For this study the interaction between the transcription factors ATF4 and NRF2 to the promoter of the miR-17-92 cluster was investigated. This assay involves many steps that must be fully optimized to obtain sufficient chromatin to detect the site of interest.

Optimization of IP conditions was carried out before isolating chromatin. Antibodies previously reported to work in ChIP assays for NRF2 (Epitomics_Cat #2178-1) and ATF4 (Proteintech_Cat # 60035-1) were selected for the investigation. The ChIP-IT enzymatic kit (Active Motif_Cat # 53006) was used which provides almost all reagents required for successful ChIP, including IgG and RNA pol II antibodies for negative and positive control immunoprecipitation reactions. Conventional IP was carried out to check pull down efficiency of the chosen antibodies where the IP and input were western blotted using the same antibodies as used for the pull down and also with a second set of antibodies for NRF2 (Santa Cruz_Cat # Sc- 13032) and ATF4 (Santa Cruz_Cat # Sc- 22800).

Enzymatic shearing was optimized by incubating chromatin (For description of preparation see below) with and without shearing enzyme for 5, 10, 15 and 30 min at 37 °C. Cross linking was reversed by adding 150 μ I dH₂0, 8 μ I 5 M NaCl and 1 μ I RNase for 4 h at 65 °C. Once at room temperature, samples were briefly centrifuged and 2 μ I of proteinase K was added to digest proteins for 1.5 h at 42 °C. DNA was then electrophoresed on a 1% Agarose gel. PCRs for Site 2 were optimized on the full length miR-17-92 promotor plasmid. Site 2 PCR with primers below worked with the calculated Tm of 53 °C.

Site 2 Fwd: 5' GTGTCAATCCATTTGGGAGAG 3' Site 2 Rev: 5' TGGTCACAATCTTCAGTTTTAC 3'

PCR cycle conditions: 94 °C for 3 min, 94 °C for 30s, 53 °C for 30 s, 72 °C for 30 s, 72 °C for 7 mins, Repeat steps 2-4 for 40 cycles.

Once all parameters were optimized 3X T75 flasks of MCF7 cells were seeded at 3X10⁶ cells per flask. The next day, cells were transfected with 3 µg of NRF2 plasmid, 3 µg of ATF4 plasmid and 1 µg of GFP plasmid per flask. 24 h post transfection, cells were checked for GFP positivity and 10 ml of Fixation solution (1.62 ml of 37% formaldehyde in 50 ml DMEM) was added per flask and incubated for 10 minutes at room temperature while shaking; to crosslink protein: DNA interactions. Cells were washed with 10mls ice cold 1X PBS. Fixation was terminated using 10 ml Glycine stop fix solution (3 ml 10X Glycine, 3 ml 10X PBS and 24 ml autoclaved dH20). Cells were washed in 10 mls ice cold 1X PBS. 2 mls of scraping solution (600 µl 10X PBS in 5.4 mls Autoclaved dH₂0 plus 30 µl PMSF) was added into which cells were scraped. Cells from all 3 flasks were pooled into a 15 ml tube and centrifuged at 2500 rpm for 10 min at 4 °C. Pellet was resuspended in 1ml ice cold lysis buffer to which 5ul PMSF and 5ul PIC have been added. Incubate on ice for 30 min. With a 23 gauge syringe the lysate was gently syringe up and down along the side of tube ~30 times to release nuclei and then centrifuge at 5000 rpm for 10 min at 4 °C to pellet nuclei. The pellet was resuspended in 1 ml digestion buffer with 5ul PMSF and 5ul PIC and pre-warmed for 5mins at 37 °C.

For **enzymatic shearing**, a 1:100 dilution of the shearing enzyme was made (0.5 μ l to 49.5 of 50% glycerol in autoclaved dH₂0). 50 ul of diluted enzyme was added to pre-warmed nuclei, vortexed to mix and incubate at 37°C for optimized time 30 minutes as previously optimized). The reaction was stopped by adding 20 μ l ice cold EDTA for 10mins on ice. The sample was centrifuged at 10,000 rpm for 10mins at 4°C and supernatant collected. 25 μ l was kept for DNA purification and confirmation of shearing on a 1% agarose gel. The remainder was aliquoted into 250 μ l volumes and stored at -80°C (each aliquot can be used for 4 chip reactions).

Before beginning the IP, chromatin was **pre-cleared**. Per IP, 100 µl of Protein G beads were briefly centrifuged, excess liquid was removed and the beads were combined with 50ul chromatin, 59 µl ChIP buffer and Protease inhibitor cocktail (PIC). Samples were rotated at 4 °C overnight. They were centrifuged at 4000 rpm for 2 minutes and incubated on ice for 2 minutes to allow beads to fully settle. The supernatant was transferred to a fresh tube taking care not to disturb beads and centrifuged again to ensure removal of all beads.

A small amount of chromatin (10 μ I) was kept as the input sample at -20 °C until the IP samples were complete. To IP ATF, NRF2, IgG and RNA Pol II, 170 μ I / IP of pre-cleared chromatin was added to 0.65 ml siliconized tubes and incubated with 2 μ g of the NRF2, ATF4, and the kit supplied IgG and RNA Pol II antibodies, at 4°C overnight while rotating. 100 μ I of Protein G beads were added to each IP, mixed well and rotated for 2 h at 4°C.

Samples were centrifuged at 4000 rpm for 2 minutes and Let stand for 30 s to allow beads to fully settle. The supernatant was removed without disturbing beads and discarded. All remaining pelleting steps were done in this manner. The following buffers were made for subsequent wash steps.

Buffer	ChIP reaction X 1
Chip IP Buffer	400 μl Chip IP Buffer + 2 μl PIC
Wash Buffer 1	1.6mls Wash buffer 1 + 1.6 μl PIC
Wash Buffer 2	400 μl Wash buffer 2 + 0.4 μl PIC
Wash Buffer 3	Premade (place on ice)

Each chip reaction was washed as follows:

- Resuspend beads in 400 µl ChIP IP buffer+ PIC: x1, vortexed and rotated for 2 minutes and pellet beads.
- Resuspend beads in 400 µl Wash Buffer 1+PIC: x4, vortexed and rotated for 2 minutes and pellet beads.
- Resuspend beads in 400 µI Wash Buffer 2+PIC: x1, vortexed and rotated for 2 minutes and pellet beads.
- Resuspend beads in 400 µI Wash Buffer 3: x2, vortexed and rotated for 2 minutes and pellet beads.
- On final wash with Buffer 3 remove as much buffer as possible without disturbing the beads.

To elute DNA from the beads, 50 µl of ChIP elution Buffer (5 µl of 1M NaHCO3 and 100 µl 1% SDS per IP) was added to each pelleted chip reaction, vortexed briefly and incubated for 15 min at room temperature, while rotating. Samples were centrifuged at 4000 rpm for 2 min, and let stand for 30 s to allow beads to fully settle. The supernatant was transferred to a 1.5ml tube and the beads were centrifuged again and the remaining supernatant recovered.

The input sample was thawed and 90 μ l of autoclaved dH₂0 was added and along with IP'd samples cross-links were reversed and RNA removed by adding 4 μ l 5 M NaCl and 1 μ l RNase A to each sample. Samples were incubated at 65°C overnight.

Proteins were removed by treating samples with 2 μl Proteinase K, 2 μl 1 M Tris-Cl pH 6.5 and 2 μl 0.5 M EDTA at 42 °C for 2 h.

DNA was then purified using columns and buffers supplied by the kit. Eluted DNA was stored at -20°C until PCRs were carried out.

Prior to PCR, input DNA was diluted 1:10 and then 5 µl of DNA was added per reaction. Primers and PCR cycle conditions used to detect Site 2 were given above. GAPDH and negative control primers were supplied by the kit. CHAPTER 3:

RESULTS CHAPTER 1

LOSS OF DICER CONFERS RESISTANCE TO ER STRESS INDUCED CELL DEATH

3.0 Results chapter 1

Loss of DICER confers resistance to ER stress induced cell death

In this chapter, the effects of, global loss of miRNAs during ER stress-induced cell death was investigated in colon cancer cell lines RKO and HCT116. This subject is of particular interest due to the fact that miRNAs regulate a range of stress responses and can themselves be regulated under stress conditions, such as nutrient deprivation, serum starvation, UV or radiation induced DNA damage, hypoxia, and stress-induced immune responses (Chaudhry et al., 2012; Dresios et al., 2005; Leung and Sharp, 2007; Marsit et al., 2006; Patella and Rainaldi, 2012; Tang et al., 2008a). However, little is known about the role of miRNAs during ER stress. In addition to this, miRNA are differentially expressed in a variety of cancers, which in turn can enhance tumourigenesis and modulate cells responsiveness to therapies (Farazi et al., 2011). In fact, a global loss of miRNA is observed in many cancers (Calin and Croce, 2006; Lu et al., 2005). Complementary to this, lower expression of DICER, an RNase III enzyme required for the processing and maturation of miRNA, has been observed in lung, breast, ovarian and endometrium cancers (Dedes et al., 2011; Karube et al., 2005; Merritt et al., 2008; Torres et al., 2011). Lower DICER expression has enhanced tumourigenesis (Kumar et al., 2007) and is associated with poor patient prognosis (Sand et al., 2010; Wu et al., 2012a; Zhu et al., 2012a). Similarly DICER is considered a haploinsufficient tumour suppressor, where deletion of a single allele of DICER promotes tumour development (Kumar et al., 2009; Lambertz et al., 2010). DICER expression is also modulated by an assortment of stresses. Reactive oxygen species, phorbol esters, Ras oncogene signalling, type 1 interferons and serum withdrawal block DICER expression while IFN-y induces DICER expression (Asada et al., 2008; Wiesen and Tomasi, 2009). More recently, the antidiabetic agent Metformin was shown to have anti-cancer effects, by inducing AMPK/E2F-mediated increase in DICER mRNA and protein as well as the repression of oncogenic c-MYC via miR-33a (Blandino et al., 2012). Interestingly DICER co-localization with calreticulon on the ER has been observed. The functional significance of this is unknown but the authors of this study suggested that RNAi may occur where the ER meets the cytoplasm (Martello et al., 2010). As discussed earlier, the ER stress and UPR pathways have been well characterised and detected in a variety of disease conditions including neurodegenerative disease, diabetes and cancer (Eizirik et al., 2008; Moenner et al., 2007; Stefani et al., 2012; Zhong et al., 2012)

In cancer, ER stress occurs as a result of the hypoxic tumour microenvironment and the survival responses of the UPR can be manipulated to enhance cancer cell survival (Bi et al., 2005; Moenner et al., 2007; Schonthal, 2012). However, the full extent of ER stress signalling in cancer cell apoptosis is not fully elucidated. A greater appreciation of how ER stress is regulated in cancer, is critical for advancement of therapeutic stratagies (Healy et al., 2009). We hypothesized a role for DICER and miRNA in ER stress-induced cancer cell death. Here we report an increase in DICER mRNA during ER stress-induced cell death and loss of DICER and thus mature miRNA rendered cancer cells resistant to ER stress. This resistance was through the modulation of BCL-2 family proteins. miRNAs may tip the balance between survival and apoptosis and ultimately determine cell fate.

3.1 Bfa and Tm cause a concentration dependant increase in cell death in HCT116 cells

To establish the correct dose of ER stress inducing agents Tm and Bfa, to use for all subsequent experiments, HCT116 cells were treated with increasing doses 0.5, 1 and 5 µg/ml of each compound. Increasing levels of cell death were observed with increasing concentration of Bfa at 24 h and with increasing concentration of Tm at 48 h. A dose of 500 ng/ml, was chosen of both Tm and Bfa for further experiments, as it induces approximately 50% cell death at 24 and 48 h respectively. The percentage cell death was measured using Annexin V-FITC/(PI) staining. Annexin V binds to phophatidylserine (PS) which is only exposed on the surface of dying cells while PI only stains the nuclei of late apoptotic early necrotic cells as such combination of Annexin V/ PI staining is indicative of % cell death. Note the kinetics of both compounds are quite different in HCT116 cells. Bfa had a more potent effect, inducing cell death much earlier than Tm which does not induce cell death until 48 h.



Figure 3.1 Bfa and Tm cause a concentration dependant increase in cell death in HCT116 cells. HCT116 cells were treated with increasing concentrations of Bfa and Tm (0.5-5 μ g/ml) for 24 h and 48 h respectively. Cell death was assessed by Annexin V/PI staining where Annexin V/ PI positive cells were taken as the % of dead cells. Data represents the mean of three independent experiments with error bars based on SEM of the repeats.

3.2 Genes associated with miRNA biogenesis are increased during ER stress

During ER stress, many downstream effects are due to the activation of transcriptional events that either promotes cell survival or cell death. In an attempt to identify new genes regulated during ER stress-induced cell death, HCT116 cells were treated with 500 ng/ml of Tm and 500 ng/ml of Bfa for 24 h. RNA was isolated and Microarray analysis carried out (DNA Vision). Interestingly, an increase in the expression of genes associated with miRNA biogenesis was observed including DROSHA, DICER, AGO2, AGO3, AGO4, TARBP1, DCP1A, and DCP2.



Figure 3.2 Genes associated with miRNA biogenesis are increased during ER stress. HCT116 cells were treated with 500 ng/ml of Tm, and 500 ng/ml of Bfa for 24 h. Affymatrix Microarray was used to measure gene expression. Fold change in gene expression between 1 and 10 is represented by a heatmap. Data represents the mean values of three independent repeats with p values less than or equal to 0.05.

3.3 Disruption of DICER impairs biogenesis of miRNA

Increased expression of genes associated with miRNA biogenesis during ER stress, suggested an important role for miRNA during ER stress, to investigate this further, we used cells in which miRNA biogenesis was compromised, RKO and HCT116 WT and DICER hypomorphic cells (Exn5/Exn5). Exn5/Exn5 cells have an in-frame 43-amino acid insertion into Exon 5 of DICER adjacent to DExH motif (Cummins et al., 2006; Soifer et al., 2008), an important motif in RNA helicases (Schwer, 2001). The insertion mutation results in a mutant DICER protein that has defects in processing of most endogenous pre-miRNAs into mature miRNAs (Soifer et al., 2008). Visually, HCT116 cells behave similarly to WT with no noticeable difference in proliferation rate or morphology while RKO Exn5/Exn5 cells appear to proliferate faster than WT cells. Due to the insertion made to DICER, conventional PCR on cDNA from RKO and HCT116 Exn5/Exn5 cells should give a higher band when compared to WT DICER. However, the PCR conditions optimized here could only detect WT DICER (Figure 3.3 A). Primers used to amplify DICER were designed to flank exon 5 and therefore should detect both WT and hypomorphic DICER. However, it was verified that DICER function was indeed compromised in these cells by measuring the levels of mature miRNA in WT and Exn/Exn5 cells and clearly there is a significant loss of mature miRNA in Exn/Exn5 cells (Figure 3.3 B).



Figure 3.3 Disruption of DICER impairs biogenesis of miRNA. A) Conventional PCR for DICER on cDNA from RKO WT and Exn5/Exn5 cells (LHS) and from HCT116 WT and Exn5/Exn5 cells (RHS). GAPDH was used as a loading control. B) QRT-PCR for miRNA in RKO and HCT116 WT and Exn5/Exn5 cells. Each sample was loaded in triplicate and error bars are representable of the SD between triplicates wells.

3.4 Exn5/Exn5 cells are resistant to ER stress-induced cell death

The consequences of compromising DICER and in turn, miRNA biogenesis were investigated during ER stress. When HCT116 Exn5/Exn5 cells were treated with increasing doses of Tm or Bfa (0.5- 5 μ g/ml), the percentage of cell death was considerably decreased when compared to WT cells treated under the same conditions. There was a notable resistance to ER stress-induced cell by 500 ng/ml Tm at 48 h (p= 0.0001 n=3), as well as with 500 ng/ml Bfa at 24 h (p=0.001 n=3). Even at higher doses of either compound, cells remain resistant. 1 μ g/ml Tm at 48 h (p= 0.001 n=3), as well as with 1 μ g/ml Bfa at 24 h (p=0.0003 n=3). 5 μ g/ml Tm at 48 h (p= 0.002 n=3), as well as with 5 μ g/ml Bfa at 24 h (p=0.0001 n=3). Similar results were obtained in RKO WT and Exn5/Exn5 cells treated with increasing doses of Bfa (0.5-5 μ g/ml). 500 ng/ml Bfa (p=0.026 n=3), 1 μ g/ml Bfa (p=0.001 n=3), 5 μ g/ml Bfa at 24 h (p=0.05 n=3).

3.5 Exn5/Exn5 cells are not protected against other cellular stress inducers

Since dose response curves (Figure 3.4) showed there was a notable resistance to ER stressinduced cell death by Bfa and Tm at 24 h and 48 h respectively, resistance to other cell death inducers Etoposide (Eto) and Staurosporin (Sts) was investigated. Surprisingly, Exn5/Exn5 cells exhibited only marginal protection to Etop at 24 h and 48 h or Sts for 24 h and 48 h when compared to WT cells (Figure 3.5 A). While yet again Exn5/Exn5 cells were significantly more resistant to Tm at 24 h (p=0.01) and 48 h (p= 0.0001), and Bfa at 24 h (p=0.0005) and 48 h (p=0.02). Similar results were obtained in RKO WT and Exn5/Exn5 cells treated with 500 ng/ml of Tm (p=0.05) and 500 ng/ml of Bfa (p=0.001) for 24 h (Figure 3.5 B). Reduced processing of pro-caspase-9, pro-caspase-3 and the caspase substrate PARP was evident in Exn5/Exn5 HCT116 cells following 24 h Bfa treatment confirming protection of these cells against ER stress-induced apoptosis (Figure 3.5 C).



Figure 3.4 Exn5/Exn5 cells are resistant to ER stress-induced cell death. A) Dose response in HCT116 WT and Exn5/Exn5 cells for Bfa at 24 h. Doses used were 0.5, 1 and 5 μ g/ml. B) Dose response in HCT116 WT and Exn5/Exn5 cells for Tm at 48 h. Doses used were 0.5, 1 and 5 μ g/ml. C) Dose response in RKO WT and Exn5/Exn5 cells for Bfa at 48 h. Doses used were 0.5, 1 and 5 μ g/ml. Flow cytometry based measurement, of Annexin V/ PI positive cells was used to estimate % cell death for all of the above.



Figure 3.5 Exn5/Exn5 cells show only marginal protection against other cellular stress inducers. A) HCT116 WT and Exn5/Exn5 cells treated with 500 ng/ml Tm, 500 ng/ml Bfa, 100 μ M Etop and 250 nM Sts for 24 and 48 h time points. Flow cytometry based measurement, of Annexin V/ PI positive cells was used to estimate % cell death. Exn5/Exn5 cells were significantly more resistant to Tm at 24 h (p=0.01) and 48 h (p=0.0001), and Bfa at 24 h (p=0.0005) and 48 h (p=0.02). B) RKO WT and Exn5/Exn5 cells treated with 500 ng/ml Tm, 500 ng/ml Bfa, 100 μ M Etop and 250 nM Sts for 24 and 48 h time points. Flow cytometry based measurement, of Annexin V/ PI positive cells was used to estimate % cell death. Exn5/Exn5 cells treated with 500 ng/ml Tm, 500 ng/ml Bfa, 100 μ M Etop and 250 nM Sts for 24 and 48 h time points. Flow cytometry based measurement, of Annexin V/ PI positive cells was used to estimate % cell death. Exn5/Exn5 cells were significantly more resistant to Tm (p=0.05) and Bfa (p=0.001) at 24 h C) Western blots for caspase-9, cleaved caspase-3, PARP in HCT116 WT and Exn5/Exn5 cells treated with 500 ng/ml of BFA for 12 h and 24 h. ACTIN was used as a loading control.

3.6 Knockdown of DICER impairs biogenesis of miRNA

DICER was also independently knocked down using a pSicoR-DICER shRNA to confirm the effects we see in Exn5/Exn5 cells were not due to the way in which DICER was disrupted but are in fact a result of compromised miRNA processing. Knock down efficiency was checked using QRT-PCR to measure the relative expression of DICER mRNA in DICER shRNA cells compared to EV control cells. DICER shRNA was effective in knocking down DICER, where levels were substantially decreased compared to EV (Empty vector) control cells (Figure 3.6 A). Consistent with this, DICER shRNA cells have ~ 50% lower expression of mature miRNAs, thus confirming that miRNA biogenesis has been compromised. (Figure 3.6 B).



Figure 3.6 Knockdown of DICER impairs miRNA biogenesis. A) HCT116 EV and DICER shRNA cells were harvested from resting conditions and QRT-PCR for DICER was carried out. Relative expression corresponds to the expression of DICER, relative to GAPDH when expression in EV cells is equal to one. B) miRNA QRT-PCR in HCT116 EV and DICER shRNA cells taken from resting conditions. Relative expression corresponds to the expression of DICER, relative to Sn U6 when expression in EV cells is equal to one.

3.7 DICER shRNA cells are resistant to ER stress induced cell death

To examine the effects of compromising miRNA biogenesis via DICER knockdown during ER stress, cells were treated with, 500 ng/ml of Tm and 500 ng/ml of Bfa for 24 h and Annexin V/ PI staining was carried out to determine the % cell death. Agreeing with previous data, the level of cell death was lower in DICER shRNA cells treated with Tm for 24 h (p=0.004) and Bfa for 24 h (p=0.003) (Figure 3.7). These results confirm that it is not just the way in which DICER was disrupted in Exn5/Exn5 cells that provides resistance to ER stress induced cell death but through disruption of miRNA biogenesis in general.



Figure 3.7 DICER shRNA cells are resistant to ER stress induced cell death. HCT116 EV and DICER shRNA cells were treated with 500 ng/ml of Tm and 500 ng/ml of Bfa for 24 h and the % cell death was estimated by flow cytometry based measurement, of Annexin V/ PI staining. DICER shRNA cells were significantly more resistant to treatment with Tm (p=0.004) Bfa (p=0.003) 24 for 24 (p=0.003). or for h and Bfa h

3.8 DROSHA knockdown impairs miRNA biogenesis

To fully ensure the resistant phenotype of Exn5/Exn5 cells is due to compromised miRNA biogenesis, and not a result of interruption of DICER function, the biogenesis pathway was compromised using a TET-inducible shRNA targeting DROSHA. To activate transcription of the shRNA, 500 ng/ml of doxycycline was added to HCT116 DROSHA shRNA cells for 1, and 3 days after which DROSHA expression was detected via QRT-PCR. It must be noted, this shRNA is leaky and shows marginal knockdown even in the absence of doxycycline (Aagaard et al., 2007). However it is clear that there is a much greater knockdown of DROSHA following three days doxycycline treatment (Figure 3.8 A). Expression of mature miRNA was determined in DROSHA shRNA cells and there was a maximum decrease in miRNA expression following 3 days of doxycycline (Figure 3.8 B). These results confirm that knockdown of DROSHA disrupts processing of miRNA.



Figure 3.8 DROSHA knockdown impairs miRNA biogenesis. A) DROSHA cells were arown with or without 500 na/ml doxycycline for up to 3 days, QRT-PCR for DROSHA was carried out and relative expression determined when expression relative to GAPDH in WT cells was equal to one. B) DROSHA cells were grown with or without 500 ng/ml doxycycline for up to 3 days, miRNA QRT-PCR was carried out and relative expression determined when expression relative to Sn U6 in WT cells was equal to one.

3.9 DROSHA shRNA cells are resistant to ER stress induced cell death

To examine the effects of compromising miRNA biogenesis via DROSHA knockdown during ER stress, sensitivity of DROSHA shRNA cells to Tm and Bfa was determined using TMRE staining, where the percentage of cells that lose TMRE staining is an indicator of cell death. TMRE only binds when the OMM potential is stable, dying cells generally have significant loss of mitochondrial membrane potential and as such lose TMRE staining. Again agreeing with data shown in Exn5/Exn5 cells as well as DICER shRNA cells, DROSHA shRNA cells are also resistant to ER stress-induced cell death induced by Bfa at 24 (p=0.004) and 48 h (p=0.005) and Tm at 48 h (p=0.02) where DROSHA shRNA cells retain TMRE staining when compared to WT cells (Figure 3.9 A). Western blotting also revealed there was lower expression of cleaved caspase-3 in DROSHA shRNA cells compared to WT cells, following 24 h and 48 h Bfa treatment again confirming cells are resistant to ER stress-induced cell death. (Figure 3.9 B).



Figure 3.9 DROSHA shRNA cells are resistant to ER stress induced cell death. A) HCT116 WT and DROSHA shRNA cells + Doxycycline for 3 days were treated with 500 ng/ml of Tm and 500 ng/ml of Bfa for 24 and 48h. Flow cytometry based measurement; of TMRE staining was used to estimate % cell death. DROSHA shRNA cells were significantly more resistant to treatment with Tm at 48 h (p=0.02) or Bfa at 24 (p=0.004) and 48 h (p=0.005). B) Western blot for cleaved caspase-3 in HCT116 WT and DROSHA shRNA cells + Doxycycline for 3 days and treated with 500 ng/ml of Tm and 500 ng/ml of Bfa for 24 and 48h. ACTIN used as a loading control.

3.10 Microarray analysis of genes associated with UPR and ER stress

To investigate why cells with compromised miRNA biogenesis are resistant to ER stressinduced cell death, microarray analysis was carried out on cells treated with 500 ng/ml of Tm and 500 ng/ml of Bfa for 24 h. Three independent repeats were set-up; RNA was isolated and further sample processing and analysis was performed by DNA Vision. To identify potential candidates that may explain the resistant phenotype, screening of data was based on, genes that are differentially expressed at basal levels as well as under both treatments simultaneously that are associated with the UPR and apoptosis were screened, values with a Log FC value of 2 or more were short listed. For instance, pro-apoptotic proteins that were downregulated in Exn5/Exn5 cells, or pro-survival proteins, that were upregulated in Exn5/Exn5 cells. Genes that showed the most promising differences in expression included EDEM1, GRP78, ERP72, CHOP, ATF4, p58IPK, ERO1β, ERDJ4, PERK and NOXA (Figure 3.8).





Microarray analysis of gene expression in HCT116 WT and Exn5/Exn5 cells were treated with 500 ng/ml of Tm and 500 ng/ml of Bfa for 24 h. Affymetrix microarray analysis was carried out on triplicate experiments by DNA Vision. Relative Fold change as represented above was calculated from Log FC values and made relative to WT untreated. Data shown gave p-values less than or equal to 0.05.

3.11 Expression of pro-apoptotic PERK, CHOP and NOXA mRNA is lower in Exn5/Exn5 cells

To validate the results obtained from the microarray, HCT116 WT and Exn5/Exn5 cells were treated with 500 ng/ml of Tm and 500 ng/ml of Bfa for 12 h and 24 h. RNA was reverse transcribed into cDNA and gene expression was analysed via QRT-PCR using Taqman chemistry based assay sets described in chapter 2; The pro-apoptotic associated PERK, CHOP and NOXA all displayed lower mRNA expression in Exn5/Exn5 cells compared to WT cells.



Figure 3.11 Expression of pro-apoptotic PERK, CHOP and NOXA mRNA is lower in Exn5/Exn5 cells. QRT-PCR for PERK, CHOP and NOXA in HCT116 WT and Exn5/Exn5 cells treated with 500 ng/ml of Tm for 12 h and 24 h (LHS) or 500 ng/ml of Bfa for 12 h and 24 h (RHS).

3.12 The Unfolded protein response proceeds in the absence of miRNA

Differences in PERK, CHOP and NOXA at the mRNA level in Exn5/Exn5 cells led to an investigation of the levels of these at protein level and of other well-known proteins of the UPR. Levels of CHOP, NOXA, phospho- eIF2α, Total- eIF2α, IRE1, ATF6, and sXBP1 were examined by western blotting. Differences seen at mRNA level with PERK, CHOP and NOXA were not evident at protein level where total and phospho- eIF2α (representative of PERK activity) displayed a similar level of expression in WT and Exn5/Exn5 cells, and both CHOP and NOXA protein levels were also comparable between the two cell lines. Interestingly, sXBP1 levels were consistently decreased in Exn5/Exn5 cells (Figure 3.9).



Figure 3.12 The Unfolded protein response proceeds in the absence of miRNA. A) Western blots to detect UPR/apoptosis-associated proteins in HCT116 WT and Exn5/Exn5 cells treated with 500 ng/ml Bfa and 500 ng/ml Tm for 2, 4, 8, 12 and 24 h. Proteins analysed include IRE1, ATF6, P-eIF2 α and T-eIF2 α , CHOP, XBP1s and NOXA. ACTIN was used as a loading control.

3.13 IRE1 ribonuclease-mediated signalling is not important for resistance of Exn5/Exn5 cells

Lower levels of XBP1s in a cell line resistant to ER stress induced cell death was surprising since, prolonged sXBP1 levels are associated with cell survival. The role of XBP1s was further investigated to determine if it contributed to the resistant phenotype of Exn5/Exn5 cells. We used an inhibitor of IRE1, MKC4485, designed by Mannkind Corporation to specifically block the RNase domain of IRE1 and thus preventing XBP1 from being spliced. An earlier version of this compound was previously described to block splicing of XBP1 (Mimura et al., 2012). A dose response showed 5 μ M of inhibitor was enough to prevent splicing of XBP1 and further experiments were carried out with this dose (Figure 3.13 A). Sensitivity of cells to ER stress was analyzed following the addition of the IRE1 inhibitor. Blocked splicing of XBP1 with this inhibitor did not confer resistance to ER stress-induced cell death in WT cells. Although splicing of XBP1 is generally a pro-survival event, the lower levels in Exn5/Exn5 cells suggested the opposite since these cells are resistant to ER stress. Use of the inhibitor proved lower XBP1s has no role in the resistant phenotype of Exn5/Exn5 cells. (Figure 3.13 B).

3.14 IRE1 signalling is not important for the resistant phenotype of Exn5/Exn5 cells

This result shows that the lower levels of XBP1s in Exn5/Exn5 cells, is not a contributing factor to their resistance to ER stress. Although low XBP1s did not confer resistance to ER stress, there was still, a difference in its expression between WT and Exn5/Exn5 cells. This suggested IRE1 signalling in general may be altered in Exn5/Exn5 cells. The use of the IRE1 inhibitor and no subsequent change in the phenotype of Exn5/Exn5 cells suggests that the RNase activity of IRE1 is not required; we investigated signalling of IRE1 which does not require the RNase domain. Hence, we examined JNK phosphorylation which is activated through IRE1 kinase signalling and TRAF2. However, there were no differences in Total or phospho-JNK levels bwtween WT and Exn5/Exn5 cells. These results show that IRE1 signalling does not contribute to the resistance of Exn5/Exn5 cells (Figure 3.14).







Figure 3.14 IRE1 signalling is not important for the resistant phenotype of Exn5/Exn5 cells. Western blots to detect total (T) and phospho (P) JNK1/2 in HCT116 WT and Exn5/Exn5 cells treated with 500 ng/ml Bfa and 500 ng/ml Tm for 2, 4, 8, 12 and 24 h. ACTIN was used as a loading control.

3.15 Heat shock proteins are not important for the resistant phenotype of Exn5/Exn5 cells

Recently reports have been published showing miRNA regulation of heat shock proteins (Yin et al., 2009). Our lab has published that high expression of Hsp72 protects against ER stress (Gupta et al., 2010), as does high expression of other heat shock components (Unpublished data). And one study in drosophila reported that loss of components of the miRNA biogenesis pathway including DCR2 and AGO2 resulted in transcriptional defects especially during heatshock where lack of these proteins resulted in increased expression of Hsp70A and Hsp70B (Cernilogar et al., 2011). From this we hypothesised that disruption of miRNA in our model may confer resistance to ER stress induced cell death via upregulation of heat shock proteins. To investigate this further we blotted for Hsp72 and Hsp27 proteins in HCT116 WT and Exn5/Exn5 cells. If our hypothesis was true we would have expected to see higher levels of these heat shock proteins in Exn5/Exn5 cells. However this was not the case as levels of Hsp72 and Hsp27 were comparable in both cell lines.



Figure 3.15 Heat shock proteins 72 and 27 are not important for the resistant phenotype of Exn5/Exn5 cells. Western blots for Hsp72 and Hsp27 in HCT116 WT and Exn5/Exn5 cells treated with 500 ng/ml of Bfa for 2-24 h. ACTIN was used as a loading control.

3.16 Exn5/Exn5 cells retain their outer mitochondrial membrane potential

As shown, the UPR is not affected by compromised DICER function and so can proceed in the absence of miRNA regulation. However, the results we see appear to be specific to ER stress-induced cell death. This indicates that, the intrinsic apoptosis pathway itself must be compromised for these cells to survive. This indicates that miRNAs are important for the cells response to ER stress-induced cell death but not as vital for other cell death induced signalling, such as that induced by Etop or Sts. As the intrinsic pathways is centred around the functionality of the mitochondria, we investigated the status of the OMM potential using TMRE staining, to indicate the point in the intrinsic apoptotic pathway resistance may occur. Exn5/Exn5 cells retain TMRE positivity when compared to WT cells following 36 h Tm treatment (p=0.042 n=3) and 24 h treatment with Bfa (p= 0.012 n=3), suggesting resistance may occur upstream of the mitochondria (Figure 3.16 A). Graphs are representative of the data shown in A (Figure 3.16 B).



Figure 3.16 Exn5/Exn5 cells retain their outer mitochondrial membrane potential. A) Flow cytometry profiles of TMRE staining in HCT116 WT and Exn5/Exn5 cells treated with 500 ng/ml Bfa and 500 ng/ml Tm for 24 and 36 h. Histogram plots (purple) show loss of TMRE staining in the PE channel. B) The graphed representation of % of cells with loss of TMRE is also shown (lower graphs). Exn5/Exn5 cells retain TMRE positivity when compared to WT cells following 36 h Tm treatment (p=0.042) and 24 h treatment with Bfa (p= 0.012).

3.17 Resistance of Exn5/Exn5 cells occurs upstream of the mitochondrion

To prove that the resistant phenotype of Exn5/Exn5 cells occurs upstream of the mitochondria, translocation of BAX from the cytoplasm to the mitochondria was inspected using an antibody that specifically detects the active form of BAX. Agreeing with the hypothesis, less active BAX was detected by flow cytometry in Exn5/Exn5 cells treated with 500 ng/ml of Bfa for 12 h (p=0.05 n=3) and 24 h (p= 0.026 n=3) compared to WT cells (Figure 3.17 A). The Graph represents the flow cytometry data shown in A (Figure 3.17 B).



Figure 3.17 Resistance of Exn5/Exn5 cells occurs upstream of the mitochondrion. A) Flow cytometry based measurement of the active conformation of BAX in HCT116 WT and Exn5/Exn5 cells treated with 500 ng/ml of Bfa for 12 h and 24 h or 100 nM Sts for 24 h. Histogram overlays were used to represent the data shown, where treated samples (red peak) were compared to untreated samples (Grey peak). B) The graphed representation of % cells with active BAX is also shown (RHS). Significantly less active BAX was detected by flow cytometry in Exn5/Exn5 cells treated with Bfa for 12 h (p=0.05) and 24 h (p= 0.026).

3.18. Altered expression of BCL-2 family proteins may attenuate cell death in Exn5/Exn5 cells.

The balance between pro-survival and pro-apoptotic BCL-2 family proteins, is known to modulate mitochondrial apoptosis (Breckenridge and Xue, 2004; Cory and Adams, 2002). In other words, if pro-apoptotic BCL-2 proteins are more highly expressed than pro-survival BCL-2 proteins they thus neutralize pro-survival proteins, BAX and BAK are free to dimerize, and form pores within the OMM. Considering that there is lower BAX activation in Exn5/Exn5 cells, we examined the levels of BCL-2 family members in WT and Exn5/Exn5 cells. There is in fact a different expression pattern of BCL-2 family proteins in Exn5/Exn5 cells, where levels of pro-survival MCL-1 and BCL-2 are prolonged to 4 h and more highly expressed respectively; and pro-apoptotic BAD is much lower while interesting BIM seems higher. There was no notable difference in the expression of BAK, BCL-xL, or BID (Figure 3.18).



Figure 3.18 Altered expression of BCL-2 family proteins may attenuate cell death in Exn5/Exn5 cells. Western blots for BCL-2 family proteins in HCT116 WT and Exn5/Exn5 cells treated with 500 ng/ml of Bfa for 2, 4, 8, 12 and 24 h. Proteins analyzed were MCL-1, BCL-2, BIM, BAD, BAK, BCL-xl, and BID. ACTIN was used as a loading control.

3.19 The expression profile of BCL-2 family member's differs between Etop and Bfa treatments

As shown, in figure 3.5 Exn5/Exn5 cells are resistant to ER stress inducers Tm and Bfa but not other cell death inducers Etop and Sts. We hypothesized that altered expression of BCL-2 family proteins in Exn5/Exn5 cells provides resistance to ER stress induced cell death. We found that BCL-2 proteins were differentially modulated in ER stress including BCL-2, MCL-1, BIM and BAD (Figure 3.18). As cells induce different stress response pathways to deal with different stresses, we hypothesized that BCL-2 family proteins would as such be differentially regulated depending on the stress response. To investigate this further, we treated HCT116 WT and Exn5/Exn5 cells with Etop for 3-36 h and analysed the levels of BCL-2 proteins. Interestingly, and agreeing with our hypothesis, Etop treatment results in a different BCL-2 expression profile in Exn5/Exn5 cells than when the same cells are treated with ER stress inducers. For instance, MCL-1 is still higher in Exn5/Exn5 cells upon Etop treatment, but BCL-2 levels are comparable between WT and Exn5/Exn5 cells, while however there are also higher of BOPs BIM BAD. levels pro-apoptotic and



Figure 3.19 The expression profile of BCL-2 family member's differs between Etop and Bfa treatments. Western blot for MCL-1, BCL-1, BIM and BAD in HCT116 WT and Exn5/Exn5 cells treated with 100 µM of Etop for 3-36 h. ACTIN was used as a loading control.

CHAPTER 4:

RESULTS CHAPTER 2

IDENTIFICATION OF ER STRESS REGULATED MIRNA

4.0 Results chapter 2

Identification of ER stress regulated miRNA

This chapter describes the investigation of miRNAs that are regulated during ER stressinduced cell death. ER stress was shown to downregulate miRNAs of the miR-17-92 cluster and its paralog cluster miR-106b-25 in three different cells lines, human breast cancer-derived cell line MCF7s, rat adrenal pheochromocytoma-derived PC12 cells and mouse cardiomyocyte-derived cell line H9C2s. miRNAs were first implicated in stress responses when AGO2 was shown to relocate from the cytoplasm into PBs upon cellular stress in a miRNA dependant fashion (Leung et al., 2006; Liu et al., 2005a). miRNAs can be regulated in response to a variety of stimuli including stress-inducing stimuli e.g. hypoxic, oxidative, temperature and inflammatory stress responses, which often leads to enhanced disease pathogenesis (Kulshreshtha et al., 2007; Leung and Sharp, 2010; Xu et al., 2012; Yin et al., 2009). Like genes, miRNA expression can be controlled through transcription factor binding, which can either enhance or deter transcription (Levine and Tjian, 2003). As a single miRNA can bind an array of mRNAs and prevent their translation, the increase or decrease in miRNA due transcription factor binding can have major consequences on the cell. Essentially, transcription factor-mediated modulation of miRNA expression can decide if the cell lives or dies (Ding et al., 2009). For example, hypoxia inducible transcription factor 1α (HIF1 α), the key transcription factor activated during hypoxia, induces several miRNAs including miR-210a, miR-210b and miR-26a (Kulshreshtha et al., 2007). Multiple stress responses activate p53 which in turn activates members of the miR-34 family resulting in cell cycle arrest and eventually apoptosis (Chang et al., 2007). More recently, it has been reported that miRNA can be directly regulated by ER stress. The miR-221-222 cluster is downregulated during ER stress and brings about apoptosis through increased p27 kip1, a cyclin dependant kinase inhibitor (Dai et al., 2010). XBP1s can induce miR-346 during the adaptive phase of ER stress to repress TAP1 (antigen peptide transporter 1), and prevents presentation of MHC class I proteins (Bartoszewski et al., 2011). NFkB activated by ER stress in HCC cells, blocked transcription of the and resulted in increased XBP1s, a direct target of miR-214 (Duan et al., 2012).

The miR-17-92 cluster which is highly oncogenic and has been designated the nickname "Oncomir-1" consists of six miRNAs (miR-17, miR-18a, miR-19a, miR-20a, miR-19b-1, and miR-92-1) on chromosome 13 that are transcribed as a single polycistronic unit (Mendell, 2008). However, it must be noted that although all miRNA of the cluster are transcribed together, the kinetics and processing efficiency of individual miRNAs from that cluster can differ. The differences in processing efficiency has recently been attributed the tertiary formation the cluster transcript adopts (Chakraborty et al., 2012). Two miR-17-92 cluster paralogs exist in mammals: the miR-106b-25 cluster which is located on human chromosome 7 and the miR-106a-363 cluster which located on the X chromosome (Tanzer and Stadler, 2004). The miR-106b-25 cluster is located intron 13 of the protein-coding gene miniature chromosome maintenance 7 (MCM7) and consists of three miRNAs, (miR-106b, miR-93, and miR-25) (Mendell, 2008). MCM7 overexpression has has been linked cancer where its function in DNA replication and cell cycle progression may function cooperatively with miR-106b-25 to enhance cancer progression (Luo, 2011). The second paralog cluster, miR-106a-363 is unlike the miR-17-92 and miR-106b-25 clusters, which are both abundantly expressed across many tissues and cell types, instead it is generally undetectable or expressed at trace levels (Ventura et al., 2008). Although the miR-17-92 and miR-106b-25 clusters have many similar targets and are considered highly tumourigenic, they have also been shown to have very separate roles especially in regards to development. For instance, several members of the miR-17 family, including miR-17-5p, miR-20a, miR-93, and miR-106a have been shown to be specifically expressed in undifferentiated or differentiating embryonic stem cells (Foshay and Gallicano, 2009). Deletion of the miR-17-92 cluster results in smaller embryos and immediate postnatal death of all animals associated severe lung hypoplasia and defective ventricular septum while deletion of the miR-106a-363 and miR-106b-25 clusters, either alone or in combination, does not result in any obvious phenotype (Ventura et al., 2008). Furthermore, loss of both miR-106b-25/miR-17-92 clusters results in embryonic death associated with severe cardiac developmental abnormalities, consisting of defective ventricular and atrial septation and thinner ventricles (Ventura et al., 2008).

In the context of carcinogenesis, amplification and overexpression of miR-106b-25/miR-17-92 cluster has been documented in B-cell lymphomas, lung cancer and gastric cancer (Mendell, 2008). The oncogenic transcription factors c-Myc and E2F3 induce the expression of the miR-17-92 cluster and E2F1 induces the expression of miR-106b-25 (Aguda et al., 2008). Inversely, p53 can repress miR-17-92 during conditions of hypoxia, which could have
implications for cancers in which p53 is deleted or mutated (Yan et al., 2009). As with all miRNAs, the individual miRNAs of the miR-17-92 cluster can potentially target hundreds of mRNAs within the cell, however in relation to cancer progression the most well characterised targets are the tumour suppressor PTEN and the pro-apoptotic BOP, BIM. In fact, high expression of miR-17-92 enhanced lymphoproliferative disease and autoimmunity in mice due to their silencing of the PTEN and BIM (Xiao et al., 2008). Furthermore, miR-17-92-mediated repression of BIM has also been shown to cause resistance to Paclitaxel in human ovarian carcinoma SKOV3-TR30 cells (Shuang et al., 2013). Although much is known regarding the biological effects of the miR-17-92 cluster, little is known about its regulation.

This study has revealed that the miRNAs of the miR-17-92 and miR-106b-25 cluster are down regulated during ER stress in a PERK-dependant manner, where NRF2 and ATF4 block their transcription. This results in upregulated BIM mRNA and protein and subsequent apoptosis. Although it has been already reported that BIM is a direct target of these miRNA, the significance of this during ER stress has never been shown. BIM above other BOPs, is a hugely important effector of ER stress-induced apoptosis (Puthalakath et al., 2007). Our results show that miRNA as important regulators of cell fate in response to ER stress and shows a novel aspect of NRF2 signalling, separating it from its role in oxidative pro-survival signalling. Deviating from its normal function in cell survival, the observations made here would suggest that NRF2 can under certain conditions, promote apoptosis.

4.1 miRNA of the miR-17-92 and miR-106b-25 cluster are downregulated during ER stress

With the aim of identifying novel miRNAs regulated during ER stress induced cell death, H9C2s where treated with Tg and Tm and a miRNA expression microarray was carried out. Several hundred miRNA where analysed and multiple members of the miR-17-92 and miR-106b-25 clusters where shown to be downregulated (Figure 4.1). These are considered highly oncogenic miRNA and so their repression was of significant interest in a model of apoptosis.



Figure 4.1 miRNA of the miR-17-92 and miR-106b-25 cluster are downregulated during ER stress. H9c2 cells treated with 1 μ M of Tg, and 1 μ g/ml of Tg for 24 h. Affymatrix Microarray was used to measure gene expression. Graph shows the expression of miRNAs of the miR-17-92 and miR-106b-25 clusters. Data represents the mean values of three independent repeats with a p- value of <0.01.

4.2 miR-106b, miR-17, miR-93 and miR-25 are downregulated during ER stress

To further investigate this observation and validate results seen in (Figure 4.1), H9c2 cells were treated with Tg and Tm and miRNA QRT-PCR was carried out. Of the miRNAs downregulated in the microarray, miR-106b, miR-17, miR-93 and miR-25 were validated to be downregulated in H9c2 cells upon ER stress (Figure 4.2 A). To determine if this observation was cell type specific or not, PC12 cells were treated with Tg and Tm and again the expression of miR-106b, miR-17, miR-93 and miR-25 was checked via QRT-PCR. All four miRNA were again validated to be downregulated during ER stress (Figure 4.2 B). It has been shown that DICER is specifically cleaved by caspase-3 at two sites STTD1476 and

CGVD1538 within the RNase IIIa domain during apoptosis. Caspase-3-mediated cleavage of DICER during apoptosis reduces its catalytic activity, and reduces the production of mature miRNAs. However, no cleavage of DICER was observed in caspase-3-deficient, MCF-7 cells (Nakagawa et al., 2010). Therefore to exclude the possibility that reduced levels of miR-106b, miR-17, miR-93 and miR-25 observed during conditions of ER stress is due to the proteolytic inactivation of DICER levels of miR-106b, miR-17, miR-93 and miR-25 observed during with previous results miR-106b, miR-17, miR-93 and miR-25 were analysed. Agreeing with previous results miR-106b, miR-17, miR-93 and miR-25 were downregulated during ER stress (Figure 4.2 C). All of the above findings suggest that repression of these miRNA is not isolated to a particular disease model but a more general ER stress-related phenomenon. Furthermore as MCF7 cells are a human-derrived cell line, this indicates that our observations are evolutionary conserved.

4.3 The miR-17-92 promotor is responsive to ER stress

To understand how these miRNA are regulated by ER stress, a PGL4-reporter construct carrying the full length promotor of the miR-17-92 cluster, cloned at the 5' site of the luciferase gene (PGL4-miR-17-92-FL) was used. See schematic of PGL4-miR-17-92-FL (Figure 4.3 A). The reporter was confirmed to be responsive to Tg and Tm in MCF7 cells where low luciferase activity was detected while treatment with H202 did not lead to a decrease in luciferase activity (Figure 4.3 B). This suggested that decreased expression of miRNAs of this cluster occurs at the transcriptional level.





A) QRT-PCR for miRNAs miR-106b, miR-17, miR-93, and miR-25 in H9c2 cells treated with 1 μ M of Tg, and 1 μ g/ ml of Tm for 24 h. B) QRT-PCR for miRNAs miR-106b, miR-17, miR-93, and miR-25 in PC12 cells treated with 0.25 μ M of Tg and 2 μ g/ml of Tm for 24 h. C) QRT-PCR for miRNAs miR-106b, miR-17, miR-93, and miR-25 in MCF7 cells treated with 2 μ M of Tg and 2 μ g/ml of Tm for 24 h. Each sample was loaded in triplicate and normalised to Sn U6 or Sno RNA. Error bars represent the SEM between three independent experiments.



Figure 4.3 The miR-17-92 promotor is responsive to ER stress. A) Schematic representation of the miR-17-92 full length (FL) promoter construct, depicting previously reported transcription factor binding sites, such as AML, p53, E2F, and Myc. B) MCF7 cells transfected with 17-92 FL and Renilla luciferase, 24 h post-transfection cells were treated with 2.0 μ M Tg, 2.0 μ g/ml Tm or 600 μ M H2O2 for 24 h. Promotor activity was assessed using a luciferase assay where firefly luciferase activity was

4.4 Repression of the miR-17-92 cluster is dependent on PERK

To determine what arm of the UPR is responsible for repression of the miR-17-92 cluster, MCF7 cells were co-transfected with the miR-17-92 promotor construct, PERK cDNA, IRE1 α cDNA, PERK (K618A), a dominant-negative PERK mutant that blocks transphosphorylation and activation of the PERK kinase or IRE1 α Δ C, a dominant-negative IRE1 mutant containing the lumenal and transmembrane domains but lacking the cytosolic effector domains. Of these only the dominant negative of PERK (K618A) blocked ER stress-induced repression of the miR-17-92 FL reporter (Figure 4.2 B). This demonstrates that repression of these miRNA is dependent on the PERK arm of the UPR.

🔳 Unt 🗆 Tg 🛛 Tm



4.4 Repression of the miR-17-92 cluster is dependent on PERK. MCF7 cells co-tranfected with 17-92 FL, Renilla and either pcDNA 3.1, WT PERK or K618A dominant negative PERK plasmids. 24 h post-transfection cells were treated with 2.0 μ M Tg, or 2.0 μ g/ml Tm for 24 h. Promotor activity was assessed using a luciferase assay where firefly luciferase activity was normalized to Renilla luciferase. Error bars represent the SEM of three independent repeats performed in duplicate.

4.5 The miR-17-92 promotor is responsive to overexpression of ATF4 or NRF2

As described, the UPR induces a massive transcriptional response to deal with the unfolded protein burden in the ER, and genes required for chaperoning, folding, and ERAD are activated as a result. As miRNA can be transcriptionally regulated by transcription factors, and we have shown that repression is mediated through PERK, PERK regulated transcription factors NRF2, ATF4 and CHOP were investigated as mediators of miR-17-92 repression. Again the miR-17-92 FL reporter was co-transfected with NRF2, ATF4 and CHOP expression vectors into MCF7 cells. Both NRF2 and ATF4 could reduce the activity of the promoter but CHOP could not (Figure 4.5).



4.5 The miR-17-92 promotor is responsive to overexpression of ATF4 or NRF2.

MCF7 cells co-transfected with miR-17-92 FL luciferase reporter, Renilla luciferase and either pcDNA 3.1 CTRL, ATF4, NRF2 or CHOP. 48 h post-transfection a luciferase assay was carried out where firefly luciferase activity was normalized to Renilla luciferase. Error bars represent the SEM of three independent repeats performed in duplicate.

4.6 Overexpression of NRF2 and ATF4 can downregulate miRNA of the miR-17-92 cluster

Furthermore, overexpression of NRF2 and ATF4 for 24 h and 48 h decreased the expression of individual miRNA of the miR-17-92 cluster, including miR-106b, miR-17, miR-25, miR-93, miR-18a, miR-20a, as detected by miRNA QRT-PCR (Figure 4.3 B). This shows that the miR-17-92 miRNAs are downregulated in response to ER stress via PERK-NRF2-ATF4 signalling.



Figure 4.6 Overexpression of NRF2 and ATF4 can downregulate miRNA of the miR-17-92 cluster. A) miRNA QRT-PCR for miR-106b, miR-17, miR-25, miR-93, miR-18a, miR-20a in MCF7 cells were transfected with ATF4 for 24 h and 48 h and normalised against Sn U6 RNA. B) miRNA QRT-PCR for miR-106b, miR-17, miR-25, miR-93, miR-18a, miR-20a in MCF7 cells were transfected with NRF2 for 24 h and 48 h and normalised against Sn U6 RNA. Error bars represent SEM from three independent experiments performed in triplicate

4.7 Identification of NRF2 and ATF4 responsive regions on the miR-17-92 promotor

To determine the region on the miR-17-92 promotor that is responsive to NRF2 and ATF4, short promotor constructs corresponding to different regions of the full length promotor where used. A schematic illustrates the full length promotor (17-92 FL) as well as the three short promotors (17-92/1, 17-92, and 230) and where they are found in relation to the full length promotor (Figure 4.7 A). In MCF7 cells all four promotor constructs showed decreased activity in response to ER stress-induced by Tg and Tm for 24 h and agreeing with earlier data all four constructs were downregulated via overexpression of NRF2 and ATF4 (Figure 4.7 B). This would suggest that the miR-17-92 cluster can be regulated at two different sites in on its promotor, one located on the "17-92" region and another on the "230" region. This also suggests that interaction of NRF2 and ATF4 on only one of these sites is required for the repression of the cluster.

4.8 There is direct recruitment of NRF2 on the miR-17-92 promotor

In an attempt to show that NRF2 and ATF4 directly regulate the miR-17-92 cluster at sites within the 17-92 or 230 region of the promotor, the online software genomatix was used to identify possible binding sites for NRF2 or ATF4 within these regions. Interestingly two consensus sites where identified for NRF2, one (GTCGGAAGTA) located from -82 to -73 bp and the other (CACTTCCAGT) located from +2699 to + 2708 bp on the promotor. These sites were then termed, Site 1 (within 17-92 region) and Site 2 (within 230 region). To show that these were in fact the sites at which NRF2 could bind, site directed mutagenesis was used to separately mutate these sites on the 17-92 or 230 promotor constructs. Sequence analysis was used to confirm that the sites were indeed mutated. However, when luciferase assays were done with wt and mutant (mt) promotor constructs, the activity was still repressed upon ER stress and overexpression of NRF2 and ATF4 (Figure 4.8 A). When less stringent analysis of possible NRF2 binding sites was carried, several other possible sites were identified, which may explain why mutagenesis of site 1 and site 2 had no effect. To prove the interaction

between NRF2, ATF4 and the miR-17-92 promotor, a ChIP assay was done, in which NRF2 and ATF4 were overexpressed, and were immunoprecipitated, PCR for site 2 carried out on DNA pulled down with either protein. Direct binding could be seen with NRF2 but not ATF4. Although interaction between ATF4 and known target CHOP could be seen. This suggests that NRF2 is sufficient for miR-17-92 repression. However we have already shown that overexpression of ATF4 alone can repress the cluster. NRF2 and ATF4 have previously been shown to heterodimerize and bind to an StRE in the HO-1 gene to regulate its expression (He et al., 2001), and more recently it was reported that ATF4 requires NRF2 for its transcriptional activation (Miyamoto et al., 2011). Therefore it is possible that overexpression. This has previously been seen for the activation of HO-1. Binding with RNA pol III was used as a positive control and IgG was used as a negative control. Furthermore the known target of NRF2, HO-1 was detected by PCR in the appropriate pull down and serves as an extra positive control (Figure 4.8 B).



Figure 4.7 Identification of NRF2 and ATF4 responsive regions on the miR-17-92 promotor. A) Schematic representation of the miR-17-92 full length (FL) promoter construct, and the corresponding shortened promotor constructs (17-92/1, 17-92 and 230). B) MCF7 cells were transfected with one of the four reporter constructs and Renilla luciferase. 24 h post transfection, cells were treated with 2.0 μ M Tg, or 2.0 μ g/ml Tm for 24 h. Promotor activity was assessed using a luciferase assay where firefly luciferase activity was normalized to Renilla luciferase. C) MCF7 cells were co- transfected with one of the four reporter constructs, Renilla luciferase and either pcDNA 3.1, ATF4 and NRF2 plasmids. 24 h post transfection, promotor activity was assessed using a luciferase. Error bars represent the SEM of three independent repeats performed in duplicate.



Figure 4.8 There is direct recruitment of NRF2 on the miR-17-92 promotor. A) MCF7 cells were co- transfected with one of the four reporter constructs, Renilla luciferase and either pcDNA 3.1, ATF4 and NRF2 plasmids. 24 h post transfection, promotor activity was assessed using a luciferase assay where firefly luciferase activity was normalized to Renilla luciferase. Error bars represent the SEM of three independent repeats performed in duplicate. B) ChIP assay for Site 2 on DNA associated to ATF4 or NRF2 in MCF7 cells co- transfected with ATF4 and NRF2 plasmids. RNA pol II and IgG were used as positive and negative controls respectively. CHOP and HO-1 also served as positive controls for ATF4 and NRF2 ChIPs respectively.

4.9 ER stress leads to increased expression of BIM

To examine the functional significance of the repression of the miR-17-92 or 106b-25 clusters, during ER stress, the levels of BH3 only protein BIM, a known target of miRNA from these clusters and previously been reported to be important for ER stress-induced cell death; was investigated. Firstly Mrna level of Bim and the host gene of the miR-106b-25 cluster were checked via QRT-PCR of MCF7 cells treated with Tg and Tm for 24 h. Interesting the host gene decreased with ER stress, while BIM levels increased, suggesting a correlation in the two observations (Figure 4.9 A). Next, to show BIM is directly regulated by miRNA of the cluster, a psiCHECK luciferase construct, carrying the 3'UTR of BIM which contains the putative binding sites for the miR-17-92 cluster miRNAs (WT_BIM UTR) was used. Similarly, the same construct in which the miR-17-92 binding sites were abolished was used as a control (MT_BIM UTR). Upon ER stress there is increased activity of the WT_BIM UTR but not the MT_BIM UTR, showing mutation of these sites abolishes the regulation of BIM through these miRNA. Treatment with Etop and H2O2 had no significant effect on the WT_BIM UTR suggesting this effect may be specific to ER stress responses (Figure 4.9 B).



Figure 4.9 ER stress leads to increased expression of BIM. A) MCF7 cells treated with 2.0 μ M Tg and 2.0 μ g/ml Tm for 24 h. QRT-PCR for BIM and MCM-7 was carried out and normalized to GAPDH. B) MCF7 cells transfected with WT/MT_BIM 3' UTR. 24 h post transfection, cells were treated with 2.0 μ M Tg and 2.0 μ g/ml Tm for 24 h. promotor activity was assessed using a Renilla luciferase assay where firefly luciferase activity was normalized to Firefly luciferase.

4.10 Forced expression of miR-17-92 reduces ER stress-mediated increase in BIM

Up to this point all data suggested that ER stress leads to repression of the miR-17-92 or 106b-25 cluster miRNAs, which in turn leads to an increase in BIM levels. To investigate this further MCF7 cells were transfected with empty vector PCXN2 (EV) or PCXN2 miR-17-92 (miR-17-92) and treated with 2.0 μ M of Tg for 24 h. BIM protein levels were detected by western blotting, where it increased with ER stress in EV cells while the increase was greatly reduced in miR-17-92 cells (Figure 4.10). Previously it has been reported that CHOP can upregulate BIM. Therefore, CHOP levels were compared between EV and miR-17-92 cells, where no notable difference was observed. These results indicate that changes in BIM are not due to changes in CHOP, but as a result of miR-17-92 overexpression.



Figure 4.10 Forced expression of miR-17-92 reduces ER stress-mediated increase in BIM. Western blot for BIM and CHOP in PC12 cells transfected with EV or miR-17-92 plasmids, 24 h post transfection cells were treated with 2.0 μ M Tg and 2.0 μ g/ml Tm for 24 h. ACTIN was used as a loading control. Please note the results shown in this figure were generated by Dr. Ayswaria Deepti.

4.11 Forced expression of miR-17-92 reduces ER stress induced cell death

BIM has been reported to be an important mediator of ER stress induced cell death. As such we hypothesised that deterring the induction of BIM during ER stress via forced expression of miR-17-92 may also deter ER stress-induced cell death. To examine our hypothesis, MCF7 cells were transfected with EV or miR-17-92 overexpression plasmids, 24 h post transfection, cells were treated with Tg and Tm. Cell viability was accessed using a β -Galactosidase activity assay and as expected ectopic expression of miR-17-92 enhanced resistance to ER stress-induced cell death.



Figure 4.11 Forced expression of miR-17-92 reduces ER stress induced cell death. B-Galactosidase activity assay was used to measure % cell viability in MCF7 cells were transfected with EV or miR-17-92 plasmids, and treated with 2.0 μ M Tg and 2.0 μ g/ml Tm for 24 h.

4.12 ER stress-mediated increase in BIM is PERK-NRF2-ATF4 dependant

As shown in Figure 4.4, repression of the miR-17-92 cluster is PERK dependant. Therefore it was necessary to show that increase in BIM was also dependant on PERK signalling. To examine this, MCF7 cells were co-transfected with the WT_BIM 3' UTR and either pcDNA 3.1, WT PERK, PERK K618A, WT IRE1 or ΔC IRE1. Cells were treated with Tg and Tm for 24 h and a luciferase assay was used to assess changes in the UTR activity. Dominant negative IRE1 (Δ C IRE1) showed no difference to BIM 3' UTR activity, however, the dominant negative PERK (K618A PERK) showed significant decrease in UTR activity, showing that PERK is required for ER stress mediated BIM upregulation (Figure 4.12 A). Next the effects of ectopic expression of ATF4 and NRF2 on BIM were investigated. MCF7 cells were then transfected with ATF4 and NRF2 and QRT-PCR for CHOP, BIM and MCM7 carried out. Again increased BIM mRNA was seen as MCM7 decreased while no change in CHOP levels were observed. GAPDH was used to normalize (Figure 4.12 B). The Protein level of BIM was also analysed blotting following overexpression NRF2 ATF4 via western of and and again an increase in BIM was observed (Figure 4.12 C)



Figure 4.12 ER stress-mediated increase in BIM is PERK-NRF2-ATF4 dependant. A) MCF7 cells were co-transfected with WT_BIM UTR and either pcDNA 3.1, WT PERK, K618A PERK, WT IRE1 or ΔC IRE1 plasmids. 24 h post transfection, cells were treated with 2.0 µM Tg and 2.0 µg/mI Tm for 24 h. To assess UTR activity, Renilla Luciferase assay was carried out and normalized to firefly luciferase. B) MCF7 cells were transfected with either ATF4 or NRF2 or pcDNA 3.1 as CTRL. 24 h post transfection RNA was isolated. QRT-PCR was used to determine mRNA levels of CHOP, BIM and MCM-7. C) (To be inserted) MCF7 cells were transfected with either ATF4 or NRF2 or pcDNA 3.1 as CTRL. 24 h post transfected with either ATF4 or NRF2 or pcDNA 3.1 as CTRL. 24 h post transfected with either ATF4 or NRF2 or pcDNA 3.1 as CTRL. 24 h post transfected with either ATF4 or NRF2 or pcDNA 3.1 as CTRL. 24 h post transfected with either ATF4 or NRF2 or pcDNA 3.1 as CTRL. 24 h post transfected with either ATF4 or NRF2 or pcDNA 3.1 as CTRL. 24 h post transfected with either ATF4 or NRF2 or pcDNA 3.1 as CTRL. 24 h post transfection cells were lysed and western blotting was used to determine protein level of BIM. ACTIN was used as a loading control.

DISCUSSION

CHAPTER 5:

5.0 DISCUSSION

The work in this thesis illustrates an important role for miRNAs during ER stress induced cell death. Two approaches were taken in this investigation. The first has been described in chapter 3 were global miRNA levels were compromised and the effects of such during ER stress induced cell death examined. The second study as detailed in chapter 4 involved a candidate approach were changes in miRNA expression patterns during ER stress induced cell death were investigated. Below the significance of the finding of both chapters are discussed individually.

5.1 Loss of DICER confers resistance to ER stress induced cell death

This study shows that, a functional miRNA biogenesis pathway is required for efficient induction of ER stress-mediated apoptosis. Three model systems in which miRNA biogenesis was compromised were used, DICER hypomorphic (Exn5/Exn5) cells, DICER knockdown cells and DROSHA knockdown cells, all of which were resistant to ER stress induced cell death. Further investigation of the UPR response showed there was no major difference in the expression of typical markers of the UPR. However, the intrinsic apoptotic pathway was delayed in these cells upstream of the mitochondria due to altered expression of the BCL-2 family proteins.

In preparation for microarray analysis of gene expression during ER stress induced cell death, dose response treatments of 0-5 μ g/ml Tm and Bfa were carried out on HCT116 cells (Figure 3.1) and a subsequent dose of 0.5 μ g/ml was chosen because we were looking for the lowest dose that induced ~ 50% cell death. With the aim of identifying novel proteins involved in ER stress induced cell death via microarray analysis, an increased expression in several genes associated with microarray biogenesis was observed (Figure 3.2). DICER expression has previously been reported to be differentially expressed by different cell stress inducing agents (Asada et al., 2008; Wiesen and Tomasi, 2009). The modulation of multiple components of the biogenesis pathway during cellular stress however has not. This immediately suggested that miRNA could be important during ER stress induced cell death. The functional significance of this was investigated using colorectoral cancer cell lines, RKO and HCT116

made hypomorphic for DICER (Exn5/Exn5) (Calin and Croce, 2006)where levels of mature miRNA are severely compromised (Figure 3.3 a&b). When exposed to increasing doses of Tm and Bfa treatments, HCT116 and RKO Exn5/Exn5 cells were resistant to ER stress induced apoptosis even at the highest dose of 5 µg/ml of each compound (Figure 3.4). Although loss of miRNA biogenesis provided resistance to ER stress induced cell death, it only provided a maximum protection of ~10% to the same cells (HCT116 and RKO Exn5/Exn5) treated with Etop and Sts (Figure 3.5). This may be explained by the fact that cells can respond differently to different stress stimuli and DICER expression or indeed the expression of individual miRNA does not always correlate with enhanced survival even in the same cell type. The fact that DICER or miRNA expression can promote or deter survival depending on cell type or stimulus, suggests that each stimulus induces its own stress response, with each response regulating a different arsenal of miRNA or indeed reducing certain miRNA to fine-tune gene expression and thus determine the cells fate.

In HCT116 cells DICER was independently knocked down and levels of mature miRNA compromised (Figure 3.6). Again by compromising miRNA expression, ER stress induced cell death was attenuated (Figure 3.7). The upstream component of the miRNA biogenesis pathway, DROSHA was also knocked down and the expression of miRNA compromised (Figure 3.8). As with DICER compromised cells this model was also resistant to ER stress induced cell death (Figure 3.9). Thus resistance to ER stress is not restricted to disruption of DICER results from loss of mature miRNA. These findings have relevance to cancers where miRNAs are increasingly being implicated in disease pathogenesis, also where DICER and other components of the miRNA biogenesis machinery are reported to have altered expression. Loss of DICER is associated with increased tumourigenicity and with poor patient prognosis in several cancers (Kumar et al., 2007; Sand et al., 2010; Wu et al., 2012a; Zhu et al., 2012a). More importantly for the present study, down-regulation of DICER has been observed in tissue samples from patients with colorectal cancer. Low DICER expression is more common in advanced, high grade tumours and is associated with low patient survival (Faggad et al., 2012). How loss of miRNAs promotes tumour development is not clearly understood. Following initiation of malignancy, poor vascularisation of the tumour mass leads to stressful conditions in the tumour microenvironment, including low oxygen supply, nutrient deprivation and pH changes. These conditions activate a range of cellular stress-response pathways, including the UPR (Lorusso and Ruegg, 2008). At present it is unclear how cancer

cells adapt to long-term ER stress whether the protective elements of the response are enhanced, or the destructive components suppressed. On the basis of our results showing that loss of miRNA biogenesis abrogates ER stress-induced apoptosis we speculate that one mechanism by which the down-regulation of miRNA biogenesis contributes to increased tumourigenesis is by inhibiting ER stress-induced apoptosis under stressful conditions in the tumour microenvironment.

However, it is important to note that loss of DICER is not always associated with enhanced cancer cell survival or resistance to cell death. Some cancers have high DICER expression and this correlates with increased cancer proliferation and metastasis (Ma et al., 2011; Noh et al., 2011; Stratmann et al., 2011). Inactivation of DICER has been associated with increased apoptosis where TNFα and PKC inhibitors result in caspase-3-mediated cleavage of DICER, which disrupts its miRNA processing function and enhanced cell death of Hela cells (Ghodgaonkar et al., 2009; Matskevich and Moelling, 2008). The exact mechanism of how disruption of DICER leads to apoptosis, is yet unknown in mammals. One report in *C. elegans* showed DCR-1 was cleaved by CED-3 disrupting its miRNA processing function, and converting DCR-1 to a DNase that produced 3'hydroxyl DNA breaks i.e. DNA fragmentation and subsequent apoptosis (Nakagawa et al., 2010) All of this suggests that levels of global miRNA expression can be specific to the type of cell, disease or stress stimuli and indicates the importance of uncovering the implications or the mechanisms of such, under different conditions.

The fact that loss of miRNA conferred resistance to ER stress but not other compounds, suggested that the mechanism of resistance must be specific to the signalling induced by ER stress. As the UPR is activated during ER stress but not by other cell death inducers, we hypothesized that miRNAs could be important for UPR signalling and that lack of miRNAs may compromise these pathways to enhance survival. Gene expression analysis via microarray and QRT-PCR revealed lower expression of pro-apoptotic proteins PERK, CHOP and NOXA in Exn5/Exn5 cells (Figure 3.10). We had speculated that if the altered expression of these genes followed through to the protein level then, they would be good candidates to explain the resistant phenotype of Exn5/Exn5 cells. However, analysis of these molecules at protein level as well as other known markers of the UPR showed no difference in expression

compared to WT cells (Figure 3.11), indicating that the UPR proceeds as normal in the absence of miRNA.

Of the markers of the UPR examined at protein level, one protein did appear to have altered expression, and that was XBP1s. Surprisingly levels of XBP1s were consistently lower in Exn5/Exn5 (Figure 3.12). Prolonged splicing of XBP1 is associated with enhanced survival of cancer cells (Bagratuni et al., 2010) and has previously been reported to protect against ER stress (Gupta et al., 2010), so the lower levels we have observed in cells that are resistant to ER stress induced cell death was surprising. However there was a report by the Hetz group, were XBP1 deficiency in the nervous system could protect against the ER stress associated disease amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS). Loss of XBP1 essentially compromises the induction of ERAD, a pathway that directs proteins from the ER to the proteosome for degradation. Subsequent accumulation of misfolded proteins at the ER activates autophagy to deal with the burden of misfolded proteins to enhance cell survival (Hetz et al., 2009). To investigate if lower XBP1s levels in our model could be protective, we used an inhibitor of IRE1, MKC4485, which specifically blocks the RNase function of IRE1 to block splicing of XBP1 in HCT116 WT and Exn5/Exn5 cells. We postulated that if loss of XBP1 had a protective role in Exn5/Exn5 cells, then blocking splicing in WT cells would confer resistance to WT cells. Although the inhibitor could block XBP1 splicing (Figure 3.13 A), it had no effect on cell viability in HCT116 WT cells (Figure 3. 13 B). Although lower XBP1 splicing is not important for resistance in this model, the lower levels still suggested that IRE1 signalling may still be compromised. IRE1/TRAF2/ASK1 signalling is known to phosphorylate and activate JNK1/2 to promote apoptosis (Urano et al., 2000a). This lead us to hypothesis that perhaps JNK1/2 are important for ER stress induced cell death in our model and that if IRE1 signalling was somehow compromised in Exn5/Exn5 cells so too would be JNK induced cell death. However, there was no difference in the level of total and phospho- JNK1/2 between WT and Exn5/Exn5, ultimately ruling out a role for IRE1 signalling in the resistance of Exn5/Exn5 cells to ER stress induced cell death Figure 3.15).

Since components of the UPR did not appear to be compromised in Exn5/Exn5 cells, we next sought to examine the main intrinsic apoptotic pathway. The intrinsic pathway revolves around the state the OMM (Elmore, 2007). If this is compromised, i.e. by loss of OMM potential or if

the OMM becomes permeabilized is indicative of activation of apoptosis. (Figure 3.16) shows that in Exn5/Exn5 cell that are resistant to ER stress induced cell death, retain TMRE positive staining indicating that they retain their OMM potential in response to treatment while WT cells show a much greater loss of TMRE staining (Figure 3.17). Although more of a readout of % of cell undergoing apoptosis, the difference in OMM potential between WT and Exn5/Exn5 cells also suggested that the intrinsic pathway may be compromised upstream of the mitochondria. Translocation of BAX is associated with changes in mitochondrial integrity because it form pores in the OMM along with BAK, permeabilizing the OMM and releasing pro-apoptotic factors into the cytoplasm (Leber et al., 2007). To determine if resistance was in fact provided upstream of the mitochondria, an antibody that only detects the active conformation of BAX (6A7) was used to determine the levels of active BAX in WT and Exn5/Exn5 cells via flow cytometry. As hypothesised there was less active BAX in Exn5/Exn5 cells (Figure 3.18), supporting the idea that resistance to ER stress in this model occurs upstream of the mitochondria.

Translocation of BAX is under the control of other BCL-2 family members, where the balance between pro-survival and pro-apoptotic proteins is a deciding factor where higher levels of pro-apoptotic protein can neutralize pro-survival proteins, allowing freedom of BAX and its translocation to the OMM (Cory and Adams, 2002). Due to lower levels of active BAX in Exn5/Exn5 cells we next examined if levels of BCL-2 family members could explain differences in BAX levels and discovered that there was differential expression of these proteins between WT and Exn5/Exn5 cells. Of particular interest, pro-survival BCL-2 and MCL-1 are higher and prolonged in these cells respectively, while pro-apoptotic BAD decreased during ER stress in Exn5/Exn5. Surprisingly, there were quite high levels of proapoptotic BIM in Exn5/Exn5 cells even though these cells are resistant to cell death (Figure 3.19). Many reports describing the regulation of miRNA during apoptosis, indirectly show that such regulation occurs upstream of the mitochondria at the level of the BCL-2 family proteins. The BH3 only protein BIM can be targeted by miR-17-92, while miR-221-222 can target both BIM and PUMA. miR-29 can target multiple BH3 only proteins as well as nuclear specific N-BAK. miR-15a-16-1 can downregulate BCL-2 while MCL-1 can be repressed by miR-29 and miR-15a-16-1 (Cawley et al., 2012; Lynam-Lennon et al., 2009). This study shows that loss of DICER and thus mature miRNA results in dramatic differences in the expression patterns of certain BCL-2 family members. Global loss of mature miRNA in this model means that the

miRNA mentioned above cannot be induced to repress BCL-2, MCL-1 or BIM which may explain the elevated levels in response to stress. BCL-2 family proteins are thought to act as a rheostat with pro- and anti- apoptotic members competing with each other to either promote or block apoptosis. Our results suggest that loss of DICER causes higher levels of pro-survival BCL-2 and MCL-1 that may neutralise pro-apoptotic BH3 only proteins in response to ER stress, delay mitochondrial apoptosis and thus, enhance survival. BIM is conventionally a pro-apoptotic protein and is an important inducer of ER stress induced cell death (Puthalakath et al., 2007). Therefore, a high level of BIM in a model resistant to ER stress does raise questions as to why these cells are not dying. The rheostat model proposed above can further be supported by the study carried out by the Chandra group which reported higher BIM expression in prostate and breast cancer but BIM was phosphorylated at serine 69 and serine 87, which are thought to neutralize the apoptotic function of BIM, furthermore, BIM was sequestered by pro-survival BCL-xL and MCL-1 (Gogada et al., 2012).

Since it is the main apoptotic pathway that is altered in Exn5/Exn5 cells, then the same cells should technically be resistant to other inducers of apoptosis but this was not the case. We hypothesised that, BCL-2 family proteins are modulated differently in response to different stimuli. To investigate this, the levels of the BCL-2 family proteins in HCT116 WT and Exn5/Exn5 treated with Etop were examined and indeed levels of BCL-2 family members differed upon Etop treatment. Although levels of MCL-1 seem to increase there appears to be no change in BCL-2 or BAD. Yet again however, levels of BIM were higher. Perhaps in Etop treatment high MCL-1 alone is not enough to block the BIM/BAD-mediated cell death. Increased expression of these BCL-2 and MCL-1, is often seen in cancers and is known to provide resistance to therapy (Campbell et al., 2010; Higashiyama et al., 1996; Karakas et al., 1998; Real et al., 2002; Wuilleme-Toumi et al., 2005), this may explain why Exn5/Exn5 cells are more specifically resistant to ER stress-induced cell death and not death induced by Etop or Sts. It would be interesting to look at human cancer samples for correlation between DICER expression, tumour progression and levels of BCL-2 family proteins. It may be possible that cancers with low DICER, and enhanced tumourigenesis could have altered BCL-2 family expression to enhance survival.

5.2 Identification of ER stress regulated miRNA

This study shows that miRNAs belonging to the miR-17-92 cluster have a pivotal role in the UPR. The expression of these miRNAs is markedly downregulated during ER stress conditions. The repression of miR-17-92 cluster during ER stress is dependent on PERK signaling. Furthermore, our results show that miR-17-92 cluster is a novel target for ATF4 and NRF2-mediated transcriptional repression under conditions of ER stress. Ectopic expression of ATF4 or NRF2 can lead to a decrease in levels of mature miRNAs belonging to miR-17-92 cluster as well as reduction in miR-17-92 promoter reporter activity. Their functional role during ER stress was demonstrated by overexpression experiments – an increased level of members of miR-17-92 cluster inhibits ER stress- induced apoptosis by repressing BIM.

In a bid to determine novel miRNAs regulated during ER stress induced cell death, a candidate approach was taken where microRNA microarray analysis was carried out on cells treated with Tm and Tg. This revealed that miRNAs of the miR-17-92 and miR-106b-25 cluster were downregulated during ER stress (Figure 4.1) which was validated by QRT-PCR again showing that miR-106b, -17, -93 and -25 are downregulated, upon ER stress in H9c2, PC12 and MCF7 cell lines (Figure 4.2). The miR-17-92 and miR-106b-25 clusters are considered as oncogenic clusters with miR-17-92 even being "nicknamed" oncomiR-1 and they are often highly expressed to promote cancer progression (Hayashita et al., 2005; van Haaften and Agami, 2010). The miR-17-92 cluster consists of 6 individual miRNAs miR-17, miR-18a, miR-19a, miR-20a, miR-19b-1, and miR-92-1 while the miR-106b-25 cluster consists of three individual miRNAs miR-106b, miR-93 and miR-25. Therefore one transcriptional event can produce several miRNAs at once, and any one of these miRNAs can have hundreds of potential targets, suppression of which generally promotes cancer survival. Some of well characterised targets of these clusters include the tumour suppressor PTEN, the cell cycle checkpoint regulator p21 and the pro-apototic proteins BIM and E2F1 whose repression allows cancer cells to procedd through the cell cycle, increase proliferation, and by-pass apoptosis to enhance survival (Ivanovska et al., 2008; O'Donnell et al., 2005; Ventura et al., 2008) These miRNAs are thought to work separately and also in a coordinated effort to enhance their oncogenic potential (Olive et al., 2010). For instance miR-18a is highly expressed in nasopharyngeal carcinoma (NPC) and can enhance tumourigenesis by repressing DICER, which subsequently effects global miRNA expression and increases oncogenic and EMT associated genes (Luo et al., 2012). miR-19 overexpression alone is enough to block apoptosis to enhance c-myc lymphomagenesis (Olive et al., 2009) while overexpression of miR-17 alone has an opposite role to that of the full cluster, where it has been reported to limit cell adhesion, migration and proliferation in mice (Shan et al., 2009), suggesting that the individual members may be in delicate balance with each other to control cell survival. Therefore their repression during ER stress suggested they may be important in the regulation of cell fate decisions.

To understand how these miRNA are regulated during ER stress, a luciferase construct carrying the miR-17-92 promotor (Figure 4.3 A) was used. Increased luciferase activity was detected during ER stress but not H₂O₂ (Figure 4.3 B) treatment suggesting that these miRNA are directly regulated by ER stress signalling events. Repression of this cluster was shown to be dependent on PERK signalling where dominant negative PERK overexpression restored luciferase activity (Figure 4.3 C). PERK is known to activate several transcription factors to control UPR responses (Szegezdi et al., 2006) and miRNA can be transcriptional regulated by transcription factors (Breving and Esquela-Kerscher, 2009), thus we investigated PERK regulated transcription factors in the control of this cluster. While overexpression of CHOP had no effect on the cluster expression, overexpression of both ATF4 and NRF2 could repress the cluster (Figure 4.4). Further to this overexpression of NRF2 or ATF4 reduces the levels of individual miRNAs of the cluster (Figure 4.5). We also determined two regions within the miR-17-92 cluster that were responsive to ER stress and overexpression of ATF4 or NRF2 (Figure 4.6) however mutation of predicted binding sites for NRF2 within these regions did not restore promoter expression (Figure 4.7) but we did confirm direct recruitment between ATF4 or NRF2 and the miR-17-92 promotor within the 17-92 region (Figure 4.8). On the basis of bioinformatic analysis, we hypothesized that the functional effects of miR-17-92 cluster may be mediated by BIM. True to the prediction, BIM mRNA increased upon ER stress treatment, while expression the host gene of the miR-106b-25 cluster decreased. During ER stress activity of the 3' UTR for BIM carrying sites for the miR-17-92 cluster increased but other treatments such as H₂O₂ and Etop had no effect on its activity. However when binding sites for the miR-17-92 cluster were abolished UTR activity remained unchanged (Figure 4.9), again suggesting repression of the miR-17-92 cluster and subsequent increase in BIM is specific to ER stress and that BIM translation is increased during ER stress and is dependent

on presence of functional binding sites for members of miR-17-92 cluster in its 3' UTR. As with repression of the cluster, increased activity of the BIM 3' UTR is dependant in PERK and overexpression of NRF2 and/or ATF4 could upregulate BIM mRNA with this increase following through to the protein level (Figure 4.10). Forced expression of the miR-17-92 could abolish ER stress-mediated induction of BIM and increase cell viability by ~ 20% further confirming that downregulation of the miR-17-92 cluster during ER stress is important for ER stress-BIM-mediated apoptosis (Figure 4.11). BIM is essential for ER stress-induced apoptosis in a broad range of cell types, including thymocytes, macrophages and epithelial cells. We also observed a good correlation between induction of BIM and ER stress-induced apoptosis, further confirming the role for BIM in ER stress induced apoptosis. Although the role of BIM in ER stress induced apoptosis has been elucidated, our study provides a novel mechanism to how BIM can be regulated during ER stress since previously little was known about the control of its expression by miRNAs in cell death.

As mentioned, transcription factors, ATF4 and NRF2 are activated during ER stress in a PERK-dependent manner (Cullinan et al., 2003; Wek et al., 2006). In general NRF2 is associated with activation phase II antioxidant induction, preventing accumulation of ROS helping cells recover from stress or in cancer often enhancing unfavourable survival of cancer cells (Sporn and Liby, 2012). ATF4 has a double sided role in cell fate decisions, initially promoting survival through enhancing expression of pro-survival genes such as those needed for amino acid metabolism, and then inducing pro-apoptotic associated protein CHOP (Szegezdi et al., 2006). Similar to NRF2, ATF4 expression has been implicated in cancer in particularly in the hypoxic tumour environment (Blais et al., 2004; Horiguchi et al., 2012). However this study illuminates a novel role for NRF2 in promoting cell death. This leads to the question, what is the biological significance of transcriptional repression of miR-17-92 cluster by ATF4 and NRF2? Reports have demonstrated that PERK signalling can confer both protective and pro-apoptotic in different cancer modals but also during ER stress. For instance, PERK knockout MEFs are more sensitive to ER stress induced apoptosis via increased NOXA expression (Gupta et al., 2012a). However, PERK was shown to be a requirement for ROS-mediated ER stress-induced apoptosis via increased CHOP, where PERK knockout cells displayed resistance to ROS-induced ER stress (Verfaillie et al., 2012). Alternatively, PERK signalling has been shown to impair cell proliferation and promote apoptosis (Lin et al., 2009; Sequeira et al., 2007). ATF4 has been shown to be activated in response to oxidative stress, promote cell death in the nervous system in vitro and to promote stroke in vivo (Lange et al., 2008). Fenretinide or bortezomib are used in the treatment of neuroectodermal tumour cells and it has been reported that these compounds induce ATF4mediated ER stress-induced apoptosis, which unusually is not dependant on PERK (Armstrong et al., 2010). KEAP1, is a negative regulator of NRF2 and in conjunction with Cullin3, directs NRF2 poly-ubiquitination in unstressed cells (Furukawa and Xiong, 2005; Itoh et al., 1999). As expected, KEAP1 deficient mice show increased activity of NRF2 but unexpectedly died perinatally (Wakabayashi et al., 2003). Further sustained activation of NRF2 in ATG5-deficient mouse livers due to p62 mediated stabilization of NRF2 has been reported to be a major cause of toxicity in autophagy-impaired livers (Komatsu et al., 2010). The molecular mechanisms by which ATF4 and NRF2 exert their pro-apoptotic effects are still not fully elucidated as such; the data presented here provides the molecular mechanism underlying the PERKmediated cell death induction.

CHAPTER 6:

FUTURE DIRECTIONS

6.0 Future directions

Resistance of HCT116 Exn5/Exn5 cells to ER stress induced cell death, has been attributed to altered BCL-2 family protein expression, upstream of the mitochondria.

To investigate the significance of these findings further it would be interesting to examine colon cancer-derrived patient samples in order to gain the closest human model to the Exn5/Exn5 model used here. Other studies have reported low DICER expression in various cancers including colon cancer and have correlated this to enhanced and more aggressive tumourigenesis and poor patient prognosis. However, no reports have linked BCL-2 family proteins with low DICER expression and increased cancer cell survival. I would be interested in examining colon cancer patient samples in which low DICER expression was associated with enhanced tumourigenesis, for BCL-2 family protein expression. If these parameters did then correlate with one another, it may suggest that altered BCL-2 expression due to low DICER expression affects the longevity of colon cancer cells and may help cancer cells cope with cellular stress associated with tumour growth and expansion.

Further to this it may be important to understand more clearly how the BCL-2 family are modulated in the HCT116 Exn5/Exn5 model. One possibility would be to test if, changes in the expression of the BCL-2 family proteins occurs directly as a result of global loss of miRNA or indirectly from de-repression of miRNA targets which can then enhance or deter expression of the BCL-2 family proteins.

To investigate direct involvement of miRNA in the regulation of BCL-2 family proteins, luciferase reporter constructs carrying the 3'UTR of individual BCL-2 family proteins could be designed specifically for the proteins shown to be differential in our system including BCL-2, MCL-1, BIM and BAD. If there was increased or decreased expression of the 3'UTRs during ER stress, this would indicate that particular miRNA are decreased or increased respectively during ER stress and allow or block translation of the BCL-2 protein being assessed. If the 3'UTRs were indeed responsive to ER stress, they could be mapped to detect potential binding sites for miRNAs. Thus specific miRNAs that may be responsible for regulation of identified. these proteins during ER stress could be

If regulation of BCL-2 family members occurs through a more indirect route, pre- and posttranslational modes of regulation could be investigated. For instance mRNA levels of these BCL-2 proteins could be checked via QRT-PCR. If differences were evident between WT and Exn5/Exn5 cells, this could indicate that regulation of these proteins occurs at the transcriptional level. The various transcription factors known to regulate these proteins could be examined. However if differences in expression between both cell lines was only observed at protein level, this would indicate that post-translational modifications were involved. For instance phosphorylation of several members of the family is known to occur and can either enhance or deter their function depending on the amino acid residue that is phosphorylated or the kinase responsible. Therefore phosphorylation status of the proteins showing altered expression e.g. BIM, BAD, BCL-2 and MCL-1, could be examined, for example antibodies that can detect phosphorylation of a particular residue could be used. Furthermore, expression of the kinase associated with phosphorylation of a particular residue could be compared between HCT116 WT and Exn5/Exn5 cells. A chemical inhibitor of the kinase of interest could be used show it effects protein expression cell viability. to and

The second results chapter discussed the importance of the miR-17-92 cluster during ER stress where it was downregulated to modulate BIM expression and enhance cell death. A process that is dependent on PERK-NRF2 signalling.

To continue this work it would be interesting to focus these finding to a more clinically relevant model. We have already shown that the miR-106b-25 cluster is downregulated in SOD1G86R mice. These mice represent a model for the motor neurodegenerative disease, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) in which ER stress and increased BIM expression have been linked with disease progression (Gupta et al., 2012b). Perhaps addition of miR-106b-25 mimics in this model could deter disease progression by lowering BIM levels.

To further the molecular understanding of NRF2 mediated repression of the miR-17-92 cluster it would be intriguing to determine if the presence of ATF4 is required to mediate repression of the cluster. The results obtained from the ChIP assay experiment (Figure 4.8) show that although we can IP ATF4 and PCR amplify its positive target CHOP, direct interaction with miR-17-92 could not be detected. This suggests that NRF2 is the direct interacting transcription factor regulating miR-17-92. However previous data showed overexpression of ATF4 alone could downregulate miR-17-92, suggesting that NRF2 and ATF4 heterodimerize to collectively regulate the miRNA cluster. To test if the presence of ATF4 is required to regulate the cluster, transient transfection of the miR-17-92 promotor and overexpression of NRF2 in a cell line lacking ATF4, or in which a dominant negative could be used to block ATF4 expression could be used. The sites on NRF2 required for ATF4 binding could also mutated thus preventing formation of NRF2:ATF4 heterodimers thus elucidating if NRF2 alone can repress the miR-17-92 cluster.

Another approach would be to investigate the significance of miR-17-92 cluster repression and subsequent increased BIM expression in disease models in which the role of NRF2 can have negative consequences on disease progression and outcome e.g. the Bad side of NRF2. I would question, what decides if NRF2 signalling promotes or deters cancer progression and could our findings have a role to play in these decisions. Perhaps NRF2 signalling is similar to that of the UPR in which at a certain stage of stress signalling can switch from adaptive to pro-apoptotic but in cancers, perhaps that adaptive or pro-survival signals are hyperactive and the "switch" to promote apoptosis does not occur. Perhaps this switch only happens in the presence of ER stress or more particularly via PERK-ATF4 signalling. It may be interesting to use a clinical ER stress treatment such as bortezomib on samples with high NRF2 activity and enhanced survival to determine if this could promote NRF2-ATF4 pro-apoptotic signalling. Perhaps patient samples in which NRF2 promotes cancer could be compared to those in which NRF2 signalling can deter cancer and check the expression levels of the miR-17-92 cluster and BIM and determine if these factors correspond to the different phenotypes. Perhaps in settings where NRF2 survival signalling is hyperactive and cannot heterodimerise with ATF4, miR-17-92, an oncogenic cluster, could remain active and silence its many tumour suppressor or pro-apoptotic targets thus adding an additional survival advantage to cancer cells. In such a scenario, delivery of miR-17-92 antagomirs or sponges could be a potential therapeutic target to overcome the bad effects of NRF2 signalling in cancer.

CHAPTER 7

APPENDIX

Reagents

7.0 APPENDIX

7.1 Taqman assays

Gene	Catalogue number	Supplier
СНОР	Hs00358796_g1	
NOXA	Hs00560402_m1	Applied Biosystems
GAPDH	Hs99999905_m1	

PERK	Integrated DNA technologies
Probe	5'-/56-FAM/AGCAGTGGG/ZEN/ATTTGGATGTGGGAT/3IABkFQ/-3'
sequence	
Primer 1	5'-GAACCAGACGATGAGACAGAG-3'
Primer 2	5'-GGATGACACCAAGGAACCG-3'

Catalogue number	Supplier
2308	
002422	
580	
000403	
001090	
439	Applied Biosystems
002169	
000442	
443	
001973	
1718	-
	Catalogue number 2308 002422 580 000403 001090 439 002169 000442 443 001973 1718
7.2 Plasmids

Name	Vector	Source
DICER shRNA	pSicoR-Puro	Addgene
Empty Vector	pSicoR-Puro	Addgene
DROSHA shRNA	pTIG-U6tetO-shDR	Tyler Jacks
ATF4	pEF/Myc/Mito	Jawed Alam
NRF2	pCl	Alan Diehl
СНОР		Andreas Strasser
PERK	pCDNA 3.1	David Ron
PERK DN (K618A)	pcDNA 3.1	David Ron
IRE1	pcDNA 3.1	Kazunori Imaizumi
IRE1 DN (ΔC)	pcDNA 3.1	Kazunori Imaizumi
17-92 FL promotor	PGL4	Laura Fontana
17-92	PGL4	Laura Fontana
17-1	PGL4	Laura Fontana
Pro 230	PGL4	Scott Hammond
17-92 expression vector	pCXN	Klaus Rajewsky
Empty vector	pCXN	Klaus Rajewsky
Bim 3' UTR WT & MT	PsiCHECK	Klaus Rajewsky

7.3 Antibodies for Western blotting

Antibody	Catalogue number	Supplier
Caspase-3 (Cleaved)	9644	Cell signalling technologies
Caspase-9	9506	Cell signalling technologies
PARP	G542	Cell signalling technologies
IRE1	3294	Cell signalling technologies
ATF6	73-500	CosmoBio
P-elF2α	97215	Cell signalling technologies
T-elF2α	9722	Cell signalling technologies
CHOP/ GADD154	Sc-793	Santa Cruz
XBP1s	619501	Biolegend
NOXA	114C307	Calbiochem
MCL-1	4572	Cell signalling technologies
BCL-2	Sc-509	Santa Cruz
BIM	AAP-330	Stressgen
BAD	Sc-7869	Santa Cruz
BAK	Sc-832	Santa Cruz
BCL-xL	Sc-8392	Santa Cruz
BID	Sc-11423	Santa Cruz
PUMA	4972	Cell signalling technologies
NRF2	sc-13032	Santa Cruz
ATF4	sc-200	Santa Cruz
LCIII	L7543	Sigma Aldrich
β-ACTIN	A2066	Sigma Aldrich

7.4 Antibodies to detect Active BAX by flow cytometry

Antibody	Catalogue number	Supplier
BAX (6A7)	556467	BD Biosciences
Mouse Isotype Control	A3574	Biolegend
Mouse-FITC secondary	F2012	Sigma Aldrich

7.5 Antibodies for ChIP-IT assay

Antibody	Catalogue number	Supplier
NRF2	2178-1	Epitomics
ATF4	60035-1	Proteintech
RNA POL II (+ CTRL)	61081	Active Motif
lgG (- CTRL)	53011	Active Motif

REFERENCES

Aagaard, L., Amarzguioui, M., Sun, G., Santos, L.C., Ehsani, A., Prydz, H., and Rossi, J.J. (2007). A Facile Lentiviral Vector System for Expression of Doxycycline-Inducible shRNAs: Knockdown of the Pre-miRNA Processing Enzyme Drosha. Mol Ther *15*, 938-945.

Adams, B.D., Claffey, K.P., and White, B.A. (2009). Argonaute-2 expression is regulated by epidermal growth factor receptor and mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling and correlates with a transformed phenotype in breast cancer cells. Endocrinology *150*, 14-23.

Aguda, B.D., Kim, Y., Piper-Hunter, M.G., Friedman, A., and Marsh, C.B. (2008). MicroRNA regulation of a cancer network: consequences of the feedback loops involving miR-17-92, E2F, and Myc. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *105*, 19678-19683.

Alam, J., and Cook, J.L. (2003). Transcriptional regulation of the heme oxygenase-1 gene via the stress response element pathway. Curr Pharm Des 9, 2499-2511.

Alam, J., Stewart, D., Touchard, C., Boinapally, S., Choi, A.M., and Cook, J.L. (1999). Nrf2, a Cap'n'Collar transcription factor, regulates induction of the heme oxygenase-1 gene. J Biol Chem 274, 26071-26078.

Amodio, N., Di Martino, M.T., Foresta, U., Leone, E., Lionetti, M., Leotta, M., Gulla, A.M., Pitari, M.R., Conforti, F., Rossi, M., *et al.* (2012). miR-29b sensitizes multiple myeloma cells to bortezomib-induced apoptosis through the activation of a feedback loop with the transcription factor Sp1. Cell Death Dis *3*, e436.

Araki, K., and Nagata, K. (2011). Protein folding and quality control in the ER. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 3, a007526.

Armstrong, J.L., Flockhart, R., Veal, G.J., Lovat, P.E., and Redfern, C.P. (2010). Regulation of endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced cell death by ATF4 in neuroectodermal tumor cells. J Biol Chem 285, 6091-6100.

Asada, S., Takahashi, T., Isodono, K., Adachi, A., Imoto, H., Ogata, T., Ueyama, T., Matsubara, H., and Oh, H. (2008). Downregulation of Dicer expression by serum withdrawal sensitizes human endothelial cells to apoptosis. American Journal of Physiology - Heart and Circulatory Physiology 295, H2512-H2521.

Ashkenazi, A., and Dixit, V.M. (1998). Death receptors: signaling and modulation. Science *281*, 1305-1308.

Babar, I.A., Slack, F.J., and Weidhaas, J.B. (2008). miRNA modulation of the cellular stress response. Future Oncology *4*, 289-298.

Bagchi, A., Papazoglu, C., Wu, Y., Capurso, D., Brodt, M., Francis, D., Bredel, M., Vogel, H., and Mills, A.A. (2007). CHD5 is a tumor suppressor at human 1p36. Cell *128*, 459-475.

Bagratuni, T., Wu, P., Gonzalez de Castro, D., Davenport, E.L., Dickens, N.J., Walker, B.A., Boyd, K., Johnson, D.C., Gregory, W., Morgan, G.J., *et al.* (2010). XBP1s levels are implicated in the biology and outcome of myeloma mediating different clinical outcomes to thalidomide-based treatments. Blood *116*, 250-253.

Bartel, D.P. (2004). MicroRNAs: genomics, biogenesis, mechanism, and function. Cell *116*, 281-297.

Bartel, D.P. (2009). MicroRNAs: Target Recognition and Regulatory Functions. Cell 136, 215-233.

Bartoszewski, R., Brewer, J.W., Rab, A., Crossman, D.K., Bartoszewska, S., Kapoor, N., Fuller, C., Collawn, J.F., and Bebok, Z. (2011). The unfolded protein response (UPR)-activated transcription factor XBP1 induces micro-RNA-346 expression that Targets the human antigen peptide transporter 1 (TAP1) mRNA and governs immune regulatory genes. Journal of Biological Chemistry.

Bhattacharyya, S.N., Habermacher, R., Martine, U., Closs, E.I., and Filipowicz, W. (2006). Relief of microRNA-mediated translational repression in human cells subjected to stress. Cell *125*, 1111-1124.

Bi, M., Naczki, C., Koritzinsky, M., Fels, D., Blais, J., Hu, N., Harding, H., Novoa, I., Varia, M., Raleigh, J., *et al.* (2005). ER stress-regulated translation increases tolerance to extreme hypoxia and promotes tumor growth. Embo J *24*, 3470-3481.

Blais, J.D., Addison, C.L., Edge, R., Falls, T., Zhao, H., Wary, K., Koumenis, C., Harding, H.P., Ron, D., Holcik, M., *et al.* (2006). Perk-dependent translational regulation promotes tumor cell adaptation and angiogenesis in response to hypoxic stress. Mol Cell Biol *26*, 9517-9532.

Blais, J.D., Filipenko, V., Bi, M., Harding, H.P., Ron, D., Koumenis, C., Wouters, B.G., and Bell, J.C. (2004). Activating Transcription Factor 4 Is Translationally Regulated by Hypoxic Stress. Molecular and Cellular Biology *24*, 7469-7482.

Blandino, G., Valerio, M., Cioce, M., Mori, F., Casadei, L., Pulito, C., Sacconi, A., Biagioni, F., Cortese, G., Galanti, S., *et al.* (2012). Metformin elicits anticancer effects through the sequential modulation of DICER and c-MYC. Nat Commun *3*, 865.

Bobrovnikova-Marjon, E., Grigoriadou, C., Pytel, D., Zhang, F., Ye, J., Koumenis, C., Cavener, D., and Diehl, J.A. (2010). PERK promotes cancer cell proliferation and tumor growth by limiting oxidative DNA damage. Oncogene *29*, 3881-3895.

Bokoch, G.M. (1998). Caspase-mediated activation of PAK2 during apoptosis: proteolytic kinase activation as a general mechanism of apoptotic signal transduction? Cell Death Differ *5*, 637-645.

Borchert, G.M., Lanier, W., and Davidson, B.L. (2006). RNA polymerase III transcribes human microRNAs. Nat Struct Mol Biol *13*, 1097-1101.

Braakman, I., and Bulleid, N.J. (2011). Protein folding and modification in the mammalian endoplasmic reticulum. Annu Rev Biochem *80*, 71-99.

Bratton, D.L., Fadok, V.A., Richter, D.A., Kailey, J.M., Guthrie, L.A., and Henson, P.M. (1997). Appearance of phosphatidylserine on apoptotic cells requires calcium-mediated nonspecific flip-flop and is enhanced by loss of the aminophospholipid translocase. J Biol Chem 272, 26159-26165.

Bratton, S.B., and Salvesen, G.S. (2010). Regulation of the Apaf-1-caspase-9 apoptosome. J Cell Sci *123*, 3209-3214.

Breckenridge, D.G., and Xue, D. (2004). Regulation of mitochondrial membrane permeabilization by BCL-2 family proteins and caspases. Current Opinion in Cell Biology *16*, 647-652.

Breving, K., and Esquela-Kerscher, A. (2009). The complexities of microRNA regulation: Mirandering around the rules. The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology *In Press, Uncorrected Proof.*

Brigstock, D. (2003). The CCN family: a new stimulus package. Journal of Endocrinology *178*, 169-175.

Bushati, N., and Cohen, S.M. (2008). microRNAs in neurodegeneration. Current Opinion in Neurobiology *In Press, Corrected Proof.*

Byrd, A.E., Aragon, I.V., and Brewer, J.W. (2012). MicroRNA-30c-2* limits expression of proadaptive factor XBP1 in the unfolded protein response. J Cell Biol *196*, 689-698.

Cai, C., Ashktorab, H., Pang, X., Zhao, Y., Sha, W., Liu, Y., and Gu, X. (2012). MicroRNA-211 expression promotes colorectal cancer cell growth in vitro and in vivo by targeting tumor suppressor CHD5. PLoS ONE 7, e29750.

Cain, K. (2003). Chemical-induced apoptosis: formation of the Apaf-1 apoptosome. Drug Metab Rev *35*, 337-363.

Calin, G.A., Cimmino, A., Fabbri, M., Ferracin, M., Wojcik, S.E., Shimizu, M., Taccioli, C., Zanesi, N., Garzon, R., Aqeilan, R.I., *et al.* (2008). MiR-15a and miR-16-1 cluster functions in human leukemia. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences *105*, 5166-5171.

Calin, G.A., and Croce, C.M. (2006). MicroRNA signatures in human cancers. Nat Rev Cancer 6, 857-866.

Campbell, K.J., Bath, M.L., Turner, M.L., Vandenberg, C.J., Bouillet, P., Metcalf, D., Scott, C.L., and Cory, S. (2010). Elevated Mcl-1 perturbs lymphopoiesis, promotes transformation of hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells, and enhances drug resistance. Blood *116*, 3197-3207.

Carson, D.A., and Ribeiro, J.M. (1993). Apoptosis and disease. Lancet 341, 1251-1254.

Cawley, K., Sugrue, T., Samali, A., Gupta, S., and Gorman, A.M. (2012). MicroRNA regulation of apoptosis in breast cancer. Cancer Reports *2*, 1-8.

Cazanave, S.C., Elmi, N.A., Akazawa, Y., Bronk, S.F., Mott, J.L., and Gores, G.J. (2010). CHOP and AP-1 cooperatively mediate PUMA expression during lipoapoptosis. American Journal of Physiology - Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology 299, G236-G243.

Cernilogar, F.M., Onorati, M.C., Kothe, G.O., Burroughs, A.M., Parsi, K.M., Breiling, A., Lo Sardo, F., Saxena, A., Miyoshi, K., Siomi, H., *et al.* (2011). Chromatin-associated RNA interference components contribute to transcriptional regulation in Drosophila. Nature *480*, 391-395.

Chakraborty, S., Mehtab, S., Patwardhan, A., and Krishnan, Y. (2012). Pri-miR-17-92a transcript folds into a tertiary structure and autoregulates its processing. RNA *18*, 1014-1028.

Chang, D.W., Xing, Z., Pan, Y., Algeciras-Schimnich, A., Barnhart, B.C., Yaish-Ohad, S., Peter, M.E., and Yang, X. (2002). c-FLIP(L) is a dual function regulator for caspase-8 activation and CD95-mediated apoptosis. Embo J *21*, 3704-3714.

Chang, H.Y., and Yang, X. (2000). Proteases for cell suicide: functions and regulation of caspases. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev *64*, 821-846.

Chang, T.-C., Wentzel, E.A., Kent, O.A., Ramachandran, K., Mullendore, M., Lee, Kwang H., Feldmann, G., Yamakuchi, M., Ferlito, M., Lowenstein, C.J., *et al.* (2007). Transactivation of miR-34a by p53 Broadly Influences Gene Expression and Promotes Apoptosis. Molecular Cell 26, 745-752.

Chang, T.-C., Yu, D., Lee, Y.-S., Wentzel, E.A., Arking, D.E., West, K.M., Dang, C.V., Thomas-Tikhonenko, A., and Mendell, J.T. (2008). Widespread microRNA repression by Myc contributes to tumorigenesis. Nat Genet *40*, 43-50.

Chattopadhyay, A., Chiang, C.W., and Yang, E. (2001). BAD/BCL-[X(L)] heterodimerization leads to bypass of G0/G1 arrest. Oncogene *20*, 4507-4518.

Chaudhry, M., Omaruddin, R., Kreger, B., de Toledo, S., and Azzam, E. (2012). Micro RNA responses to chronic or acute exposures to low dose ionizing radiation. Molecular Biology Reports *39*, 7549-7558.

Cheloufi, S., Dos Santos, C.O., Chong, M.M.W., and Hannon, G.J. (2010). A dicerindependent miRNA biogenesis pathway that requires Ago catalysis. Nature *465*, 584-589.

Chen, F., Zhu, H.H., Zhou, L.F., Wu, S.S., Wang, J., and Chen, Z. (2010). Inhibition of c-FLIP expression by miR-512-3p contributes to taxol-induced apoptosis in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. Oncol Rep 23, 1457-1462.

Chipuk, J.E., Moldoveanu, T., Llambi, F., Parsons, M.J., and Green, D.R. (2010). The BCL-2 Family Reunion. Molecular Cell 37, 299-310.

Chitnis, N.S., Pytel, D., Bobrovnikova-Marjon, E., Pant, D., Zheng, H., Maas, N.L., Frederick, B., Kushner, J.A., Chodosh, L.A., Koumenis, C., *et al.* (2012). miR-211 Is a Prosurvival MicroRNA that Regulates chop Expression in a PERK-Dependent Manner. Mol Cell *48*, 353-364.

Chong, M.M., Zhang, G., Cheloufi, S., Neubert, T.A., Hannon, G.J., and Littman, D.R. (2010). Canonical and alternate functions of the microRNA biogenesis machinery. Genes Dev 24, 1951-1960.

Chu, K., Niu, X., and Williams, L.T. (1995). A Fas-associated protein factor, FAF1, potentiates Fas-mediated apoptosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92, 11894-11898.

Chun-zhi, Z., Lei, H., An-ling, Z., Yan-chao, F., Xiao, Y., Guang-xiu, W., Zhi-fan, J., Pei-yu, P., Qing-yu, Z., and Chun-sheng, K. (2010). MicroRNA-221 and microRNA-222 regulate gastric carcinoma cell proliferation and radioresistance by targeting PTEN. BMC Cancer *10*, 367.

Cory, S., and Adams, J.M. (2002). The Bcl2 family: regulators of the cellular life-or-death switch. Nat Rev Cancer 2, 647-656.

Cougot, N., Babajko, S., and Seraphin, B. (2004). Cytoplasmic foci are sites of mRNA decay in human cells. J Cell Biol *165*, 31-40.

Crawford, E.D., and Wells, J.A. (2011). Caspase substrates and cellular remodeling. Annu Rev Biochem *80*, 1055-1087.

Crippa, S., Cassano, M., and Sampaolesi, M. (2012). Role of miRNAs in muscle stem cell biology: proliferation, differentiation and death. Curr Pharm Des *18*, 1718-1729.

Cullinan, S.B., Zhang, D., Hannink, M., Arvisais, E., Kaufman, R.J., and Diehl, J.A. (2003). Nrf2 is a direct PERK substrate and effector of PERK-dependent cell survival. Mol Cell Biol 23, 7198-7209.

Cummins, J.M., He, Y., Leary, R.J., Pagliarini, R., Diaz, L.A., Sjoblom, T., Barad, O., Bentwich, Z., Szafranska, A.E., Labourier, E., *et al.* (2006). The colorectal microRNAome. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *103*, 3687-3692.

Dai, R., Li, J., Liu, Y., Yan, D., Chen, S., Duan, C., Liu, X., He, T., and Li, H. (2010). miR-221/222 suppression protects against endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced apoptosis via p27Kip1- and MEK/ERK-mediated cell cycle regulation. Biological Chemistry *391*, 791-801.

Danial, N.N. (2007). BCL-2 family proteins: critical checkpoints of apoptotic cell death. Clin Cancer Res 13, 7254-7263.

Daniels, S.M., Melendez-Pena, C.E., Scarborough, R.J., Daher, A., Christensen, H.S., El Far, M., Purcell, D.F., Laine, S., and Gatignol, A. (2009). Characterization of the TRBP domain required for dicer interaction and function in RNA interference. BMC Mol Biol *10*, 38.

Davies, M.P., Barraclough, D.L., Stewart, C., Joyce, K.A., Eccles, R.M., Barraclough, R., Rudland, P.S., and Sibson, D.R. (2008). Expression and splicing of the unfolded protein response gene XBP-1 are significantly associated with clinical outcome of endocrine-treated breast cancer. Int J Cancer *123*, 85-88.

Davis, B.N., Hilyard, A.C., Lagna, G., and Hata, A. (2008). SMAD proteins control DROSHAmediated microRNA maturation. Nature *454*, 56-61.

Dawson, S.J., Makretsov, N., Blows, F.M., Driver, K.E., Provenzano, E., Le Quesne, J., Baglietto, L., Severi, G., Giles, G.G., McLean, C.A., *et al.* (2010). BCL2 in breast cancer: a favourable prognostic marker across molecular subtypes and independent of adjuvant therapy received. Br J Cancer *103*, 668-675.

Dedes, K.J., Natrajan, R., Lambros, M.B., Geyer, F.C., Lopez-Garcia, M.A., Savage, K., Jones, R.L., and Reis-Filho, J.S. (2011). Down-regulation of the miRNA master regulators Drosha and Dicer is associated with specific subgroups of breast cancer. European Journal of Cancer *47*, 138-150.

Deng, Y., Ren, X., Yang, L., Lin, Y., and Wu, X. (2003). A JNK-dependent pathway is required for TNFalpha-induced apoptosis. Cell *115*, 61-70.

Dhanasekaran, D.N., and Reddy, E.P. (2008). JNK signaling in apoptosis. Oncogene 27, 6245-6251.

Di Leonardo, A., Linke, S.P., Clarkin, K., and Wahl, G.M. (1994). DNA damage triggers a prolonged p53-dependent G1 arrest and long-term induction of Cip1 in normal human fibroblasts. Genes Dev *8*, 2540-2551.

Di Leva, G., Gasparini, P., Piovan, C., Ngankeu, A., Garofalo, M., Taccioli, C., Iorio, M.V., Li, M., Volinia, S., Alder, H., *et al.* (2010). MicroRNA cluster 221-222 and estrogen receptor alpha interactions in breast cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst *102*, 706-721.

Ding, L., and Han, M. (2007). GW182 family proteins are crucial for microRNA-mediated gene silencing. Trends in Cell Biology *17*, 411-416.

Ding, X.C., Weiler, J., and Grosshans, H. (2009). Regulating the regulators: mechanisms controlling the maturation of microRNAs. Trends Biotechnol 27, 27-36.

Donovan, N., Becker, E.B., Konishi, Y., and Bonni, A. (2002). JNK phosphorylation and activation of BAD couples the stress-activated signaling pathway to the cell death machinery. J Biol Chem 277, 40944-40949.

Dresios, J., Aschrafi, A., Owens, G.C., Vanderklish, P.W., Edelman, G.M., and Mauro, V.P. (2005). Cold stress-induced protein Rbm3 binds 60S ribosomal subunits, alters microRNA levels, and enhances global protein synthesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *102*, 1865-1870.

Duan, Q., Wang, X., Gong, W., Ni, L., Chen, C., He, X., Chen, F., Yang, L., Wang, P., and Wang, D.W. (2012). ER Stress Negatively Modulates the Expression of the miR-199a/214 Cluster to Regulates Tumor Survival and Progression in Human Hepatocellular Cancer. PLoS ONE 7, e31518.

Earnshaw, W.C., Martins, L.M., and Kaufmann, S.H. (1999). MAMMALIAN CASPASES: Structure, Activation, Substrates, and Functions During Apoptosis. Annual Review of Biochemistry 68, 383-424.

Egle, A., Harris, A.W., Bouillet, P., and Cory, S. (2004). Bim is a suppressor of Myc-induced mouse B cell leukemia. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *101*, 6164-6169.

Eizirik, D.L., Cardozo, A.K., and Cnop, M. (2008). The role for endoplasmic reticulum stress in diabetes mellitus. Endocr Rev 29, 42-61.

Elmore, S. (2007). Apoptosis: A Review of Programmed Cell Death. Toxicologic Pathology 35, 495-516.

English, A.R., Zurek, N., and Voeltz, G.K. (2009). Peripheral ER structure and function. Curr Opin Cell Biol *21*, 596-602.

Faggad, A., Kasajima, A., Weichert, W., Stenzinger, A., Elwali, N.E., Dietel, M., and Denkert, C. (2012). Down-regulation of the microRNA processing enzyme Dicer is a prognostic factor in human colorectal cancer. Histopathology, no-no.

Faller, M., and Guo, F. (2008). MicroRNA biogenesis: there's more than one way to skin a cat. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Gene Regulatory Mechanisms *In Press, Corrected Proof.*

Faller, M., Matsunaga, M., Yin, S., Loo, J.A., and Guo, F. (2007). Heme is involved in microRNA processing. Nat Struct Mol Biol *14*, 23-29.

Faller, M., Toso, D., Matsunaga, M., Atanasov, I., Senturia, R., Chen, Y., Zhou, Z.H., and Guo, F. (2010). DGCR8 recognizes primary transcripts of microRNAs through highly cooperative binding and formation of higher-order structures. RNA.

Fan, M., and Chambers, T.C. (2001). Role of mitogen-activated protein kinases in the response of tumor cells to chemotherapy. Drug Resist Updat *4*, 253-267.

Farazi, T.A., Spitzer, J.I., Morozov, P., and Tuschl, T. (2011). miRNAs in human cancer. J Pathol 223, 102-115.

Favaloro, B., Allocati, N., Graziano, V., Di Ilio, C., and De Laurenzi, V. (2012). Role of apoptosis in disease. Aging (Albany NY) *4*, 330-349.

Feldman, D.E., Chauhan, V., and Koong, A.C. (2005). The Unfolded Protein Response: A Novel Component of the Hypoxic Stress Response in Tumors. Molecular Cancer Research *3*, 597-605.

Fischer, U., Janicke, R.U., and Schulze-Osthoff, K. (2003). Many cuts to ruin: a comprehensive update of caspase substrates. Cell Death Differ *10*, 76-100.

Foehr, E.D., Lorente, G., Vincent, V., Nikolich, K., and Urfer, R. (2005). FAS associated phosphatase (FAP-1) blocks apoptosis of astrocytomas through dephosphorylation of FAS. J Neurooncol 74, 241-248.

Foshay, K.M., and Gallicano, G.I. (2009). miR-17 family miRNAs are expressed during early mammalian development and regulate stem cell differentiation. Dev Biol *326*, 431-443.

Frenzel, A., Lovén, J., and Henriksson, M.A. (2010). Targeting MYC-Regulated miRNAs to Combat Cancer. Genes & Cancer *1*, 660-667.

Frezza, C., and Martins, C.P. (2012). From tumor prevention to therapy: Empowering p53 to fight back. Drug Resist Updat *15*, 258-267.

Fuchs, S.Y., Adler, V., Pincus, M.R., and Ronai, Z. (1998). MEKK1/JNK signaling stabilizes and activates p53. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95, 10541-10546.

Fujita, T., Igarashi, J., Okawa, E.R., Gotoh, T., Manne, J., Kolla, V., Kim, J., Zhao, H., Pawel, B.R., London, W.B., *et al.* (2008). CHD5, a tumor suppressor gene deleted from 1p36.31 in neuroblastomas. J Natl Cancer Inst *100*, 940-949.

Fulda, S., and Debatin, K.-M. (2004). Signaling through death receptors in cancer therapy. Current Opinion in Pharmacology *4*, 327-332.

Fulda, S., Gorman, A.M., Hori, O., and Samali, A. (2010). Cellular Stress Responses: Cell Survival and Cell Death. International Journal of Cell Biology *2010*.

Furukawa, M., and Xiong, Y. (2005). BTB protein Keap1 targets antioxidant transcription factor Nrf2 for ubiquitination by the Cullin 3-Roc1 ligase. Mol Cell Biol 25, 162-171.

Galardi, S., Mercatelli, N., Giorda, E., Massalini, S., Frajese, G.V., Ciafrè, S.A., and Farace, M.G. (2007). miR-221 and miR-222 Expression Affects the Proliferation Potential of Human Prostate Carcinoma Cell Lines by Targeting p27Kip1. Journal of Biological Chemistry 282, 23716-23724.

Galluzzi, L., Maiuri, M.C., Vitale, I., Zischka, H., Castedo, M., Zitvogel, L., and Kroemer, G. (2007). Cell death modalities: classification and pathophysiological implications. Cell Death Differ *14*, 1237-1243.

Galluzzi, L., Vitale, I., Abrams, J.M., Alnemri, E.S., Baehrecke, E.H., Blagosklonny, M.V., Dawson, T.M., Dawson, V.L., El-Deiry, W.S., Fulda, S., *et al.* (2012). Molecular definitions of cell death subroutines: recommendations of the Nomenclature Committee on Cell Death 2012. Cell Death Differ *19*, 107-120.

Gantier, M.P., McCoy, C.E., Rusinova, I., Saulep, D., Wang, D., Xu, D., Irving, A.T., Behlke, M.A., Hertzog, P.J., Mackay, F., *et al.* (2011). Analysis of microRNA turnover in mammalian cells following Dicer1 ablation. Nucleic Acids Research.

Gardner, B.M., and Walter, P. (2011). Unfolded Proteins Are Ire1-Activating Ligands That Directly Induce the Unfolded Protein Response. Science 333, 1891-1894.

Garofalo, M., Quintavalle, C., Di Leva, G., Zanca, C., Romano, G., Taccioli, C., Liu, C.G., Croce, C.M., and Condorelli, G. (2008). MicroRNA signatures of TRAIL resistance in human non-small cell lung cancer. Oncogene 27, 3845-3855.

Garrison, S.P., Jeffers, J.R., Yang, C., Nilsson, J.A., Hall, M.A., Rehg, J.E., Yue, W., Yu, J., Zhang, L., Onciu, M., *et al.* (2008). Selection against PUMA gene expression in Myc-driven B-cell lymphomagenesis. Mol Cell Biol *28*, 5391-5402.

Ghodgaonkar, M.M., Shah, R.G., Kandan-Kulangara, F., Affar, E.B., Qi, H.H., Wiemer, E., and Shah, G.M. (2009). Abrogation of DNA vector-based RNAi during apoptosis in mammalian cells due to caspase-mediated cleavage and inactivation of Dicer-1. Cell Death Differ *16*, 858-868.

Ghosh, A.P., Klocke, B.J., Ballestas, M.E., and Roth, K.A. (2012). CHOP Potentially Co-Operates with FOXO3a in Neuronal Cells to Regulate PUMA and BIM Expression in Response to ER Stress. PLoS ONE 7, e39586.

Gogada, R., Yadav, N., Liu, J., Tang, S., Zhang, D., Schneider, A., Seshadri, A., Sun, L., Aldaz, C.M., Tang, D., *et al.* (2012). BIM, a proapoptotic protein, upregulated via transcription factor E2F1-dependent mechanism, functions as a prosurvival molecule in cancer. J Biol Chem.

Gonzalvez, F., Lawrence, D., Yang, B., Yee, S., Pitti, R., Marsters, S., Pham, Victoria C., Stephan, J.-P., Lill, J., and Ashkenazi, A. TRAF2 Sets a Threshold for Extrinsic Apoptosis by Tagging Caspase-8 with a Ubiquitin Shutoff Timer. Molecular Cell.

Green, D.R., and Kroemer, G. (2004). The Pathophysiology of Mitochondrial Cell Death. Science *305*, 626-629.

Greenhough, A., Wallam, C.A., Hicks, D.J., Moorghen, M., Williams, A.C., and Paraskeva, C. (2010). The proapoptotic BH3-only protein Bim is downregulated in a subset of colorectal cancers and is repressed by antiapoptotic COX-2/PGE(2) signalling in colorectal adenoma cells. Oncogene *29*, 3398-3410.

Gregory, R.I., Chendrimada, T.P., Cooch, N., and Shiekhattar, R. (2005). Human RISC couples microRNA biogenesis and posttranscriptional gene silencing. Cell *123*, 631-640.

Gregory, R.I., Yan, K.P., Amuthan, G., Chendrimada, T., Doratotaj, B., Cooch, N., and Shiekhattar, R. (2004). The Microprocessor complex mediates the genesis of microRNAs. Nature *432*, 235-240.

Gu, F., Nguyen, D.T., Stuible, M., Dube, N., Tremblay, M.L., and Chevet, E. (2004). Proteintyrosine phosphatase 1B potentiates IRE1 signaling during endoplasmic reticulum stress. J Biol Chem 279, 49689-49693.

Guil, S., and Caceres, J.F. (2007). The multifunctional RNA-binding protein hnRNP A1 is required for processing of miR-18a. Nat Struct Mol Biol *14*, 591-596.

Gupta, S., Deepti, A., Deegan, S., Lisbona, F., Hetz, C., and Samali, A. (2010). HSP72 protects cells from ER stress-induced apoptosis via enhancement of IRE1alpha-XBP1 signaling through a physical interaction. PLoS Biol *8*, e1000410.

Gupta, S., Giricz, Z., Natoni, A., Donnelly, N., Deegan, S., Szegezdi, E., and Samali, A. (2012a). NOXA contributes to the sensitivity of PERK-deficient cells to ER stress. FEBS Lett *586*, 4023-4030.

Gupta, S., Read, D.E., Deepti, A., Cawley, K., Gupta, A., Oommen, D., Verfaillie, T., Matus, S., Smith, M.A., Mott, J.L., *et al.* (2012b). Perk-dependent repression of miR-106b-25 cluster is required for ER stress-induced apoptosis. Cell Death Dis *3*, e333.

Gurzov, E.N., Germano, C.M., Cunha, D.A., Ortis, F., Vanderwinden, J.M., Marchetti, P., Zhang, L., and Eizirik, D.L. (2010). p53 up-regulated modulator of apoptosis (PUMA) activation contributes to pancreatic beta-cell apoptosis induced by proinflammatory cytokines and endoplasmic reticulum stress. J Biol Chem 285, 19910-19920.

Ha, T.Y. (2011). MicroRNAs in Human Diseases: From Autoimmune Diseases to Skin, Psychiatric and Neurodegenerative Diseases. Immune Netw *11*, 227-244.

Hafsi, S., Pezzino, F.M., Candido, S., Ligresti, G., Spandidos, D.A., Soua, Z., McCubrey, J.A., Travali, S., and Libra, M. (2012). Gene alterations in the PI3K/PTEN/AKT pathway as a mechanism of drug-resistance (review). Int J Oncol *40*, 639-644.

Han, J., Pedersen, J.S., Kwon, S.C., Belair, C.D., Kim, Y.-K., Yeom, K.-H., Yang, W.-Y., Haussler, D., Blelloch, R., and Kim, V.N. (2009). Posttranscriptional Crossregulation between Drosha and DGCR8. Cell *136*, 75-84.

Hanahan, D., and Weinberg, Robert A. (2011). Hallmarks of Cancer: The Next Generation. Cell *144*, 646-674.

Hancks, D.C., and Kazazian, H.H., Jr. (2012). Active human retrotransposons: variation and disease. Curr Opin Genet Dev 22, 191-203.

Harding, H.P., Zhang, Y., Zeng, H., Novoa, I., Lu, P.D., Calfon, M., Sadri, N., Yun, C., Popko,
B., Paules, R., *et al.* (2003). An integrated stress response regulates amino acid metabolism and resistance to oxidative stress. Mol Cell *11*, 619-633.

Havens, M.A., Reich, A.A., Duelli, D.M., and Hastings, M.L. (2012). Biogenesis of mammalian microRNAs by a non-canonical processing pathway. Nucleic Acids Research *40*, 4626-4640.

Hayashita, Y., Osada, H., Tatematsu, Y., Yamada, H., Yanagisawa, K., Tomida, S., Yatabe, Y., Kawahara, K., Sekido, Y., and Takahashi, T. (2005). A Polycistronic MicroRNA Cluster, miR-17-92, Is Overexpressed in Human Lung Cancers and Enhances Cell Proliferation. Cancer Res 65, 9628-9632.

Haze, K., Yoshida, H., Yanagi, H., Yura, T., and Mori, K. (1999). Mammalian transcription factor ATF6 is synthesized as a transmembrane protein and activated by proteolysis in response to endoplasmic reticulum stress. Mol Biol Cell *10*, 3787-3799.

He, C.H., Gong, P., Hu, B., Stewart, D., Choi, M.E., Choi, A.M.K., and Alam, J. (2001). Identification of Activating Transcription Factor 4 (ATF4) as an Nrf2-interacting Protein: IMPLICATION FOR HEME OXYGENASE-1 GENE REGULATION. Journal of Biological Chemistry 276, 20858-20865.

Healy, S.J.M., Gorman, A.M., Mousavi-Shafaei, P., Gupta, S., and Samali, A. (2009). Targeting the endoplasmic reticulum-stress response as an anticancer strategy. European Journal of Pharmacology *625*, 234-246.

Heifetz, A., Keenan, R.W., and Elbein, A.D. (1979). Mechanism of action of tunicamycin on the UDP-GlcNAc:dolichyl-phosphate Glc-NAc-1-phosphate transferase. Biochemistry *18*, 2186-2192.

Hengartner, M.O. (2000). The biochemistry of apoptosis. Nature 407, 770-776.

Hetz, C. (2012). The unfolded protein response: controlling cell fate decisions under ER stress and beyond. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol *13*, 89-102.

Hetz, C., Thielen, P., Matus, S., Nassif, M., Court, F., Kiffin, R., Martinez, G., Cuervo, A.M., Brown, R.H., and Glimcher, L.H. (2009). XBP-1 deficiency in the nervous system protects against amyotrophic lateral sclerosis by increasing autophagy. Genes Dev 23, 2294-2306.

Hieronymus, H., and Silver, P.A. (2004). A systems view of mRNP biology. Genes Dev 18, 2845-2860.

Higashiyama, M., Doi, O., Kodama, K., Yokouchi, H., and Tateishi, R. (1996). Bcl-2 oncoprotein expression is increased especially in the portion of small cell carcinoma within the combined type of small cell lung cancer. Tumour Biol *17*, 341-344.

Hock, J., and Meister, G. (2008). The Argonaute protein family. Genome Biology 9, 210.

Hollien, J., Lin, J.H., Li, H., Stevens, N., Walter, P., and Weissman, J.S. (2009). Regulated Ire1-dependent decay of messenger RNAs in mammalian cells. J Cell Biol *186*, 323-331.

Horiguchi, M., Koyanagi, S., Okamoto, A., Suzuki, S.O., Matsunaga, N., and Ohdo, S. (2012). Stress-regulated transcription factor ATF4 promotes neoplastic transformation by suppressing expression of the INK4a/ARF cell senescence factors. Cancer Res *7*2, 395-401.

IERVOLINO, A., TRISCIUOGLIO, D., RIBATTI, D., CANDILORO, A., BIROCCIO, A., ZUPI, G., and DEL BUFALO, D. (2002). Bcl-2 overexpression in human melanoma cells increases angiogenesis through VEGF mRNA stabilization and HIF-1-mediated transcriptional activity. The FASEB Journal *16*, 1453-1455.

Ingelfinger, D., Arndt-Jovin, D.J., Luhrmann, R., and Achsel, T. (2002). The human LSm1-7 proteins colocalize with the mRNA-degrading enzymes Dcp1/2 and XrnI in distinct cytoplasmic foci. RNA 8, 1489-1501.

Ishii, T., Itoh, K., Takahashi, S., Sato, H., Yanagawa, T., Katoh, Y., Bannai, S., and Yamamoto, M. (2000). Transcription Factor Nrf2 Coordinately Regulates a Group of Oxidative Stress-inducible Genes in Macrophages. Journal of Biological Chemistry 275, 16023-16029.

Itoh, K., Wakabayashi, N., Katoh, Y., Ishii, T., Igarashi, K., Engel, J.D., and Yamamoto, M. (1999). Keap1 represses nuclear activation of antioxidant responsive elements by Nrf2 through binding to the amino-terminal Neh2 domain. Genes Dev *13*, 76-86.

Ivanov, V.N., Lopez Bergami, P., Maulit, G., Sato, T.A., Sassoon, D., and Ronai, Z. (2003). FAP-1 association with Fas (Apo-1) inhibits Fas expression on the cell surface. Mol Cell Biol 23, 3623-3635.

Ivanovska, I., Ball, A.S., Diaz, R.L., Magnus, J.F., Kibukawa, M., Schelter, J.M., Kobayashi, S.V., Lim, L., Burchard, J., Jackson, A.L., *et al.* (2008). MicroRNAs in the miR-106b family regulate p21/CDKN1A and promote cell cycle progression. Mol Cell Biol *28*, 2167-2174.

Iwasaki, S., Kobayashi, M., Yoda, M., Sakaguchi, Y., Katsuma, S., Suzuki, T., and Tomari, Y. (2010). Hsc70/Hsp90 Chaperone Machinery Mediates ATP-Dependent RISC Loading of Small RNA Duplexes. Molecular Cell 39, 292-299.

Jin, Z., Li, Y., Pitti, R., Lawrence, D., Pham, V.C., Lill, J.R., and Ashkenazi, A. (2009). Cullin3based polyubiquitination and p62-dependent aggregation of caspase-8 mediate extrinsic apoptosis signaling. Cell *137*, 721-735.

Julien, S.G., Dube, N., Read, M., Penney, J., Paquet, M., Han, Y., Kennedy, B.P., Muller, W.J., and Tremblay, M.L. (2007). Protein tyrosine phosphatase 1B deficiency or inhibition delays ErbB2-induced mammary tumorigenesis and protects from lung metastasis. Nat Genet 39, 338-346.

Kai, Z.S., and Pasquinelli, A.E. (2010). MicroRNA assassins: factors that regulate the disappearance of miRNAs. Nat Struct Mol Biol *17*, 5-10.

Karakas, T., Maurer, U., Weidmann, E., Miething, C.C., Hoelzer, D., and Bergmann, L. (1998). High expression of bcl-2 mRNA as a determinant of poor prognosis in acute myeloid leukemia. Ann Oncol 9, 159-165.

Karin, M., Liu, Z., and Zandi, E. (1997). AP-1 function and regulation. Curr Opin Cell Biol 9, 240-246.

Karube, Y., Tanaka, H., Osada, H., Tomida, S., Tatematsu, Y., Yanagisawa, K., Yatabe, Y., Takamizawa, J., Miyoshi, S., Mitsudomi, T., *et al.* (2005). Reduced expression of Dicer associated with poor prognosis in lung cancer patients. Cancer Science *96*, 111-115.

Kato, H., Nakajima, S., Saito, Y., Takahashi, S., Katoh, R., and Kitamura, M. (2012). mTORC1 serves ER stress-triggered apoptosis via selective activation of the IRE1-JNK pathway. Cell Death Differ *19*, 310-320.

Kaufman, R.J. (2002). Orchestrating the unfolded protein response in health and disease. J Clin Invest *110*, 1389-1398.

Kaufmann, S.H., Desnoyers, S., Ottaviano, Y., Davidson, N.E., and Poirier, G.G. (1993). Specific Proteolytic Cleavage of Poly(ADP-ribose) Polymerase: An Early Marker of Chemotherapy-induced Apoptosis. Cancer Research *53*, 3976-3985.

Kawahara, T., Yanagi, H., Yura, T., and Mori, K. (1998). Unconventional Splicing of HAC1/ERN4 mRNA Required for the Unfolded Protein Response. Journal of Biological Chemistry 273, 1802-1807.

Kerr, J.F., Wyllie, A.H., and Currie, A.R. (1972). Apoptosis: a basic biological phenomenon with wide-ranging implications in tissue kinetics. Br J Cancer *26*, 239-257.

Kim, H., Tu, H.C., Ren, D., Takeuchi, O., Jeffers, J.R., Zambetti, G.P., Hsieh, J.J., and Cheng, E.H. (2009). Stepwise activation of BAX and BAK by tBID, BIM, and PUMA initiates mitochondrial apoptosis. Mol Cell *36*, 487-499.

Kim, I., Xu, W., and Reed, J.C. (2008). Cell death and endoplasmic reticulum stress: disease relevance and therapeutic opportunities. Nat Rev Drug Discov *7*, 1013-1030.

Kim, K.M., Pae, H.O., Zheng, M., Park, R., Kim, Y.M., and Chung, H.T. (2007). Carbon monoxide induces heme oxygenase-1 via activation of protein kinase R-like endoplasmic reticulum kinase and inhibits endothelial cell apoptosis triggered by endoplasmic reticulum stress. Circ Res *101*, 919-927.

Kim, M.S., Oh, J.E., Kim, Y.R., Park, S.W., Kang, M.R., Kim, S.S., Ahn, C.H., Yoo, N.J., and Lee, S.H. (2010a). Somatic mutations and losses of expression of microRNA regulation-related genes AGO2 and TNRC6A in gastric and colorectal cancers. J Pathol 221, 139-146.

Kim, V.N. (2005). MicroRNA biogenesis: coordinated cropping and dicing. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol *6*, 376-385.

Kim, Y.R., Oh, J.E., Kim, M.S., Kang, M.R., Park, S.W., Han, J.Y., Eom, H.S., Yoo, N.J., and Lee, S.H. (2010b). Oncogenic NRF2 mutations in squamous cell carcinomas of oesophagus and skin. J Pathol 220, 446-451.

Kischkel, F.C., Hellbardt, S., Behrmann, I., Germer, M., Pawlita, M., Krammer, P.H., and Peter, M.E. (1995). Cytotoxicity-dependent APO-1 (Fas/CD95)-associated proteins form a death-inducing signaling complex (DISC) with the receptor. Embo J *14*, 5579-5588.

Kobayashi, M., and Yamamoto, M. (2005). Molecular mechanisms activating the Nrf2-Keap1 pathway of antioxidant gene regulation. Antioxid Redox Signal 7, 385-394.

Kok, K.H., Ng, M.H., Ching, Y.P., and Jin, D.Y. (2007). Human TRBP and PACT directly interact with each other and associate with dicer to facilitate the production of small interfering RNA. J Biol Chem 282, 17649-17657.

Kole, A.J., Swahari, V., Hammond, S.M., and Deshmukh, M. (2011). miR-29b is activated during neuronal maturation and targets BH3-only genes to restrict apoptosis. Genes & Development 25, 125-130.

Komatsu, M., Kurokawa, H., Waguri, S., Taguchi, K., Kobayashi, A., Ichimura, Y., Sou, Y.S., Ueno, I., Sakamoto, A., Tong, K.I., *et al.* (2010). The selective autophagy substrate p62 activates the stress responsive transcription factor Nrf2 through inactivation of Keap1. Nat Cell Biol *12*, 213-223.

Kong, W., Yang, H., He, L., Zhao, J.-j., Coppola, D., Dalton, W.S., and Cheng, J.Q. (2008). MicroRNA-155 Is Regulated by the Transforming Growth Factor {beta}/Smad Pathway and Contributes to Epithelial Cell Plasticity by Targeting RhoA. Mol Cell Biol *28*, 6773-6784.

Konstantinopoulos, P.A., Spentzos, D., Fountzilas, E., Francoeur, N., Sanisetty, S., Grammatikos, A.P., Hecht, J.L., and Cannistra, S.A. (2011). Keap1 mutations and Nrf2 pathway activation in epithelial ovarian cancer. Cancer Res *71*, 5081-5089.

Korytowski, W., Basova, L.V., Pilat, A., Kernstock, R.M., and Girotti, A.W. (2011). Permeabilization of the mitochondrial outer membrane by Bax/truncated Bid (tBid) proteins as sensitized by cardiolipin hydroperoxide translocation: mechanistic implications for the intrinsic pathway of oxidative apoptosis. J Biol Chem *286*, 26334-26343.

Koumenis, C., and Wouters, B.G. (2006). "Translating" Tumor Hypoxia: Unfolded Protein Response (UPR)–Dependent and UPR-Independent Pathways. Molecular Cancer Research *4*, 423-436.

Kroemer, G., Galluzzi, L., Vandenabeele, P., Abrams, J., Alnemri, E.S., Baehrecke, E.H., Blagosklonny, M.V., El-Deiry, W.S., Golstein, P., Green, D.R., *et al.* (2009). Classification of cell death: recommendations of the Nomenclature Committee on Cell Death 2009. Cell Death Differ *16*, 3-11.

Kulshreshtha, R., Ferracin, M., Wojcik, S.E., Garzon, R., Alder, H., Agosto-Perez, F.J., Davuluri, R., Liu, C.-G., Croce, C.M., Negrini, M., *et al.* (2007). A MicroRNA Signature of Hypoxia. Mol Cell Biol 27, 1859-1867.

Kumar, M.S., Lu, J., Mercer, K.L., Golub, T.R., and Jacks, T. (2007). Impaired microRNA processing enhances cellular transformation and tumorigenesis. Nat Genet *39*, 673-677.

Kumar, M.S., Pester, R.E., Chen, C.Y., Lane, K., Chin, C., Lu, J., Kirsch, D.G., Golub, T.R., and Jacks, T. (2009). Dicer1 functions as a haploinsufficient tumor suppressor. Genes & Development 23, 2700-2704.

Kumar, R., Gururaj, A.E., and Barnes, C.J. (2006). p21-activated kinases in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 6, 459-471.

Kurosaka, K., Takahashi, M., Watanabe, N., and Kobayashi, Y. (2003). Silent cleanup of very early apoptotic cells by macrophages. J Immunol *171*, 4672-4679.

Kwak, M.K., Wakabayashi, N., Itoh, K., Motohashi, H., Yamamoto, M., and Kensler, T.W. (2003). Modulation of gene expression by cancer chemopreventive dithiolethiones through the Keap1-Nrf2 pathway. Identification of novel gene clusters for cell survival. J Biol Chem 278, 8135-8145.

Lama, D., and Sankararamakrishnan, R. (2008). Anti-apoptotic Bcl-XL protein in complex with BH3 peptides of pro-apoptotic Bak, Bad, and Bim proteins: comparative molecular dynamics simulations. Proteins 73, 492-514.

Lambertz, I., Nittner, D., Mestdagh, P., Denecker, G., Vandesompele, J., Dyer, M.A., and Marine, J.C. (2010). Monoallelic but not biallelic loss of Dicer1 promotes tumorigenesis in vivo. Cell Death Differ *17*, 633-641.

Lange, P.S., Chavez, J.C., Pinto, J.T., Coppola, G., Sun, C.W., Townes, T.M., Geschwind, D.H., and Ratan, R.R. (2008). ATF4 is an oxidative stress-inducible, prodeath transcription factor in neurons in vitro and in vivo. J Exp Med 205, 1227-1242.

Leber, B., Lin, J., and Andrews, D. (2007). Embedded together: The life and death consequences of interaction of the Bcl-2 family with membranes. Apoptosis *12*, 897-911.

Lee, A.-H., Iwakoshi, N.N., and Glimcher, L.H. (2003). XBP-1 Regulates a Subset of Endoplasmic Reticulum Resident Chaperone Genes in the Unfolded Protein Response. Mol Cell Biol 23, 7448-7459.

Lee, D.F., Kuo, H.P., Liu, M., Chou, C.K., Xia, W., Du, Y., Shen, J., Chen, C.T., Huo, L., Hsu, M.C., *et al.* (2009). KEAP1 E3 ligase-mediated downregulation of NF-kappaB signaling by targeting IKKbeta. Mol Cell *36*, 131-140.

Lee, O.H., Jain, A.K., Papusha, V., and Jaiswal, A.K. (2007). An auto-regulatory loop between stress sensors INrf2 and Nrf2 controls their cellular abundance. J Biol Chem 282, 36412-36420.

Lee, Y., Kim, M., Han, J., Yeom, K.H., Lee, S., Baek, S.H., and Kim, V.N. (2004). MicroRNA genes are transcribed by RNA polymerase II. Embo J 23, 4051-4060.

Lei, K., and Davis, R.J. (2003). JNK phosphorylation of Bim-related members of the Bcl2 family induces Bax-dependent apoptosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *100*, 2432-2437.

Leung, A.K., and Sharp, P.A. (2010). MicroRNA functions in stress responses. Mol Cell 40, 205-215.

Leung, A.K.L., Calabrese, J.M., and Sharp, P.A. (2006). Quantitative analysis of Argonaute protein reveals microRNA-dependent localization to stress granules. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences *103*, 18125-18130.

Leung, A.K.L., and Sharp, P.A. (2007). microRNAs: A Safeguard against Turmoil? Cell 130, 581-585.

Levine, B., and Yuan, J. (2005). Autophagy in cell death: an innocent convict? The Journal of Clinical Investigation *115*, 2679-2688.

Levine, M., and Tjian, R. (2003). Transcription regulation and animal diversity. Nature 424, 147-151.

Levy, C., Khaled, M., Iliopoulos, D., Janas, M.M., Schubert, S., Pinner, S., Chen, P.H., Li, S., Fletcher, A.L., Yokoyama, S., *et al.* (2010). Intronic miR-211 assumes the tumor suppressive function of its host gene in melanoma. Mol Cell *40*, 841-849.

Lewis, B.P., Burge, C.B., and Bartel, D.P. (2005). Conserved Seed Pairing, Often Flanked by Adenosines, Indicates that Thousands of Human Genes are MicroRNA Targets. Cell *120*, 15-20.

Li, G., Mongillo, M., Chin, K.T., Harding, H., Ron, D., Marks, A.R., and Tabas, I. (2009). Role of ERO1-alpha-mediated stimulation of inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate receptor activity in endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced apoptosis. J Cell Biol *186*, 783-792.

Li, J., and Yuan, J. (2008). Caspases in apoptosis and beyond. Oncogene 27, 6194-6206.

Li, N., Cui, J., Duan, X., Chen, H., and Fan, F. (2012). Suppression of type I collagen expression by miR-29b via PI3K, Akt, and Sp1 pathway in human Tenon's fibroblasts. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 53, 1670-1678.

Lin, J.H., Li, H., Zhang, Y., Ron, D., and Walter, P. (2009). Divergent Effects of PERK and IRE1 Signaling on Cell Viability. PLoS ONE *4*, e4170.

Liu, J., Valencia-Sanchez, M.A., Hannon, G.J., and Parker, R. (2005a). MicroRNA-dependent localization of targeted mRNAs to mammalian P-bodies. Nat Cell Biol *7*, 719-723.

Liu, W.M., Chu, W.M., Choudary, P.V., and Schmid, C.W. (1995). Cell stress and translational inhibitors transiently increase the abundance of mammalian SINE transcripts. Nucleic Acids Res 23, 1758-1765.

Liu, X.M., Peyton, K.J., Ensenat, D., Wang, H., Schafer, A.I., Alam, J., and Durante, W. (2005b). Endoplasmic reticulum stress stimulates heme oxygenase-1 gene expression in vascular smooth muscle. Role in cell survival. J Biol Chem 280, 872-877.

Lockshin, R.A., and Williams, C.M. (1964). Programmed cell death—II. Endocrine potentiation of the breakdown of the intersegmental muscles of silkmoths. Journal of Insect Physiology *10*, 643-649.

Lockshin, R.A., and Zakeri, Z. (2001). Programmed cell death and apoptosis: origins of the theory. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2, 545-550.

Lockshin, R.A., and Zakeri, Z. (2007). Cell death in health and disease. J Cell Mol Med *11*, 1214-1224.

Locksley, R.M., Killeen, N., and Lenardo, M.J. (2001). The TNF and TNF receptor superfamilies: integrating mammalian biology. Cell *104*, 487-501.

Logue, S.E., Elgendy, M., and Martin, S.J. (2009). Expression, purification and use of recombinant annexin V for the detection of apoptotic cells. Nat Protoc *4*, 1383-1395.

Lorenzo, H.K., and Susin, S.A. (2007). Therapeutic potential of AIF-mediated caspaseindependent programmed cell death. Drug Resist Updat *10*, 235-255.

Lorusso, G., and Ruegg, C. (2008). The tumor microenvironment and its contribution to tumor evolution toward metastasis. Histochem Cell Biol *130*, 1091-1103.

Lu, J., Getz, G., Miska, E.A., Alvarez-Saavedra, E., Lamb, J., Peck, D., Sweet-Cordero, A., Ebert, B.L., Mak, R.H., Ferrando, A.A., *et al.* (2005). MicroRNA expression profiles classify human cancers. Nature *435*, 834-838.

Luo, J.H. (2011). Oncogenic activity of MCM7 transforming cluster. World J Clin Oncol 2, 120-124.

Luo, Z., Dai, Y., Zhang, L., Jiang, C., Li, Z., Yang, J., McCarthy, J.B., She, X., Zhang, W., Ma, J., *et al.* (2012). miR-18a promotes malignant progression by impairing microRNA biogenesis in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. Carcinogenesis.

Lynam-Lennon, N., Maher, S.G., and Reynolds, J.V. (2009). The roles of microRNA in cancer and apoptosis. Biological Reviews *84*, 55-71.

Ma, Z., Swede, H., Cassarino, D., Fleming, E., Fire, A., and Dadras, S.S. (2011). Upregulated Dicer expression in patients with cutaneous melanoma. PLoS ONE *6*, e20494.

MacKenzie, S.H., and Clark, A.C. (2012). Death by caspase dimerization. Adv Exp Med Biol 747, 55-73.

Marciniak, S.J., Yun, C.Y., Oyadomari, S., Novoa, I., Zhang, Y., Jungreis, R., Nagata, K., Harding, H.P., and Ron, D. (2004). CHOP induces death by promoting protein synthesis and oxidation in the stressed endoplasmic reticulum. Genes & Development *18*, 3066-3077.

Marsit, C.J., Eddy, K., and Kelsey, K.T. (2006). MicroRNA Responses to Cellular Stress. Cancer Res 66, 10843-10848.

Martello, G., Rosato, A., Ferrari, F., Manfrin, A., Cordenonsi, M., Dupont, S., Enzo, E., Guzzardo, V., Rondina, M., Spruce, T., *et al.* (2010). A MicroRNA Targeting Dicer for Metastasis Control. Cell *141*, 1195-1207.

Martinez, J., and Tuschl, T. (2004). RISC is a 5' phosphomonoester-producing RNA endonuclease. Genes & Development 18, 975-980.

Matskevich, A.A., and Moelling, K. (2008). Stimuli-dependent cleavage of Dicer during apoptosis. Biochem J *412*, 527-534.

McCullough, K.D., Martindale, J.L., Klotz, L.-O., Aw, T.-Y., and Holbrook, N.J. (2001). Gadd153 Sensitizes Cells to Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress by Down-Regulating Bcl2 and Perturbing the Cellular Redox State. Mol Cell Biol *21*, 1249-1259.

McDonnell, T.J., Troncoso, P., Brisbay, S.M., Logothetis, C., Chung, L.W.K., Hsieh, J.-T., Tu, S.-M., and Campbell, M.L. (1992). Expression of the Protooncogene bcl-2 in the Prostate and Its Association with Emergence of Androgen-independent Prostate Cancer. Cancer Research 52, 6940-6944.

Melo, S.A., Moutinho, C., Ropero, S., Calin, G.A., Rossi, S., Spizzo, R., Fernandez, A.F., Davalos, V., Villanueva, A., Montoya, G., *et al.* (2010). A Genetic Defect in Exportin-5 Traps Precursor MicroRNAs in the Nucleus of Cancer Cells. Cancer Cell *18*, 303-315.

Melo, S.A., Ropero, S., Moutinho, C., Aaltonen, L.A., Yamamoto, H., Calin, G.A., Rossi, S., Fernandez, A.F., Carneiro, F., Oliveira, C., *et al.* (2009). A TARBP2 mutation in human cancer impairs microRNA processing and DICER1 function. Nat Genet *41*, 365-370.

Mendell, J.T. (2008). miRiad roles for the miR-17-92 cluster in development and disease. Cell 133, 217-222.

Merritt, W.M., Lin, Y.G., Han, L.Y., Kamat, A.A., Spannuth, W.A., Schmandt, R., Urbauer, D., Pennacchio, L.A., Cheng, J.-F., Nick, A.M., *et al.* (2008). Dicer, Drosha, and Outcomes in Patients with Ovarian Cancer. New England Journal of Medicine 359, 2641-2650.

Miller, T.E., Ghoshal, K., Ramaswamy, B., Roy, S., Datta, J., Shapiro, C.L., Jacob, S., and Majumder, S. (2008). MicroRNA-221/222 Confers Tamoxifen Resistance in Breast Cancer by Targeting p27Kip1. Journal of Biological Chemistry 283, 29897-29903.

Mills, J.C., Stone, N.L., Erhardt, J., and Pittman, R.N. (1998). Apoptotic membrane blebbing is regulated by myosin light chain phosphorylation. J Cell Biol *140*, 627-636.

Mimura, N., Fulciniti, M., Gorgun, G., Tai, Y.T., Cirstea, D., Santo, L., Hu, Y., Fabre, C., Minami, J., Ohguchi, H., *et al.* (2012). Blockade of XBP1 splicing by inhibition of IRE1alpha is a promising therapeutic option in multiple myeloma. Blood *119*, 5772-5781.

Misra, U.K., Deedwania, R., and Pizzo, S.V. (2005). Binding of activated alpha2macroglobulin to its cell surface receptor GRP78 in 1-LN prostate cancer cells regulates PAK-2-dependent activation of LIMK. J Biol Chem 280, 26278-26286.

Misra, U.K., Deedwania, R., and Pizzo, S.V. (2006). Activation and cross-talk between Akt, NF-kappaB, and unfolded protein response signaling in 1-LN prostate cancer cells consequent to ligation of cell surface-associated GRP78. J Biol Chem 281, 13694-13707.

Miyamoto, N., Izumi, H., Miyamoto, R., Bin, H., Kondo, H., Tawara, A., Sasaguri, Y., and Kohno, K. (2011). Transcriptional regulation of activating transcription factor 4 under oxidative stress in retinal pigment epithelial ARPE-19/HPV-16 cells. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci *52*, 1226-1234.

Moenner, M., Pluquet, O., Bouchecareilh, M., and Chevet, E. (2007). Integrated Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress Responses in Cancer. Cancer Research *67*, 10631-10634.

Montgomery, M.K., Xu, S., and Fire, A. (1998). RNA as a target of double-stranded RNAmediated genetic interference in Caenorhabditis elegans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95, 15502-15507.

Moroni, M.C., Hickman, E.S., Lazzerini Denchi, E., Caprara, G., Colli, E., Cecconi, F., Muller, H., and Helin, K. (2001). Apaf-1 is a transcriptional target for E2F and p53. Nat Cell Biol *3*, 552-558.

Moroy, G., Martin, E., Dejaegere, A., and Stote, R.H. (2009). Molecular basis for Bcl-2 homology 3 domain recognition in the Bcl-2 protein family: identification of conserved hot spot interactions. J Biol Chem 284, 17499-17511.

Motohashi, H., Kimura, M., Fujita, R., Inoue, A., Pan, X., Takayama, M., Katsuoka, F., Aburatani, H., Bresnick, E.H., and Yamamoto, M. (2010). NF-E2 domination over Nrf2 promotes ROS accumulation and megakaryocytic maturation. Blood *115*, 677-686.

Mott, J.L., Kobayashi, S., Bronk, S.F., and Gores, G.J. (2007). mir-29 regulates Mcl-1 protein expression and apoptosis. Oncogene *26*, 6133-6140.

Muller, M., Wilder, S., Bannasch, D., Israeli, D., Lehlbach, K., Li-Weber, M., Friedman, S.L., Galle, P.R., Stremmel, W., Oren, M., *et al.* (1998). p53 activates the CD95 (APO-1/Fas) gene in response to DNA damage by anticancer drugs. J Exp Med *188*, 2033-2045.

Muratsu-Ikeda, S., Nangaku, M., Ikeda, Y., Tanaka, T., Wada, T., and Inagi, R. (2012). Downregulation of miR-205 modulates cell susceptibility to oxidative and endoplasmic reticulum stresses in renal tubular cells. PLoS ONE 7, e41462.

Nakagawa, A., Shi, Y., Kage-Nakadai, E., Mitani, S., and Xue, D. (2010). Caspase-Dependent Conversion of Dicer Ribonuclease into a Death-Promoting Deoxyribonuclease. Science *328*, 327-334.

Nakamura, M., Ishida, E., Shimada, K., Nakase, H., Sakaki, T., and Konishi, N. (2005). Frequent HRK inactivation associated with low apoptotic index in secondary glioblastomas. Acta Neuropathol *110*, 402-410.

Naoghare, P.K., Tak, Y.K., Kim, M.J., Han, E., and Song, J.M. (2011). Knock-down of argonaute 2 (AGO2) induces apoptosis in myeloid leukaemia cells and inhibits siRNA-mediated silencing of transfected oncogenes in HEK-293 cells. Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol *109*, 274-282.

Newman, M.A., Thomson, J.M., and Hammond, S.M. (2008). Lin-28 interaction with the Let-7 precursor loop mediates regulated microRNA processing. RNA *14*, 1539-1549.

Ni, M., Zhang, Y., and Lee, A.S. (2011). Beyond the endoplasmic reticulum: atypical GRP78 in cell viability, signalling and therapeutic targeting. Biochem J *434*, 181-188.

Ni, M., Zhou, H., Wey, S., Baumeister, P., and Lee, A.S. (2009). Regulation of PERK signaling and leukemic cell survival by a novel cytosolic isoform of the UPR regulator GRP78/BiP. PLoS ONE *4*, e6868.

Nickells, R.W. (2010). Variations in the rheostat model of apoptosis: what studies of retinal ganglion cell death tell us about the functions of the Bcl2 family proteins. Exp Eye Res *91*, 2-8.

Niture, S.K., and Jaiswal, A.K. (2010). INrf2 (Keap1) targets Bcl-2 degradation and controls cellular apoptosis. Cell Death Differ.

Noh, H., Hong, S., Dong, Z., Pan, Z.K., Jing, Q., and Huang, S. (2011). Impaired MicroRNA Processing Facilitates Breast Cancer Cell Invasion by Upregulating Urokinase-Type Plasminogen Activator Expression. Genes Cancer 2, 140-150.

Norbury, C.J., and Hickson, I.D. (2001). CELLULAR RESPONSES TO DNA DAMAGE. Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology *41*, 367-401.

O'Donnell, K.A., Wentzel, E.A., Zeller, K.I., Dang, C.V., and Mendell, J.T. (2005). c-Mycregulated microRNAs modulate E2F1 expression. Nature *435*, 839-843.

Obata, T., Toyota, M., Satoh, A., Sasaki, Y., Ogi, K., Akino, K., Suzuki, H., Murai, M., Kikuchi, T., Mita, H., *et al.* (2003). Identification of HRK as a Target of Epigenetic Inactivation in Colorectal and Gastric Cancer. Clinical Cancer Research 9, 6410-6418.

Oda, E., Ohki, R., Murasawa, H., Nemoto, J., Shibue, T., Yamashita, T., Tokino, T., Taniguchi, T., and Tanaka, N. (2000). Noxa, a BH3-only member of the Bcl-2 family and candidate mediator of p53-induced apoptosis. Science 288, 1053-1058.

Oikawa, D., Kimata, Y., and Kohno, K. (2007). Self-association and BiP dissociation are not sufficient for activation of the ER stress sensor Ire1. J Cell Sci *120*, 1681-1688.

Olive, V., Bennett, M.J., Walker, J.C., Ma, C., Jiang, I., Cordon-Cardo, C., Li, Q.J., Lowe, S.W., Hannon, G.J., and He, L. (2009). miR-19 is a key oncogenic component of mir-17-92. Genes Dev 23, 2839-2849.

Olive, V., Jiang, I., and He, L. (2010). mir-17-92, a cluster of miRNAs in the midst of the cancer network. Int J Biochem Cell Biol *42*, 1348-1354.

Oltvai, Z.N., Milliman, C.L., and Korsmeyer, S.J. (1993). Bcl-2 heterodimerizes in vivo with a conserved homolog, Bax, that accelerates programmed cell death. Cell *74*, 609-619.

Omura, S., Sasaki, Y., Iwai, Y., and Takeshima, H. (1995). Staurosporine, a potentially important gift from a microorganism. J Antibiot (Tokyo) *48*, 535-548.

Parker, R., and Sheth, U. (2007). P Bodies and the Control of mRNA Translation and Degradation. Molecular Cell 25, 635-646.

Paroo, Z., Ye, X., Chen, S., and Liu, Q. (2009). Phosphorylation of the human microRNAgenerating complex mediates MAPK/Erk signaling. Cell *139*, 112-122.

Patella, F., and Rainaldi, G. (2012). MicroRNAs mediate metabolic stresses and angiogenesis. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences 69, 1049-1065.

Paterson, A., Mockridge, C.I., Adams, J.E., Krysov, S., Potter, K.N., Duncombe, A.S., Cook, S.J., Stevenson, F.K., and Packham, G. (2012). Mechanisms and clinical significance of BIM phosphorylation in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood *119*, 1726-1736.

Pekarsky, Y., Santanam, U., Cimmino, A., Palamarchuk, A., Efanov, A., Maximov, V., Volinia, S., Alder, H., Liu, C.G., Rassenti, L., *et al.* (2006). Tcl1 expression in chronic lymphocytic leukemia is regulated by miR-29 and miR-181. Cancer Res *66*, 11590-11593.

Peters, L., and Meister, G. (2007). Argonaute proteins: mediators of RNA silencing. Mol Cell 26, 611-623.

Pfaff, N., Moritz, T., Thum, T., and Cantz, T. (2012). miRNAs involved in the generation, maintenance, and differentiation of pluripotent cells. J Mol Med (Berl) *90*, 747-752.

Ploner, C., Rainer, J., Niederegger, H., Eduardoff, M., Villunger, A., Geley, S., and Kofler, R. (2008). The BCL2 rheostat in glucocorticoid-induced apoptosis of acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Leukemia 22, 370-377.

Puthalakath, H., O'Reilly, L.A., Gunn, P., Lee, L., Kelly, P.N., Huntington, N.D., Hughes, P.D., Michalak, E.M., McKimm-Breschkin, J., Motoyama, N., *et al.* (2007). ER Stress Triggers Apoptosis by Activating BH3-Only Protein Bim. Cell *129*, 1337-1349.

Qi, H.H., Ongusaha, P.P., Myllyharju, J., Cheng, D., Pakkanen, O., Shi, Y., Lee, S.W., Peng, J., and Shi, Y. (2008). Prolyl 4-hydroxylation regulates Argonaute 2 stability. Nature *455*, 421-424.

Qi, X.-J., Wildey, G.M., and Howe, P.H. (2006). Evidence That Ser87 of BimEL Is Phosphorylated by Akt and Regulates BimEL Apoptotic Function. Journal of Biological Chemistry 281, 813-823.

Qin, W., Shi, Y., Zhao, B., Yao, C., Jin, L., Ma, J., and Jin, Y. (2010). miR-24 Regulates Apoptosis by Targeting the Open Reading Frame (ORF) Region of FAF1 in Cancer Cells. PLoS ONE 5, e9429.

Rahmani, M., Anderson, A., Habibi, J.R., Crabtree, T.R., Mayo, M., Harada, H., Ferreira-Gonzalez, A., Dent, P., and Grant, S. (2009). The BH3-only protein Bim plays a critical role in leukemia cell death triggered by concomitant inhibition of the PI3K/Akt and MEK/ERK1/2 pathways. Blood *114*, 4507-4516.

Ramachandran, V., and Chen, X. (2008). Degradation of microRNAs by a Family of Exoribonucleases in Arabidopsis. Science *321*, 1490-1492.

Ranganathan, A.C., Ojha, S., Kourtidis, A., Conklin, D.S., and Aguirre-Ghiso, J.A. (2008). Dual function of pancreatic endoplasmic reticulum kinase in tumor cell growth arrest and survival. Cancer Res *68*, 3260-3268.

Ranger, A.M., Zha, J., Harada, H., Datta, S.R., Danial, N.N., Gilmore, A.P., Kutok, J.L., Le Beau, M.M., Greenberg, M.E., and Korsmeyer, S.J. (2003). Bad-deficient mice develop diffuse large B cell lymphoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *100*, 9324-9329.

Rasheva, V.I., and Domingos, P.M. (2009). Cellular responses to endoplasmic reticulum stress and apoptosis. Apoptosis *14*, 996-1007.

Real, P.J., Sierra, A., De Juan, A., Segovia, J.C., Lopez-Vega, J.M., and Fernandez-Luna, J.L. (2002). Resistance to chemotherapy via Stat3-dependent overexpression of Bcl-2 in metastatic breast cancer cells. Oncogene *21*, 7611-7618.

Robertson, L.E., Plunkett, W., McConnell, K., Keating, M.J., and McDonnell, T.J. (1996). Bcl-2 expression in chronic lymphocytic leukemia and its correlation with the induction of apoptosis and clinical outcome. Leukemia : official journal of the Leukemia Society of America, Leukemia Research Fund, UK *10*, 456-459.

Rottiers, V., Najafi-Shoushtari, S.H., Kristo, F., Gurumurthy, S., Zhong, L., Li, Y., Cohen, D.E., Gerszten, R.E., Bardeesy, N., Mostoslavsky, R., *et al.* (2011). MicroRNAs in metabolism and metabolic diseases. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol *76*, 225-233.

Roy, B., and Lee, A. (1999). The mammalian endoplasmic reticulum stress response element consists of an evolutionarily conserved tripartite structure and interacts with a novel stress-inducible complex. Nucl Acids Res 27, 1437-1443.

Ruby, J.G., Jan, C.H., and Bartel, D.P. (2007). Intronic microRNA precursors that bypass Drosha processing. Nature *448*, 83-86.

Ryter, S.W., and Choi, A.M.K. (2009). Heme Oxygenase-1/Carbon Monoxide: From Metabolism to Molecular Therapy. American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology *41*, 251-260.

Ryu, I., Park, J.H., An, S., Kwon, O.S., and Jang, S.K. (2013). eIF4GI Facilitates the MicroRNA-Mediated Gene Silencing. PLoS ONE *8*, e55725.

Saikumar, P., Mikhailova, M., and Pandeswara, S.L. (2007). Regulation of caspase-9 activity by differential binding to the apoptosome complex. Front Biosci *12*, 3343-3354.

Sakahira, H., Enari, M., and Nagata, S. (1998). Cleavage of CAD inhibitor in CAD activation and DNA degradation during apoptosis. Nature *391*, 96-99.

Sand, M., Gambichler, T., Skrygan, M., Sand, D., Scola, N., Altmeyer, P., and Bechara, F.G. (2010). Expression levels of the microRNA processing enzymes Drosha and dicer in epithelial skin cancer. Cancer Invest *28*, 649-653.

Sax, J.K., Fei, P., Murphy, M.E., Bernhard, E., Korsmeyer, S.J., and El-Deiry, W.S. (2002). BID regulation by p53 contributes to chemosensitivity. Nat Cell Biol *4*, 842-849.

Sayed, D., He, M., Hong, C., Gao, S., Rane, S., Yang, Z., and Abdellatif, M. (2010). MicroRNA-21 Is a Downstream Effector of AKT That Mediates Its Antiapoptotic Effects via Suppression of Fas Ligand. Journal of Biological Chemistry 285, 20281-20290.

Scaffidi, C., Fulda, S., Srinivasan, A., Friesen, C., Li, F., Tomaselli, K.J., Debatin, K.M., Krammer, P.H., and Peter, M.E. (1998). Two CD95 (APO-1/Fas) signaling pathways. Embo J *17*, 1675-1687.

Scaffidi, C., Schmitz, I., Krammer, P.H., and Peter, M.E. (1999). The role of c-FLIP in modulation of CD95-induced apoptosis. J Biol Chem 274, 1541-1548.

Schickel, R., Park, S.-M., Murmann, A.E., and Peter, M.E. (2010). mir-200c Regulates Induction of Apoptosis through CD95 by Targeting FAP-1. Molecular Cell 38, 908-915.

Schonthal, A.H. (2012). Targeting endoplasmic reticulum stress for cancer therapy. Front Biosci (Schol Ed) *4*, 412-431.

Schroder, M., and Kaufman, R.J. (2005). The mammalian unfolded protein response. Annu Rev Biochem 74, 739-789.
Schwer, B. (2001). A new twist on RNA helicases: DExH/D box proteins as RNPases. Nat Struct Biol *8*, 113-116.

Scott, R.W., and Olson, M.F. (2007). LIM kinases: function, regulation and association with human disease. J Mol Med (Berl) *85*, 555-568.

Seeger, J.M., Brinkmann, K., Yazdanpanah, B., Haubert, D., Pongratz, C., Coutelle, O., Kronke, M., and Kashkar, H. (2010). Elevated XIAP expression alone does not confer chemoresistance. Br J Cancer *102*, 1717-1723.

Seo, J., Fortuno, E.S., 3rd, Suh, J.M., Stenesen, D., Tang, W., Parks, E.J., Adams, C.M., Townes, T., and Graff, J.M. (2009). Atf4 regulates obesity, glucose homeostasis, and energy expenditure. Diabetes *58*, 2565-2573.

Sequeira, S.J., Ranganathan, A.C., Adam, A.P., Iglesias, B.V., Farias, E.F., and Aguirre-Ghiso, J.A. (2007). Inhibition of proliferation by PERK regulates mammary acinar morphogenesis and tumor formation. PLoS ONE 2, e615.

Shan, S.W., Lee, D.Y., Deng, Z., Shatseva, T., Jeyapalan, Z., Du, W.W., Zhang, Y., Xuan, J.W., Yee, S.P., Siragam, V., *et al.* (2009). MicroRNA MiR-17 retards tissue growth and represses fibronectin expression. Nat Cell Biol *11*, 1031-1038.

Shani, G., Fischer, W.H., Justice, N.J., Kelber, J.A., Vale, W., and Gray, P.C. (2008). GRP78 and Cripto form a complex at the cell surface and collaborate to inhibit transforming growth factor beta signaling and enhance cell growth. Mol Cell Biol *28*, 666-677.

Shen, J., Chen, X., Hendershot, L., and Prywes, R. (2002). ER stress regulation of ATF6 localization by dissociation of BiP/GRP78 binding and unmasking of Golgi localization signals. Dev Cell 3, 99-111.

Shi, Y. (2004). Caspase activation: revisiting the induced proximity model. Cell 117, 855-858.

Shi, Y., and Jin, Y. (2009). MicroRNA in cell differentiation and development. Sci China C Life Sci 52, 205-211.

Shibata, T., Ohta, T., Tong, K.I., Kokubu, A., Odogawa, R., Tsuta, K., Asamura, H., Yamamoto, M., and Hirohashi, S. (2008). Cancer related mutations in NRF2 impair its recognition by Keap1-Cul3 E3 ligase and promote malignancy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *105*, 13568-13573.

Shiozaki, E.N., and Shi, Y. (2004). Caspases, IAPs and Smac/DIABLO: mechanisms from structural biology. Trends Biochem Sci 29, 486-494.

Shuang, T., Shi, C., Chang, S., Wang, M., and Bai, C. (2013). Downregulation of miR-17-92 Expression Increase Paclitaxel Sensitivity in Human Ovarian Carcinoma SKOV3-TR30 Cells via BIM Instead of PTEN. International Journal of Molecular Sciences *14*, 3802-3816.

Shuda, M., Kondoh, N., Imazeki, N., Tanaka, K., Okada, T., Mori, K., Hada, A., Arai, M., Wakatsuki, T., Matsubara, O., *et al.* (2003). Activation of the ATF6, XBP1 and grp78 genes in human hepatocellular carcinoma: a possible involvement of the ER stress pathway in hepatocarcinogenesis. Journal of hepatology *38*, 605-614.

Sinicrope, F.A., Ruan, S.B., Cleary, K.R., Stephens, L.C., Lee, J.J., and Levin, B. (1995). bcl-2 and p53 Oncoprotein Expression during Colorectal Tumorigenesis. Cancer Research 55, 237-241.

Siomi, H., and Siomi, M.C. (2009). On the road to reading the RNA-interference code. Nature 457, 396-404.

Smith, A.J., Karpova, Y., D'Agostino, R., Jr., Willingham, M., and Kulik, G. (2009). Expression of the Bcl-2 Protein BAD Promotes Prostate Cancer Growth. PLoS ONE *4*, e6224.

Soifer, H.S., Sano, M., Sakurai, K., Chomchan, P., Saetrom, P., Sherman, M.A., Collingwood, M.A., Behlke, M.A., and Rossi, J.J. (2008). A role for the Dicer helicase domain in the processing of thermodynamically unstable hairpin RNAs. Nucl Acids Res *36*, 6511-6522.

Spiotto, M.T., Banh, A., Papandreou, I., Cao, H., Galvez, M.G., Gurtner, G.C., Denko, N.C., Le, Q.T., and Koong, A.C. (2010). Imaging the Unfolded Protein Response in Primary Tumors Reveals Microenvironments with Metabolic Variations that Predict Tumor Growth. Cancer Research *70*, 78-88.

Sporn, M.B., and Liby, K.T. (2012). NRF2 and cancer: the good, the bad and the importance of context. Nat Rev Cancer 12, 564-571.

Sriburi, R., Jackowski, S., Mori, K., and Brewer, J.W. (2004). XBP1: a link between the unfolded protein response, lipid biosynthesis, and biogenesis of the endoplasmic reticulum. J Cell Biol *167*, 35-41.

Stambolic, V., MacPherson, D., Sas, D., Lin, Y., Snow, B., Jang, Y., Benchimol, S., and Mak, T.W. (2001). Regulation of PTEN transcription by p53. Mol Cell *8*, 317-325.

Stefani, I.C., Wright, D., Polizzi, K.M., and Kontoravdi, C. (2012). The role of ER stressinduced apoptosis in neurodegeneration. Curr Alzheimer Res 9, 373-387.

Stevens, F.J., and Argon, Y. (1999). Protein folding in the ER. Semin Cell Dev Biol 10, 443-454.

Stratmann, J., Wang, C.J., Gnosa, S., Wallin, A., Hinselwood, D., Sun, X.F., and Zhang, H. (2011). Dicer and miRNA in relation to clinicopathological variables in colorectal cancer patients. BMC Cancer *11*, 345.

Sturm, I., Stephan, C., Gillissen, B., Siebert, R., Janz, M., Radetzki, S., Jung, K., Loening, S., Dorken, B., and Daniel, P.T. (2006). Loss of the tissue-specific proapoptotic BH3-only protein Nbk/Bik is a unifying feature of renal cell carcinoma. Cell Death Differ *13*, 619-627.

Szegezdi, E., Logue, S.E., Gorman, A.M., and Samali, A. (2006). Mediators of endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced apoptosis. EMBO Rep 7, 880-885.

Takatsuki, A., Arima, K., and Tamura, G. (1971). Tunicamycin, a new antibiotic. I. Isolation and characterization of tunicamycin. J Antibiot (Tokyo) 24, 215-223.

Tan, G.S., Garchow, B.G., Liu, X., Metzler, D., and Kiriakidou, M. (2011). Clarifying mammalian RISC assembly in vitro. BMC Mol Biol *12*, 19.

Tanabe, M., Izumi, H., Ise, T., Higuchi, S., Yamori, T., Yasumoto, K., and Kohno, K. (2003). Activating Transcription Factor 4 Increases the Cisplatin Resistance of Human Cancer Cell Lines. Cancer Research *63*, 8592-8595.

Tang, D., and Kidd, V.J. (1998). Cleavage of DFF-45/ICAD by multiple caspases is essential for its function during apoptosis. J Biol Chem 273, 28549-28552.

Tang, K.-F., Ren, H., Cao, J., Zeng, G.-L., Xie, J., Chen, M., Wang, L., and He, C.-X. (2008a). Decreased Dicer expression elicits DNA damage and up-regulation of MICA and MICB. The Journal of Cell Biology *182*, 233-239.

Tang, X., Tang, G., and Ozcan, S. (2008b). Role of microRNAs in diabetes. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Gene Regulatory Mechanisms *In Press, Corrected Proof*.

Tang, X., Zhang, Y., Tucker, L., and Ramratnam, B. (2010). Phosphorylation of the RNase III enzyme Drosha at Serine300 or Serine302 is required for its nuclear localization. Nucleic Acids Res.

Tanzer, A., and Stadler, P.F. (2004). Molecular evolution of a microRNA cluster. J Mol Biol 339, 327-335.

Tarasov, V., Jung, P., Verdoodt, B., Lodygin, D., Epanchintsev, A., Menssen, A., Meister, G., and Hermeking, H. (2007). Differential regulation of microRNAs by p53 revealed by massively parallel sequencing: miR-34a is a p53 target that induces apoptosis and G1-arrest. Cell Cycle *6*, 1586-1593.

Tarn, W.-Y., and Steitz, J.A. (1997). Pre-mRNA splicing: the discovery of a new spliceosome doubles the challenge. Trends in Biochemical Sciences *22*, 132-137.

Tee, A.R., and Proud, C.G. (2001). Staurosporine inhibits phosphorylation of translational regulators linked to mTOR. Cell Death Differ *8*, 841-849.

Terasawa, K., Ichimura, A., Sato, F., Shimizu, K., and Tsujimoto, G. (2009). Sustained activation of ERK1/2 by NGF induces microRNA-221 and 222 in PC12 cells. FEBS Journal 276, 3269-3276.

Thum, T., and Bauersachs, J. (2008). MicroRNAs in cardiac hypertrophy and failure. Drug Discovery Today: Disease Mechanisms *In Press, Corrected Proof*.

Tian, H., Zhang, B., Di, J., Jiang, G., Chen, F., Li, H., Li, L., Pei, D., and Zheng, J. (2012). Keap1: one stone kills three birds Nrf2, IKKbeta and Bcl-2/Bcl-xL. Cancer Lett 325, 26-34.

Torres, A., Torres, K., Paszkowski, T., Jodłowska-Jędrych, B., Radomański, T., Książek, A., and Maciejewski, R. (2011). Major regulators of microRNAs biogenesis Dicer and Drosha are down-regulated in endometrial cancer. Tumor Biology *32*, 769-776.

Tournier, C., Hess, P., Yang, D.D., Xu, J., Turner, T.K., Nimnual, A., Bar-Sagi, D., Jones, S.N., Flavell, R.A., and Davis, R.J. (2000). Requirement of JNK for stress-induced activation of the cytochrome c-mediated death pathway. Science 288, 870-874.

Trabucchi, M., Briata, P., Filipowicz, W., Ramos, A., Gherzi, R., and Rosenfeld, M.G. (2010). KSRP promotes the maturation of a group of miRNA precursors. Adv Exp Med Biol 700, 36-42.

Treiman, M., Caspersen, C., and Christensen, S.B. (1998). A tool coming of age: thapsigargin as an inhibitor of sarco-endoplasmic reticulum Ca(2+)-ATPases. Trends Pharmacol Sci *19*, 131-135.

Tsang, W., and Kwok, T. (2008). Let-7a microRNA suppresses therapeutics-induced cancer cell death by targeting caspase-3. Apoptosis *13*, 1215-1222.

Tsujimoto, Y., Cossman, J., Jaffe, E., and Croce, C.M. (1985). Involvement of the bcl-2 gene in human follicular lymphoma. Science (New York, NY) 228, 1440-1443.

Uemura, A., Oku, M., Mori, K., and Yoshida, H. (2009). Unconventional splicing of XBP1 mRNA occurs in the cytoplasm during the mammalian unfolded protein response. J Cell Sci *122*, 2877-2886.

Upton, J.P., Wang, L., Han, D., Wang, E.S., Huskey, N.E., Lim, L., Truitt, M., McManus, M.T., Ruggero, D., Goga, A., *et al.* (2012). IRE1alpha cleaves select microRNAs during ER stress to derepress translation of proapoptotic Caspase-2. Science 338, 818-822.

Urano, F., Wang, X., Bertolotti, A., Zhang, Y., Chung, P., Harding, H.P., and Ron, D. (2000a). Coupling of Stress in the ER to Activation of JNK Protein Kinases by Transmembrane Protein Kinase IRE1. Science 287, 664-666.

Urano, F., Wang, X., Bertolotti, A., Zhang, Y., Chung, P., Harding, H.P., and Ron, D. (2000b). Coupling of stress in the ER to activation of JNK protein kinases by transmembrane protein kinase IRE1. Science 287, 664-666.

van Haaften, G., and Agami, R. (2010). Tumorigenicity of the miR-17-92 cluster distilled. Genes & Development 24, 1-4.

van Huizen, R., Martindale, J.L., Gorospe, M., and Holbrook, N.J. (2003). P58IPK, a Novel Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress-inducible Protein and Potential Negative Regulator of eIF2α Signaling. Journal of Biological Chemistry 278, 15558-15564.

van Kouwenhove, M., Kedde, M., and Agami, R. (2011). MicroRNA regulation by RNA-binding proteins and its implications for cancer. Nat Rev Cancer *11*, 644-656.

Vanags, D.M., Porn-Ares, M.I., Coppola, S., Burgess, D.H., and Orrenius, S. (1996). Protease involvement in fodrin cleavage and phosphatidylserine exposure in apoptosis. J Biol Chem *271*, 31075-31085.

Vande Walle, L., Lamkanfi, M., and Vandenabeele, P. (2008). The mitochondrial serine protease HtrA2/Omi: an overview. Cell Death Differ *15*, 453-460.

Ventura, A., Young, A.G., Winslow, M.M., Lintault, L., Meissner, A., Erkeland, S.J., Newman, J., Bronson, R.T., Crowley, D., Stone, J.R., *et al.* (2008). Targeted Deletion Reveals Essential and Overlapping Functions of the miR-17-92 Family of miRNA Clusters. Cell *132*, 875-886.

Verfaillie, T., Rubio, N., Garg, A.D., Bultynck, G., Rizzuto, R., Decuypere, J.P., Piette, J., Linehan, C., Gupta, S., Samali, A., *et al.* (2012). PERK is required at the ER-mitochondrial contact sites to convey apoptosis after ROS-based ER stress. Cell Death Differ *19*, 1880-1891.

Voeltz, G.K., Rolls, M.M., and Rapoport, T.A. (2002). Structural organization of the endoplasmic reticulum. EMBO Rep *3*, 944-950.

Wakabayashi, N., Itoh, K., Wakabayashi, J., Motohashi, H., Noda, S., Takahashi, S., Imakado, S., Kotsuji, T., Otsuka, F., Roop, D.R., *et al.* (2003). Keap1-null mutation leads to postnatal lethality due to constitutive Nrf2 activation. Nat Genet 35, 238-245.

Walker, J.C., and Harland, R.M. (2009). microRNA-24a is required to repress apoptosis in the developing neural retina. Genes Dev 23, 1046-1051.

Wang, G., Yang, Z.Q., and Zhang, K. (2010). Endoplasmic reticulum stress response in cancer: molecular mechanism and therapeutic potential. Am J Transl Res 2, 65-74.

Wang, J., Zhou, J.Y., and Wu, G.S. (2011). Bim protein degradation contributes to cisplatin resistance. J Biol Chem 286, 22384-22392.

Wang, X.-J., Sun, Z., Villeneuve, N.F., Zhang, S., Zhao, F., Li, Y., Chen, W., Yi, X., Zheng, W., Wondrak, G.T., *et al.* (2008a). Nrf2 enhances resistance of cancer cells to chemotherapeutic drugs, the dark side of Nrf2. Carcinogenesis 29, 1235-1243.

Wang, X., Chen, W., Zeng, W., Bai, L., Tesfaigzi, Y., Belinsky, S.A., and Lin, Y. (2008b). Aktmediated eminent expression of c-FLIP and Mcl-1 confers acquired resistance to TRAILinduced cytotoxicity to lung cancer cells. Mol Cancer Ther 7, 1156-1163. Wang, X., Lau, K.K., So, L.K., and Lam, Y.W. (2009). CHD5 is down-regulated through promoter hypermethylation in gastric cancer. J Biomed Sci *16*, 95.

Wang, X.T., Pei, D.S., Xu, J., Guan, Q.H., Sun, Y.F., Liu, X.M., and Zhang, G.Y. (2007). Opposing effects of Bad phosphorylation at two distinct sites by Akt1 and JNK1/2 on ischemic brain injury. Cell Signal *19*, 1844-1856.

Wei, L.H., Kuo, M.L., Chen, C.A., Chou, C.H., Cheng, W.F., Chang, M.C., Su, J.L., and Hsieh, C.Y. (2001). The anti-apoptotic role of interleukin-6 in human cervical cancer is mediated by up-regulation of Mcl-1 through a PI 3-K/Akt pathway. Oncogene *20*, 5799-5809.

Wek, R.C., Jiang, H.Y., and Anthony, T.G. (2006). Coping with stress: eIF2 kinases and translational control. Biochem Soc Trans *34*, 7-11.

Weng, L.-P., Brown, J.L., and Eng, C. (2001). PTEN induces apoptosis and cell cycle arrest through phosphoinositol-3-kinase/Akt-dependent and -independent pathways. Human Molecular Genetics *10*, 237-242.

Wenzel, S.S., Grau, M., Mavis, C., Hailfinger, S., Wolf, A., Madle, H., Deeb, G., Dorken, B., Thome, M., Lenz, P., *et al.* (2012). MCL1 is deregulated in subgroups of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. Leukemia.

Wiesen, J.L., and Tomasi, T.B. (2009). Dicer is regulated by cellular stresses and interferons. Molecular Immunology 46, 1222-1228.

Wu, D., Tao, J., Xu, B., Li, P., Lu, Q., and Zhang, W. (2012a). Downregulation of Dicer, a component of the microRNA machinery, in bladder cancer. Mol Med Report *5*, 695-699.

Wu, G.S., Burns, T.F., McDonald, E.R., 3rd, Jiang, W., Meng, R., Krantz, I.D., Kao, G., Gan, D.D., Zhou, J.Y., Muschel, R., *et al.* (1997). KILLER/DR5 is a DNA damage-inducible p53-regulated death receptor gene. Nat Genet *17*, 141-143.

Wu, J., Rutkowski, D.T., Dubois, M., Swathirajan, J., Saunders, T., Wang, J., Song, B., Yau, G.D., and Kaufman, R.J. (2007). ATF6alpha optimizes long-term endoplasmic reticulum function to protect cells from chronic stress. Dev Cell *13*, 351-364.

Wu, X., Zhu, Z., Li, W., Fu, X., Su, D., Fu, L., Zhang, Z., Luo, A., Sun, X., and Dong, J.T. (2012b). Chromodomain helicase DNA binding protein 5 plays a tumor suppressor role in human breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res *14*, R73.

Wuilleme-Toumi, S., Robillard, N., Gomez, P., Moreau, P., Le Gouill, S., Avet-Loiseau, H., Harousseau, J.L., Amiot, M., and Bataille, R. (2005). Mcl-1 is overexpressed in multiple myeloma and associated with relapse and shorter survival. Leukemia *19*, 1248-1252.

Xiao, C., Srinivasan, L., Calado, D.P., Patterson, H.C., Zhang, B., Wang, J., Henderson, J.M., Kutok, J.L., and Rajewsky, K. (2008). Lymphoproliferative disease and autoimmunity in mice with increased miR-17-92 expression in lymphocytes. Nat Immunol *9*, 405-414.

Xie, H., Zhao, Y., Caramuta, S., Larsson, C., and Lui, W.O. (2012). miR-205 Expression Promotes Cell Proliferation and Migration of Human Cervical Cancer Cells. PLoS ONE 7, e46990.

Xu, C., Lu, Y., Pan, Z., Chu, W., Luo, X., Lin, H., Xiao, J., Shan, H., Wang, Z., and Yang, B. (2007). The muscle-specific microRNAs miR-1 and miR-133 produce opposing effects on apoptosis by targeting HSP60, HSP70 and caspase-9 in cardiomyocytes. J Cell Sci *120*, 3045-3052.

Xu, S., Zhang, R., Niu, J., Cui, D., Xie, B., Zhang, B., Lu, K., Yu, W., Wang, X., and Zhang, Q. (2012). Oxidative Stress Mediated-Alterations of the MicroRNA Expression Profile in Mouse Hippocampal Neurons. International Journal of Molecular Sciences *13*, 16945-16960.

Yamaguchi, H., and Wang, H.-G. (2004). CHOP Is Involved in Endoplasmic Reticulum Stressinduced Apoptosis by Enhancing DR5 Expression in Human Carcinoma Cells. Journal of Biological Chemistry 279, 45495-45502. Yamakuchi, M., and Lowenstein, C.J. (2009). MiR-34, SIRT1, and p53: The feedback loop. Cell Cycle 8, 712-715.

Yamamoto, K., Sato, T., Matsui, T., Sato, M., Okada, T., Yoshida, H., Harada, A., and Mori, K. (2007). Transcriptional induction of mammalian ER quality control proteins is mediated by single or combined action of ATF6alpha and XBP1. Dev Cell *13*, 365-376.

Yamamoto, K., Yoshida, H., Kokame, K., Kaufman, R.J., and Mori, K. (2004a). Differential Contributions of ATF6 and XBP1 to the Activation of Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress-Responsive cis-Acting Elements ERSE, UPRE and ERSE-II. J Biochem *136*, 343-350.

Yamamoto, K., Yoshida, H., Kokame, K., Kaufman, R.J., and Mori, K. (2004b). Differential contributions of ATF6 and XBP1 to the activation of endoplasmic reticulum stress-responsive cis-acting elements ERSE, UPRE and ERSE-II. J Biochem *136*, 343-350.

Yan, H.L., Xue, G., Mei, Q., Wang, Y.Z., Ding, F.X., Liu, M.F., Lu, M.H., Tang, Y., Yu, H.Y., and Sun, S.H. (2009). Repression of the miR-17-92 cluster by p53 has an important function in hypoxia-induced apoptosis. Embo J 28, 2719-2732.

Yao, B., La, L.B., Chen, Y.C., Chang, L.J., and Chan, E.K. (2012). Defining a new role of GW182 in maintaining miRNA stability. EMBO Rep *13*, 1102-1108.

Ye, J., Rawson, R.B., Komuro, R., Chen, X., Dave, U.P., Prywes, R., Brown, M.S., and Goldstein, J.L. (2000). ER stress induces cleavage of membrane-bound ATF6 by the same proteases that process SREBPs. Mol Cell *6*, 1355-1364.

Yi, R., Qin, Y., Macara, I.G., and Cullen, B.R. (2003). Exportin-5 mediates the nuclear export of pre-microRNAs and short hairpin RNAs. Genes Dev *17*, 3011-3016.

Yin, C., Salloum, F.N., and Kukreja, R.C. (2009). A novel role of microRNA in late preconditioning: upregulation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase and heat shock protein 70. Circ Res *104*, 572-575.

Yoo, N.J., Kim, H.R., Kim, Y.R., An, C.H., and Lee, S.H. (2012). Somatic mutations of the KEAP1 gene in common solid cancers. Histopathology *60*, 943-952.

Yu, J., Wang, F., Yang, G.-H., Wang, F.-L., Ma, Y.-N., Du, Z.-W., and Zhang, J.-W. (2006). Human microRNA clusters: Genomic organization and expression profile in leukemia cell lines. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications *349*, 59-68.

Zaleske, D.J. (1985). Development of the upper limb. Hand Clin 1, 383-390.

Zaravinos, A., Radojicic, J., Lambrou, G.I., Volanis, D., Delakas, D., Stathopoulos, E.N., and Spandidos, D.A. (2012). Expression of miRNAs involved in angiogenesis, tumor cell proliferation, tumor suppressor inhibition, epithelial-mesenchymal transition and activation of metastasis in bladder cancer. J Urol *188*, 615-623.

Zeiss, C.J. (2003). The apoptosis-necrosis continuum: insights from genetically altered mice. Vet Pathol *40*, 481-495.

Zhan, Q., Fan, S., Bae, I., Guillouf, C., Liebermann, D.A., O'Connor, P.M., and Fornace, A.J., Jr. (1994). Induction of bax by genotoxic stress in human cells correlates with normal p53 status and apoptosis. Oncogene *9*, 3743-3751.

Zhang, C.Z., Zhang, J.X., Zhang, A.L., Shi, Z.D., Han, L., Jia, Z.F., Yang, W.D., Wang, G.X., Jiang, T., You, Y.P., *et al.* (2010). MiR-221 and miR-222 target PUMA to induce cell survival in glioblastoma. Mol Cancer 9, 229.

Zhang, W., Dahlberg, J.E., and Tam, W. (2007). MicroRNAs in Tumorigenesis: A Primer. Am J Pathol 171, 728-738.

Zhang, X., Graves, P., and Zeng, Y. (2012). Overexpression of human Argonaute2 inhibits cell and tumor growth. Biochim Biophys Acta.

Zhang, Y.K., Wang, H., Leng, Y., Li, Z.L., Yang, Y.F., Xiao, F.J., Li, Q.F., Chen, X.Q., and Wang, L.S. (2011). Overexpression of microRNA-29b induces apoptosis of multiple myeloma cells through down regulating Mcl-1. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *414*, 233-239.

Zhao, J.-J., Lin, J., Yang, H., Kong, W., He, L., Ma, X., Coppola, D., and Cheng, J.Q. (2008). MicroRNA-221/222 Negatively Regulates Estrogen Receptorα and Is Associated with Tamoxifen Resistance in Breast Cancer. Journal of Biological Chemistry 283, 31079-31086.

Zhao, R., Yan, Q., Lv, J., Huang, H., Zheng, W., Zhang, B., and Ma, W. (2012). CHD5, a tumor suppressor that is epigenetically silenced in lung cancer. Lung Cancer *76*, 324-331.

Zheng, L.Y., Zhou, D.X., Lu, J., Zhang, W.J., and Zou, D.J. (2012). Down-regulated expression of the protein-tyrosine phosphatase 1B (PTP1B) is associated with aggressive clinicopathologic features and poor prognosis in hepatocellular carcinoma. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *420*, 680-684.

Zhong, J., Rao, X., Xu, J.F., Yang, P., and Wang, C.Y. (2012). The role of endoplasmic reticulum stress in autoimmune-mediated beta-cell destruction in type 1 diabetes. Exp Diabetes Res 2012, 238980.

Zhou, J., Liu, C.Y., Back, S.H., Clark, R.L., Peisach, D., Xu, Z., and Kaufman, R.J. (2006). The crystal structure of human IRE1 luminal domain reveals a conserved dimerization interface required for activation of the unfolded protein response. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *103*, 14343-14348.

Zhou, X., Zhang, J., Jia, Q., Ren, Y., Wang, Y., Shi, L., Liu, N., Wang, G., Pu, P., You, Y., *et al.* (2010). Reduction of miR-21 induces glioma cell apoptosis via activating caspase 9 and 3. Oncol Rep *24*, 195-201.

Zhu, D.-X., Fan, L., Lu, R.-N., Fang, C., Shen, W.-Y., Zou, Z.-J., Wang, Y.-H., Zhu, H.-Y., Miao, K.-R., Liu, P., *et al.* (2012a). Downregulated Dicer expression predicts poor prognosis in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Cancer Science *103*, 875-881.

Zhu, H., Xia, L., Zhang, Y., Wang, H., Xu, W., Hu, H., Wang, J., Xin, J., Gang, Y., Sha, S., *et al.* (2012b). Activating transcription factor 4 confers a multidrug resistance phenotype to gastric cancer cells through transactivation of SIRT1 expression. PLoS ONE 7, e31431.

Zinkel, S.S., Ong, C.C., Ferguson, D.O., Iwasaki, H., Akashi, K., Bronson, R.T., Kutok, J.L., Alt, F.W., and Korsmeyer, S.J. (2003). Proapoptotic BID is required for myeloid homeostasis and tumor suppression. Genes Dev *17*, 229-239.